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Thank you for reading Metrofile Holdings 
Limited’s (Metrofile’s) integrated annual 
report.

Our report aims to provide our 
stakeholders with a concise, material, 
transparent and understandable 
assessment of our governance, 
strategy, prospects, business model and 
performance.

Although this report is produced 
specifically for shareholders and 
stakeholders, it complements further 
information provided through our website 
and other media forms.

Preparation and presentation
Metrofile’s 2018 integrated annual report 
was prepared for the period 1 July 2017 to 
30 June 2018 and covers the activities of 
Metrofile Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries 
and associates operating globally.

The executive directors and senior 
management were instrumental in 
preparing this report and the Board has 
fulfilled its responsibilities in terms of the 
King Report on Governance South Africa 
2016 (King IV) principles.

Frameworks applied
This integrated annual report accords with 
the parameters of the Companies Act, 
No. 71 of 2008 (Companies Act), the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the principles 
of King IV reporting. The Group’s annual 
financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

This integrated annual report has been 
compiled in accordance with the principles 
of the International Integrated Reporting 
Council’s (IIRC) International Reporting 
<IR> Framework. Metrofile’s Board of 
Directors and management have endorsed 
the <IR> Framework’s concepts, guiding 
principles and content elements.

This report contains a number of extracts 
and quotes from the King IV report. 
The Group recognises and respects the 
Institute of Directors in South Africa’s 
copyright and trademarks in relation 
to King IV and this is accordingly 
acknowledged. 

ABOUT 
THIS 
REPORT

The business model and value 
creation 
To assist with clarity of understanding 
for the reader, we have utilised the <IR> 
framework ‘six capitals’ and ‘business 
model’ concepts to show how Metrofile 
creates value.

Materiality determination
The principle of materiality informed our 
preparation of this report. A matter is 
considered material if it can substantively 
affect the Group’s ability to create and 
sustain value over the short-, medium-  
or long-term.

The Board and management are of the 
view that the material matters published 
in this report offer a balanced mix of 
information, allowing readers to assess the 
Group’s performance and prospects. These 
material matters were identified through 
our risk management process, strategy 
workshops and stakeholder engagement.

Matters raised through stakeholder 
engagement are assessed in terms of the 
stakeholder’s influence, legitimacy and 
urgency.
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Purpose
This integrated annual report is intended 
to concisely and accurately inform our 
stakeholder universe of our strategy, 
governance, performance and prospects 
in terms of value creation over the short-, 
medium- and long-term.

Directors’ statement  
of responsibility
Our process of integrated reporting 
continues to evolve and at this stage the 
Group has not sought external assurance 
of the content or part thereof apart from 
the annual financial statements, which the 
external auditor, Deloitte & Touche, has 
provided assurance on, as confirmed in the 
independent auditor’s report on page 70.

The Board, assisted by its Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee and 
other sub-committees, is ultimately 
responsible for overseeing the integrity 
of the integrated annual report. The 
Board has applied its collective mind to 
the preparation and presentation of the 
integrated annual report and concluded 
that it is presented in accordance 
with the IIRC <IR> Framework. On the 
recommendation of the Audit, Governance 
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and Risk Committee, the Board of Directors approved the 2018 integrated annual report 
on 30 October 2018.

Christopher Seabrooke  Pfungwa Serima
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer

Forward-looking statements
Many of the statements in this integrated annual report constitute forward-looking 
statements.

These are not guarantees or predictions of future performance. As discussed in the report, 
Metrofile faces risks and other factors outside its control. This may lead to outcomes 
unforeseen by the Group. These are not reflected in the report.

Readers are warned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.

Feedback on report
We welcome your feedback on this report. Please email your comments to  
info@metrofileholdings.co.za.
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HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue 
up 
23.9%  
to R953.0 million
(2017: R769.0 million)

R80.3 million in capital 
expenditure was incurred 
of which R64.5 million was 
expansionary capex

Acquired 100% interest in  
G4S Secure Data Solutions 
(Kenya) Limited  
(Metrofile Kenya)

Invested a 62.5%  
majority interest in  
Dexterity Solutions 
Proprietary Limited 
(Dexterity Digital Solutions), 
a start-up for developing 
digital information and 
records management solutions

Improved operating 
performance in Botswana, 
Mozambique and Zambia 

EBITDA 
up 
9.3%
to R270.2 million 
(2017: R247.3 million)

Recorded revenue 
growth of 28% from 
our operations outside 
of South Africa, 
which contributed 11.6% of 
the total revenue for the year

Acquired the remaining 30%  
non-controlling interest in 
Cleardata Proprietary 
Limited

Rebranded for a clearer 
and more progressive brand 
identity

EBIT 
increased 
by 4.4%
to R221.8 million 
(2017: R212.4 million)

Acquired 100% interest in 
Tidy Files (SA) 
Proprietary Limited  
(Tidy Files)

Disposed of  
Rainbow Management 
Proprietary Limited
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OUR VISION, 
MISSION AND VALUES
METROFILE’S VISION AND MISSION IS CRAFTED AROUND 
DELIVERING QUALITY SERVICE TO ALL OF ITS CLIENTS, 
BOTH LARGE AND SMALL.

OUR VISION

OUR MISSION

OUR VALUES

To be our clients’ trusted records and information 
management partner.

To enable organisations and their people to manage their 
records and information securely, rapidly, intelligently and 
cost-effectively.

Metrofile is built on four promises: 

Commitment
We are dedicated to 
serving our clients

Integrity
We act in the best 
interests of our stakeholders

Reliability
We deliver on 
our promise

Resourcefulness
We find ways to work 
smarter
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Metrofile at a glance
Metrofile Group are leading global 
records and information management 
(RIM) specialists, bringing clients end-
to-end solutions for the complete data 
management lifecycle, while ensuring our 
clients extract maximum value from their 
information assets.

The business was formed in 1983 by 
the merger of two early innovators in 
records management and archiving. 
More than 35 years after it was formed, 
Metrofile is Africa’s market leader in 
records and information management, 
offering a range of physical storage and 
digital services, as well as the confidential 
destruction of records. Today, our 
operations are global in nature with 
subsidiaries servicing clients of all sizes 
and sectors across South Africa, Nigeria, 
Kenya, Zambia, Botswana, Mozambique 
Egypt and the Middle East. The records 
and information management companies 
operate from 67 facilities, at 36 locations, 
covering 122 160 square metres of 
warehousing and office space globally.

WHO WE ARE AND  
WHAT WE BELIEVE IN

Metrofile’s traditional services and 
products enable businesses of all 
sizes to manage their greatest risk, the 
loss of information. The Group has an 
acclaimed track record in organising, 
backing up, managing and protecting 
large volumes of active and inactive 
documents, images and data, in physical 
or electronic format. To help perform this 
critical function, Metrofile offers solutions 
specifically designed and developed to 
meet different needs, all of which are 
implemented by specially trained staff in 
or from secure off-site locations. 

While records storage and management 
will remain a core offering for years 
to come, we are already engaging 
our clients on the digitisation of their 
business processes. With the new wave 
of technological change disrupting many 
business sectors, Metrofile is well placed 
to bridge the gap between physical 
storage and new digital platforms. 
Besides storing physical documents, 
our clients are now digitally originating, 
signing, storing, retrieving, archiving and 
destructing all content in secure digital 
form. This ensures their relevance in 
today’s digital economy. 

The power of this digital content is 
inherent in the digital source of data. With 
data in digital form at origination, our 
clients have the option to apply the latest 
technological advancements in artificial 
intelligence (AI), blockchain and analytics, 
thus serving their clients, partners and 
business networks better. This ensures 
that today’s companies leverage digital 
channels, while defending their market 
position from digitally disruptive 
businesses which are entering every 
industry at unprecedented rates.

Through our digital services, Metrofile 
is perfectly positioned to assist our 
clients with digital transformation, while 
developing the solutions that provide 
insight through machine learning and 
modern visualisation.

Data and information management is 
growing in importance as the world 
becomes increasingly digitally connected. 
As the value of transforming raw data 
into usable information is recognised 
and becomes widespread, the wealth 
of data that Metrofile stores or digitises 
is increasingly a sought-after resource. 
Metrofile remains well placed in the 
forefront of an industry that is evolving 
rather than shrinking. 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 20184

OUR BUSINESS



OUR GLOBAL 
PRESENCE

QATAR

 ` Al Bidda Metrofile 

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

 ` eFile Masters 

OMAN

 ` eFile Teejan 

SOUTH AFRICA

 ` Metrofile Records Management

 ` CSX Customer Services

 ` Cleardata

 ` Dexterity Digital Solutions

 ` Global Continuity SA

 ` Lexie Legal Services

 ` Tidy Files SA

BOTSWANA

 ` Metrofile Records 
Management

NIGERIA

 ` Metrofile Records 
Management

EGYPT

 ` eFile Masters  

ZAMBIA

 ` Metrofile Records 
Management

KENYA

 ` Metrofile Records  
Management

MOZAMBIQUE

 ` Metrofile Records 
Management

Revenue contribution

88.4% South African  
11.6% Non-South African  

South African 682 726
Non South African 86 513

FROM OUR DEEP ROOTS IN SOUTH AFRICA, METROFILE 
HAS EXPANDED THROUGH AFRICA AND THE MIDDLE EAST

NAMIBIA

 ` CSX Customer 
Services
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OUR 
STRUCTURE 

RECORDS AND INFORMATION 
MANAGEMENT (RIM) SERVICES

ADJACENT SERVICES

 ` Metrofile Records Management – South Africa

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Mozambique

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Nigeria

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Botswana

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Zambia

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Kenya

 ` eFile Masters

 ` eFile Teejan 

 ` Al Bidda Metrofile 

 ` Cleardata

 ` Tidy Files SA

 ` Dexterity Digital Solutions

 ` Tidy Files SA

 ` Global Continuity SA

 ` CSX Customer Services

 ` Lexie Legal Services (Litigator and Contract Zone)
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OUR SERVICES  
AND PRODUCTS

DIGITAL SERVICES
 Digital transformation
 Software solutions
 Imaging services

SECURE STORAGE
 Records storage and management

 Backup storage

 Records management consultancy

BUSINESS SUPPORT SERVICES
 Business continuity work area recovery
 Proof of delivery processing
 Track and trace management
 Sensitive information protection
 Procurement tracking
 Claims processing
 Human resources
 Education processing

PRODUCTS AND SOLUTIONS
 Office filing stationery
 Archive filing boxes
 Bulk filing solutions
 Filing cabinets
 Shelving and steel products
 Modular library solutions
 Bulk scanners
 Packaging solutions
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Revenue EBITDA

R’000

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2018

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2017

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2018

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2017

Records Management  671 673  629 701   162 191   165 304 
CSX Customer Services  79 457  69 337  (1 514)  (2 362)
Property Companies (Occupied by Records Management businesses)  73 853  66 964   73 853   66 964 
Tidy Files SA  158 928 – 19 656 –
Other  55 014  85 983 15 989   17 423 
Intergroup (85 937) (82 746) – –

Total  952 988  769 239 270 175   247 329 

Operating profit Tangible assets

R’000

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2018

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2017

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2018

Audited
12 months

ended
30 June

2017

Records Management   134 194   138 589   411 638   337 861 
CSX Customer Services  (2 794)  (3 439)  37 453   32 428 
Property Companies (Occupied by Records Management businesses)   73 853   66 964   343 971   318 151 
Tidy Files SA   14 236 –   41 984 –
Other 10 236   10 298   58 131   62 046 

Total 229 725   212 412   893 177   750 486

SUMMARISED  
SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

REVENUE (%)

Records Management

CSX Customer Services

Property Companies (Occupied by 
Records Management businesses)

Tidy Files SA 

Other

Intergroup

70

6
(9)

17

8
8

EBITDA (%)

Records Management

Property Companies (Occupied by 
Records Management businesses)

Tidy Files SA 

Other

60

6

27

7

REVENUE (%)

Records Management

CSX Customer Services

Property Companies (Occupied by 
Records Management businesses)

Tidy Files SA 

Other

Intergroup

70

6
(9)

17

8
8

EBITDA (%)

Records Management

Property Companies (Occupied by 
Records Management businesses)

Tidy Files SA 

Other

60

6

27

7
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OPERATIONAL
OVERVIEW

SOUTH AFRICA MOZAMBIQUE NIGERIA

BUSINESS 
POSITIONING

Metrofile Records Management 
(MRM), officially Metrofile 
(Pty) Ltd, is a market leader 
in South Africa’s physical and 
digital information and records 
management, with a track record 
of over 35 years. 

MRM is a long-trusted partner in 
information management – from 
the onset of the information 
lifecycle to finish.

Metrofile Mozambique was 
established in 2008 as a joint 
venture between Metrofile and its 
local business partner CVS.

Metrofile is a 51% shareholder 
and we adhere to the same 
methodologies and accounting 
practices as Metrofile Records 
Management in South Africa.

Metrofile’s Mozambique 
operation has integrated well into 
Mozambique’s financial sector 
and services 80% of the country’s 
larger institutions.

Metrofile Nigeria officially 
opened in August 2009 and is 
100% owned by Metrofile.

Metrofile Nigeria is a springboard 
into West Africa and one of 
Africa’s leading economies.

We service Nigeria’s major 
commercial hub.

SERVICES/
PRODUCTS

 ` Providing specialised storage 
for records and information

 ` Converting documents, 
drawings or records on paper 
or film to digital

 ` Backups, storage and 
management of electronic 
information, utilising vault or 
hosted services

 ` Assisting corporations and 
enterprises to manage their 
own physical and electronic 
records

 ` Document storage

 ` Backup vault management

 ` Image processing

 ` Consultancy

 ` Disaster recovery site

The Metrofile Nigeria warehouse 
can store 60 000 boxes of 
documents and we will be 
introducing scanning, data 
protection and active filing 
services.

PERFORMANCE 
FY2018

MRM made further inroads into 
the public sector and are set to 
grow from strength to strength in 
this sector.

Furthermore, good expansion of 
market share was made in both 
mining and retail sectors.

A process to consolidate facilities 
is underway and will reduce 
running costs going forward. 
This will be expanded to other 
companies within the Group.

Metrofile Mozambique more 
than doubled its revenue and is 
continuing to grow vigorously in 
an emerging market.

The Group is seeking more 
clients in northern Mozambique 
to justify expanding their 
footprint northwards.

Subsequent to the finalisation of 
the annual financial statements, 
and prior to issuing this 
integrated annual report, a local 
partner with industry knowledge 
and networks bought a 38% 
share in this operation, with the 
mandate to re-energise this 
business.
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OPERATIONAL
OVERVIEW
(CONTINUED)

BOTSWANA ZAMBIA KENYA

BUSINESS 
POSITIONING

Formerly Document Bank 
Botswana, Metrofile Botswana 
is the leading records and 
information management 
company in Botswana and was 
acquired by Metrofile in January 
2016.

Its day-to-day operations 
are managed by the original 
Document Bank team, who 
have extensive experience in 
local records and information 
management.

Formerly FlexiFile, Metrofile Zambia 
offers records management services 
that include image processing and 
physical document storage. FlexiFile 
operated as a Metrofile subsidiary 
since July 2014, when Metrofile 
purchased a 60% shareholding.

The company is based in Lusaka, 
Zambia.

As previously announced, 
in January 2018, the Group 
acquired a 100% interest in 
the issued share capital of 
Metrofile Kenya (previously G4S 
Secure Data Solutions (Kenya) 
Limited), the largest records 
management company in East 
Africa, for a maximum purchase 
consideration of KES2.125 billion 
(approximately R281.4 million.)

SERVICES/
PRODUCTS

 ` Document storage and 
management

 ` Confidential destruction

 ` Filing solutions

 ` Document imaging

 ` Data storage

The company offers a full spectrum 
of records-related management 
services, ranging from physical 
storage and imaging to placing 
records management personnel on 
client premises.

This service range is being 
expanded to the full Metrofile range, 
such as active records management, 
image processing, data protection, 
storage and backup.

Metrofile Kenya operates a 
records management business 
based in Nairobi, Kenya, 
specialising in all aspects 
of corporate archiving and 
record management, including 
storage, indexing, retrieval, 
tracking, archiving and records 
management digital services.

PERFORMANCE 
FY2018

This operation recorded sound 
bottom-line results but was 
disappointed by delays in 
promising government projects.

Metrofile Zambia recorded highly 
pleasing results, with promising 
opportunities also showing up in the 
current financial year.

The recent acquisition has met all 
expectations to date and will be 
the hub of a wider expansion into 
East Africa.
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EFILE MASTERS AL BIDDA METROFILE CLEARDATA

BUSINESS 
POSITIONING

Established in 2006, eFile Masters 
is one of the most trusted 
specialised records information 
management companies in the 
Middle East. eFile Masters is 
a “total solution” provider for 
a variety of businesses across 
the region, including banks, 
insurance, government, public 
sector companies, healthcare 
institutions, educational 
organisations and small 
businesses.

eFile Masters is one of the fastest-
growing imaging and information 
management companies in 
the Gulf Co-operation Council 
countries, which includes United 
Arab Emirates, Qatar and Oman, 
among others.

Metrofile acquired a 60% share in 
the business in October 2014.

Al Bidda is a service provider 
in records and information 
management in Qatar. Metrofile 
acquired a 49% shareholding in 
Al Bidda Metrofile (Qatar) on 1 
January 2016.

Cleardata is South Africa’s first 
and only nationwide provider of 
secure on- and off-site document 
destruction services. Cleardata is 
uniquely positioned to provide 
its clients with a complete 
solution for all paper shredding, 
confidential document 
destruction and recycling needs.

Secure destruction of documents 
is the final step in the cradle-
to-grave cycle of confidential 
documents. Cleardata provides 
this service in accordance with 
international standards.

SERVICES/
PRODUCTS

 ` Image processing

 ` Records storage

 ` Software solutions, 
including enterprise content 
management (ECM) and 
records management software 
(RMS)

 ` Consultation based on UAE 
National Archive legalities and 
international standards

 ` Records storage and 
management, including 
consultancy and specialised 
software; and

 ` Image processing.

Cleardata provides secure 
on-site and off-site document 
destruction paper shredding 
services. We replace traditional 
cardboard recycling bins with 
Cleardata’s secure, locked 
containers, into which all office 
documentation is discarded. In 
the case of our on-site service, 
our mobile paper shredding 
vehicles visit offices on a 
predetermined schedule and 
shred documents on client’s 
premises.

PERFORMANCE 
FY2018

eFile Masters’ results were 
impacted by the political 
instability in Qatar. The company 
has undergone a detailed 
analysis and restructure in both 
the UAE and Egypt and is now 
focusing on growing the existing 
business and closing deals in its 
pipeline.

Al Bidda Metrofile secured 
clients in the oil and gas, financial 
and private sectors to achieve 
in excess of 60% warehouse 
capacity utilisation.

The performance was affected 
by irregularities and the cost of 
investigating them. The company 
has been restructured and is set 
up to deliver on its budget in the 
new financial year.
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OPERATIONAL
OVERVIEW
(CONTINUED)

LEXIE LEGAL SERVICES TIDY FILES SA
DEXTERITY DIGITAL 
SOLUTIONS

BUSINESS 
POSITIONING

Metrofile announced the 40% 
acquisition of Lexie Legal 
Services (LLS), in January 
2016. This acquisition enables 
Metrofile to provide cloud-based 
legal products and services 
to the legal sector, businesses 
and practices of all sizes, and to 
individuals.

LLS also launched the 
contractzone.co.za portal, 
which generates online legal 
documents, including contracts.

The strategic re-alignment completed during 
the year allowed us to enhance focus on Tidy 
Files’ two strategic business units thereby 
ensuring sustainable growth. 

The resultant two business units will continue to 
operate under the Tidy Files brand as follows:

 ` Filing Solutions and Archive Services

 ` Business Service Solutions (“BSS”)

Filing solutions and archive services remains 
our core strength, being a leading provider 
of end-to-end document management and 
storage solutions in Southern Africa.

BSS is the relatively faster growing segment 
of our business, making use of our proprietary 
technology combined with robotics process 
automation to provide a comprehensive range 
of business process outsource solutions to our 
established client base.

Dexterity Digital Solutions is 
the new software subsidiary of 
Metrofile and was formed in 
January this year. The company 
provides cloud-based software 
solutions for automating and 
digitising business processes. 
As a Metrofile Group company, 
Dexterity Digital Solutions 
leverages the industry leading 
position of the Group in records 
and information management 
to provide a full digital 
content services in the areas 
of human resources, finance 
and procurement. Dexterity 
Digital Solutions is fundamental 
to servicing the digital 
requirements of the client base 
of the Group and further extends 
the Group’s business outsource 
and bureau capabilities with full 
cloud-based software solutions.

SERVICES/
PRODUCTS

 ` Advanced electronic 
signatures (AES)

 ` Electronic service and filing of 
litigation documents

 ` Online indexing and 
pagination 

 ` Cost effective issuing of legal 
processes

 ` Advanced reporting services 
for litigation

 ` Contractzone – online legal 
contracts

 ` Filing Solution and Archive Services:

 ` Design, manufacture and distribution of 
physical filing solutions 

 ` Supply of archive containers and storage 
systems

 ` Cabinets and high-density bulk filing 
systems

 ` Records storage and retrieval services

 ` Business Service Solutions:

 ` Digitising of physical documents

 ` Seamless integration of our document 
management systems into client systems, 
thereby ensuring efficient and secure 
data transfer

 ` Outsourced management of active 
filing, mailroom services (inbound 
and outbound), compliance checking 
and credit control support and various 
additional business process outsourcing 
(BPO) functions

 ` Solution driven smart technologies 
facilitate automation and provide real 
time business intelligence

Dexterity Digital Solutions 
is focused on building the 
following software solutions to 
service the digital transformation 
of business processes:

 ` Procure to pay

 ` Source to pay 

 ` Order to cash 

 ` Contract life cycle 
management 

 ` Records management 

 ` Human capital management 

 ` Expense and travel 
management 

 ` Claims management

PERFORMANCE 
FY2018

The Lexie Legal Services 
products have taken a big 
step forward during this 
financial year, with substantial 
enhancements to both the 
Litigator and Contractzone 
products. Although off a low 
base, Lexie Legal Services has 
substantially increased turnover 
(254% increase year-on-year). 
We are confident that this growth 
will continue, particularly as the 
product offering continues to 
evolve.

Revenue for the year increased by 7%. This was 
largely driven by increased demand for filing 
solutions from the public sector client base.

Business service solutions revenue was 
relatively flat year on year as a result of the 
delays experienced in commencement of new 
projects. 

In light of the enhanced focus on the 
respective business units, combined with 
closer collaboration with our fellow Group 
subsidiaries, we are confident of broadening 
the BSS client base, leading to improved 
revenue growth for the year ahead.

Dexterity Digital Solutions 
is currently engineering the 
business processes platform that 
will enable us to serve clients 
further, assisting them with their 
digital transformation.
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CSX CUSTOMER SERVICES GLOBAL CONTINUITY SA

BUSINESS 
POSITIONING

CSX supplies, installs and supports business 
solutions in niche markets. Our unusual yet proven 
business proposition is driven by knowledgeable 
experts in these niches who create specific solutions 
for individual clients.

Global Continuity is a specialist business continuity 
and disaster recovery service provider. The 
company provides an innovative range of services 
to ensure that clients are able to continue operating 
seamlessly should their facilities and IT systems 
suffer a disruption or disaster.

SERVICES/
PRODUCTS

CSX has developed an outstanding reputation for 
customised and turnkey solutions, particularly in the 
education and government sectors.

 ` Exam marking solutions

 ` (OPSCAN, ScoreOnWeb e-marking) and 
traditional OMR

 ` Library security systems and solutions

 ` Scanners and scanning solutions

 ` High-end packaging plants

 ` Time and attendance management systems

 ` Microfilm solutions

 ` 3rd party maintenance offering

 ` Wide range of ICT products, such as dustless 
keyboards for operating theatres

Disaster recovery facilities

 ` Physical and virtual servers (VMware and Hyper-V) 

 ` Replication software and high availability 
solutions 

 ` Disk storage based on world-class EMC storage  

 ` Telephony/PABX support  

 ` Call centre management  

 ` Voice recording  

 ` Multiple work areas  

 ` Boardroom and meeting rooms  

 ` Managed backup 

 ` Cloud backup 

 ` Server replication

Business continuity consulting and training

 ` Business impact and risk assessment  

 ` Development and implementation of business 
continuity strategies and recovery plans 

 ` Recoverability, resiliency and redundancy 
assessments

PERFORMANCE 
FY2018

FY18 was a year of consolidating business units and 
costs. This business disruption and the repositioning 
of our offering into dedicated verticals, impacted 
CSX’s results.

During 2018, Global Continuity realised a 7% 
increase in revenue which expanded on the growth 
from 2017.

Global Continuity continued growing our client 
bases in Johannesburg, Cape Town and Durban. 
Our consulting services undertook several projects 
that assisted clients with their business continuity 
processes and management.

In the past year, eight clients had to physically move 
into our facilities. Two of these clients utilised the 
office areas for more than one month while they 
restored their normal operations. In addition, Global 
Continuity assisted several clients to recover their 
data and server processes from our managed back 
up services.

New clients prompted an increase in disaster 
recovery seating capacity, with our Johannesburg 
facility expanding to 270 seats. The Linbro Park 
temporary work area remained in place until May 
2018 to assist with client recoveries.
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Christopher Stefan SEABROOKE (65)
BCom, BAcc, MBA, FCMA

Independent non-executive Chairman
Member of the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee

Chairman of the Nominations Committee

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Fifteen years’ service (appointed 28 January 2003)

Chris has been a director of more than 25 listed 
companies over the years. He is currently CEO 
of Sabvest Limited, Chairman of Net1 UEPS 
Technologies Inc and Torre Industries Limited, 
Deputy Chairman of Massmart Holdings Limited 
and other key directorships include Brait SE, Datatec 
Limited and Rolfes Holdings Limited.

He is a former Chairman of the South African 
State Theatre and former Deputy Chairman of the 
inaugural National Arts Council.

Mary Sina BOMELA (45)
BCom (Hons), CA(SA), MBA

Non-executive director and deputy Chairman 
Member of the Nominations Committee 

Member of the Remuneration Committee^

Chairman of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee

Eight years’ service (appointed 8 September 2010)

Mary is the CEO of the Mineworkers Investment 
Company (RF) (Pty) Limited (MIC) and holds 
directorships on a number of MIC’s investments. 
Mary previously held the position of CFO of 
Makhubu Logistics and executive of corporate 
services at the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.

Pfungwa Gore SERIMA (53)
BSc (CompSc) and Business Studies

Group Chief Executive Officer
Member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee

Two years’ service (appointed 1 February 2016)

Prior to joining Metrofile, Pfungwa was the executive 
Chairman of SAP Africa, CEO of SAP, Managing 
Director of Microsoft and Chief Executive Officer 
of Accenture Technology Solutions and Accenture 
Technology Infrastructure Services.  He is currently a 
senior directorate member of the German Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry.

Mark Clark McGOWAN (49)
BCom, (Hons) BCompt, CA(SA)

Group Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee

Four years’ service (appointed 1 August 2014)

Mark was audit partner at Riemer and Waterston and 
later a director of RW Irish-Alliott. He was appointed 
to the Europe, Middle East and Africa Advisory 
Committee of the Alliott Group holding the position 
of Chairman of the Quality Review Committee and 
the Membership Advisory Committee.

Phumzile LANGENI (44)*
BCom (Acc), BCom (Hons), MCom

Lead independent non-executive director
Member of the Audit, Governance and Risk Committee

Member of the Nominations Committee

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee^

Member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee

Six years’ service (appointed 30 March 2012)

A stockbroker by training, Phumzile is executive 
Chairman of Afropulse Group (Pty) Limited, 
non-executive Chairman of Master Plastics and 
Mineworkers Investment Company (RF) (Pty) Limited 
(MIC), a non-executive director of Massmart Holdings 
Limited, Imperial Holdings Limited, Primedia Holdings 
(Pty) Limited, The Ridge School Board, Transaction 
Capital Limited and Redefine Properties Limited. 
She was previously the economic adviser to the 
former Minister of Minerals and Energy. Phumzile 
also previously worked as an executive director and 
vice president of dual-listed junior platinum miner, 
Anooraq Resources.

In 2018 Phumzile was appointed by His Excellency 
Cyril Ramaphosa, the President of South Africa, as 
one of four Special Presidential Envoys on Investment 
tasked with the $100 billion local and international 
investment drive into South Africa.

Ian Nigel MATTHEWS (73)*
MA (Oxon), MBA (UCT)

Independent non-executive director
Member of the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee 

Member of the Nominations Committee

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee

Twelve years’ service (appointed 1 June 2006)

With effect from 30 June 2018, Nigel Mathews 
retired.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Muhammed Zaheer ABDULLA (31)#

BSc (Actuarial Science)

Non-executive director
Appointed 15 September 2018

Zaheer is currently a senior investment manager with 
Mineworkers Investment Company (RF) Proprietary 
Limited (MIC), the major shareholder of Metrofile 
Holdings, with over 10 years corporate finance and 
investment management experience and serves 
on the Boards of a number of MIC’s strategic 
investments including Tracker, General Electric 
Southern Africa Technologies and Multiknit.

Cynthia Nomsa PONGWENI (41)#

BCompt (Hons), CA(SA), CA (Zimbabwe)

Non-executive director
Nine years’ service (appointed 27 February 2009)

Cynthia is the Financial Director of the Mineworkers 
Investment Company (RF) (Pty) Limited (MIC). She 
was previously an audit partner at Deloitte South 
Africa and, in addition to Metrofile, Cynthia serves 
on the Boards of several of the MIC Group’s strategic 
investments.

Graham Dunbar WACKRILL (64)
BCompt

Non-executive director
Fourteen years’ service (appointed 1 July 2004)

Graham played a key role in the development of the 
records management industry and, as the previous 
CEO of Metrofile, is responsible for its development 
and expansion and its rise to the position as market 
leader. Graham retired as the CEO effective 1 April 
2016, at which date he was appointed a non-
executive director.

Sindiswa Victoria ZILWA (51)
BCompt (Hons), CA(SA), CD(SA) 
Advanced Diploma in Financial Planning (UFS)
Advanced Diploma in Taxation (UNISA) 
Advanced Diploma in Banking (RAU)

Independent non-executive director
Chairman of the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee 

Member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee 

Six years’ service (appointed 17 October 2012)

Sindi retired as the CEO of Nkonki Inc through a 
management buyout effective 31 October 2016, 
after 23 years of entrepreneurship in the audit and 
accounting profession. She is a published author of 
two books on Boards and Audit Committees and a 
non-executive director of Discovery Limited, Aspen 
Limited, Mercedes Benz SA, Tourvest Limited and 
Gijima Limited.

Her past directorships include ACSA Chairman, 
Woolworths Limited, Rebosis Limited, Transkei 
National Building Society, South African Mint, 
WIPHOLD, Telkom, Primedia, Ethos Private Equity, 
Institute of Directors, Alexkor and ATNS. She was 
a member of the Reserve Bank Panel and the past 
Chairman of the BUSA Standing Committee on 
Transformation.

Lindiwe Evarista MTHIMUNYE (45)
BCom, CA(SA), MCom, H Dip Tax Law

Independent non-executive director
Member of the Audit, Governance and Risk Committee 

Member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee 

One year’s service (appointed 1 July 2017)

Lindiwe is presently CEO of Petroleum Investment 
Partners (Pty) Limited and is a non-executive director 
of Liquid Capital (Pty) Limited, Torre Industries 
Limited, Pioneer Food Group Limited and Open 
Society Foundation SA. Her past directorships include 
Woolworths Holdings Limited, Group Five Limited, Sea 
Harvest Group Limited, PetroSA, Saatchi & Saatchi SA 
and Hyundai Automotive SA (Pty) Limited.

Post financial year-end changes: 
^  With effect from 6 September 2018, Mary Bomela 

stepped down as Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and Phumzile Langeni was appointed 
as the new Chairman in order to align with the King 
IV recommended practices, where the Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee should be an 
independent non-executive director. Mary Bomela 
remains as a Remuneration Committee member. 

*  With effect from 30 June 2018, Nigel Matthews 
retired and Phumzile Langeni replaced him as the 
lead independent non-executive director effective 
10 July 2018.

#  Cynthia Pongweni resigned from the Board effective  
15 September 2018 after serving for nine years 
and was replaced by Zaheer Abdulla as one of 
the Mineworkers Investment Company (RF) (Pty) 
Limited representative directors.

BOARD COMPOSITION
• The Board, which is chaired by an 

independent non-executive director, 
comprised five independent non-executive 
directors, three non-executive directors 
and two executive directors throughout the 
reporting period.

• Chris Seabrooke continues his role as 
Chairman of the Board and Pfungwa Serima 
is the Group CEO. The separation of these 
two roles ensures a balance of authority and 
precludes any one director from exercising 
unfettered powers of decision-making.

• The Board continues to have a lead 
independent non-executive director. 

• Each director brings independent 
judgement and experience to Board 
deliberations and decisions. The directors’ 
technical, entrepreneurial, financial and 
business skills are well balanced.

• Metrofile continues to have one of the most 
transformed Boards in South Africa, with 
44% of our members being female and 45% 
being black (at time of issuing this report).

BOARD ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
• Metrofile’s Board is responsible for directing 

the Group towards achieving its vision and 
mission.

• The Board is ultimately accountable for the 
development and execution of Metrofile’s 
strategy, operating performance and 
financial results, practised within the Group’s 
formal governance authorities.

• In making its decisions, the Board strives to 
achieve the appropriate balance between 
the various stakeholder groupings, while 
adhering rigorously to its fiduciary duty to 
act in the best interests of the Company.

• The Board charter, which is available on 
the company’s website, sets out specific 
Board roles and responsibilities, as well as 
the requirements for its composition and 
meeting procedures.

• Metrofile’s executive directors are 
responsible for ensuring that the Board’s 
decisions, strategies and views are 
implemented.

Refer to pages 49 to 51 for further details on 
our Board.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

THE BOARD IS ACCOUNTABLE 
FOR THE APPROVAL 
AND EXECUTION OF THE 
GROUP’S STRATEGY, AND ITS 
OPERATING PERFORMANCES, 
AS WELL AS BEING THE 
ARBITER AND MONITOR OF 
RISK AND CUSTODIAN OF ITS 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.
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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
Metrofile had a very satisfactory year 
strategically. The key highlights were:

 ` Acquired 100% of G4S Secure Data 
Solutions (Kenya) Limited;

 ` Acquired 100% of Tidy Files SA (Pty) 
Limited;

 ` Acquired the remaining 30% interest in 
Cleardata (Pty) Limited;

 ` Established Dexterity Solutions (Pty) 
Limited to focus on digital product 
development in the records and 
information management businesses. 
Metrofile holds a 62.5% interest in 
Dexterity;

 ` Invested in expansionary capex to 
facilitate our organic growth strategies;

 ` Sold Rainbow Paper Management (Pty) 
Limited, which no longer formed part of 
our strategic plans;

 ` Subsequent to the finalisation of the 
annual financial statements and prior 
to issuing this integrated annual report, 
sold a 38% interest in Metrofile Nigeria 
Limited to facilitate growth in that 
territory with a new partner; and

 ` Restructured the customer focus of our 
records and information management 
business from a regional to an industry 
basis in both the private and public 
sectors.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
 ` Revenue increased by 23.9% to  

R953 million mainly due to acquisitions.

 ` Headline earnings per share reduced 
slightly to 29.2 cents which, while 
disappointing, did include a number of 
once-off cost items.

 ` Pursuant to the increase in debt 
during the year, which resulted in an 
increase in Debt:EBITDA to 2.3 times 
normalised HEPS (NHEPS), the dividend 
was reduced to meet the previously 
announced range cap of 1.5 times 
normalised HEPS (NHEPS) and will be 
reset on an ongoing basis to 2 times in 
the 2019 financial year. This ratio allows 
for the retention of sufficient free cash 
for expansionary capex and bolt-on 
acquisitions.

SUSTAINABLE VALUE
Metrofile is focused on creating a better 
customer-centric organisation and 
an empowering environment for its 
employees.

Metrofile works continuously with its 
primary B-BBEE shareholder to improve 
employment equity ratios at all levels.

Metrofile engages regularly with all 
of its stakeholders and in particular its 
shareholders to obtain feedback and input 
on its value creation strategies.

With regard to the environment, Metrofile 
is committed to operating policies that 
reduce emissions and waste management 
and in particular in the area of recycling.

DIRECTORATE AND 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The board and management maintain the 
highest levels of governance.

The board is accountable for the approval 
and execution of the group’s strategy, 
and its operating performances, as well 
as being the arbiter and monitor of risk 
and custodian of its corporate governance 
policies and procedures.

I guide the board in these primary 
functions and am satisfied that the board 
comprises a well-balanced spread of 
technical, entrepreneurial, financial and 
business skills.

The board comprises two executive and 
seven non-executive directors of whom 
four are independent directors. The board 
composition further reflects our focus on 
transformation with five black directors and 
four female directors.

At and subsequent to the year end the 
following board changes were effected:

 ` Nigel Matthews retired;

 ` Cynthia Pongweni resigned and was 
replaced by Zaheer Abdulla, a senior 
investment manager of MIC; and

 ` Phumzile Langeni replaced Nigel 
Matthews as lead independent 
non-executive director, and replaced 
Mary Bomela as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee in line with 
King IV.

I record my special thanks and 
appreciation to Nigel and Cynthia for their 
expertise and dedicated services to the 
board over the many years they were with 
us. We wish Nigel everything of the best for 
a peaceful retirement. Cynthia continues 
as CFO of MIC and while we know she will 
always keep a close watch on Metrofile in 
that position, we wish her well in her other 
activities on behalf of MIC.

APPRECIATION
I record my personal appreciation to our 
CEO, management and staff for their 
dedicated and ongoing efforts on behalf 
of the company and to our bankers and 
advisors for their continued support.

Christopher Seabrooke
Chairman

Senderwood
15 October 2018
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GROUP CEO’S REPORT

ECONOMIES EVERYWHERE, INCLUDING 
SOUTH AFRICA, CONTINUE TO UNDERGO 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGE. WE ARE 
CONSCIOUS OF THE PART TECHNOLOGY 
IS PLAYING IN DRIVING RAPID CHANGE 
AND CONSTANT INNOVATION ACROSS 
INDUSTRIES, WITH SOFTWARE AND 
DIGITISATION IMPROVING DELIVERY OF 
SERVICES TO CUSTOMERS AND CREATING 
NEW OPPORTUNITIES FOR GROWTH.

OVERVIEW
This year marks more than 35 years of 
Metrofile Group’s commitment in assisting 
our customers to manage their most 
important assets: thus information and 
data. Our continued ability to witness 
growth in existing and new customers 
speaks to our unwavering commitment 
to offering standard and futuristic set of 
services. 

We continued to execute on our strategy 
to improve customer advocacy, drive 
value from our core set of services and 
build pathways to future growth through 
organic growth, new customers, addition 
of relevant services and acquisitions. 
We made good progress on our transition 
from a traditional physical storage 
company into a provider of electronic and 
digital solutions that empowers companies 
through provision of insights.

Economies everywhere, including South 
Africa, continue to undergo significant 
change. We are conscious of the part 
technology is playing in driving rapid 
change and constant innovation across 
industries, with software and digitisation 
improving delivery of services to customers 
and creating new opportunities for growth. 
To this end we established Dexterity Digital 
Solutions, a company that will co-innovate 
with our customers to bring to market 
intuitive enterprise solutions that can 
immediately improve document-intensive 
processes — providing the most direct 
way to cut costs and generate lasting 
efficiencies.

As we discuss our past, present and future, 
the persistent constant is our vision to 
continue to be the most trusted records 
and information management partner of 
choice. This has been further strengthened 
by two recent strategic additions to our 
stable, namely:

 ` Acquisition of Tidy Files, one of the 
leading providers of end-to-end 
document management and storage 
solutions in South Africa. Renowned 
for its world-class design, supply and 
implementation of paper-based and 
electronic document and records 
management solutions. In particular we 
are proud to be able to offer a variety 
of robust and firm electronic, paper and 
digital cost effective filling solutions to 
all current and prospective customers.

 ` Acquisition of G4S Secure Data 
Solutions (Kenya), giving us an 
immediate East African region 
presence and a platform to provide 
the ever needed service to our 
regional, continental and international 
customers. This expansion is exemplary 
of our commitment to partner with our 
customers in strategic markets they  
are in. 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 ` Revenue increased by 23.9% to  

R953.0 million (2017: R769.2 million) 

 ` EBITDA increased by 9.3% to 
R270.2 million (2017: R247.3 million) 

 ` EBIT increased by 4.4% to  
R221.8 million (2017: R212.4 million)

STRATEGIC FOCUS
Bringing Dexterity Digital Solutions, Tidy 
Files SA and G4S Secure Data Solutions 
(Kenya) into Metrofile Group has given 
us an opportunity to set ourselves up for 
continued success into the future. To satisfy 
our ambitions for Metrofile, we remain 
keenly focused on addressing the most 
significant challenges of our customers:

 ` Regulators around the world are 
tightening up on how personal and 
commercial data is captured and 
utilised. The European Union (EU) 
recently passed its General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), which 
compels all EU organisations and 
any organisations that acquire data 
involving EU citizens to also comply 
with GDPR. This legislation requires 
organisations to record, utilise and 
store their data in accordance with new 
and more stringent regulations. South 
Africa is no different as evidenced by 
the establishment of the Protection of 
Personal Information Act (PoPIA). With 
our suite of products and services, 
complemented by our state-of-the-art 
facilities, we are best suited to support 
our customers in remaining compliant. 

 ` Another challenge involves the need by 
all businesses to enhance and digitise 
their business processes in an effort to 
drive growth and remain competitive. 
With careful foresight, automation 
represents a once-in-a-generation 
opportunity to address societal 
challenges. With the establishment of 
Dexterity Digital Solutions, Metrofile 
will be bringing to market software 
products that will digitise and transform 
business processes. 

 ` The ever increasing need by our 
customers to partner and outsource 
some of their functions and place 
primary focus on their core. Finding a 
reliable partner to entrust your business 
functions while seeking to remain 
competitive, drive efficiency and value is 

not easy. Metrofile is making significant 
inroads in this area and we have seen 
our business support services being 
preferred by our customers across all 
industries. We see this as one of our 
strategic areas of growth into the future 
as we continue to develop industry 
content set of services that complement 
our years of experience and success in 
records and information management. 

These challenges have given us an 
opportunity to focus our efforts on four 
main strategic pillars namely:

 ` Secured physical and digital storage 
(including provision of all other related 
services). We will continue to provide 
unique experience through our own off-
site/state-of-the-art secure premises or 
on customer site, where required.

 ` Provision of industry and functional 
business support services that adds 
value and help reduce cost and bring 
about efficiencies. Our services range 
from deployment of specialised teams, 
to use of technology (robotics) where 
necessary.

 ` To become a highly specialised 
provider of content solutions, leading 
into becoming Business Process As A 
Service (BPaaS) partner of choice for 
our customers.

 ` Through our Tidy Files brand continue 
to bring an exceptional and organised 
office experience in managing every 
little piece of data and information 
through our set of physical products.

OUTLOOK
I am pleased that Metrofile performed well 
in a tough environment, while undergoing 
major restructuring behind the scenes, 
incrementally rolling out the Group’s 
enhanced physical storage and digital 
manipulation options.

We have a clear strategy and our focus 
for the year ahead remains on continuous 
improvement to earn the trust of our 
customers, improved operational 
efficiencies and building pathways towards  
future, sustainable and long term growth.

We operate in a dynamic and competitive 
environment where change is constant. 
Technology is taking us into this world of 
rapid change and we see great opportunity 
to provide enhanced/new set of services to 
our customers.

We understand that we need to continue 
to innovate and to ensure we can build 
our capability in our growth areas. 
Establishment of Dexterity Digital Solutions 
is the first step towards becoming a truly 
innovative company that empowers our 
customers to provide insights to data and 
information.

This current financial year will feature direct 
push towards winning in all four strategic 
pillars. During 2018 the Group made a 
strategic acquisition in Kenya and finalised 
its 100% shareholdings in Cleardata and 
Tidy Files SA. Acquisitions remains central 
to Metrofile’s strategy.  

Metrofile personnel at all levels have been 
engaged throughout the year and I express 
my heartfelt thanks for how proactive all 
have been in working through helping our 
customers’ business to become successful. 

We made it through the year and Metrofile 
is lined up for the next phase of our voyage 
into the digital future. Hold on tight, as 
this next part will get interesting – and 
rewarding.

CONCLUSION
The growing relevance of optimised 
records and data in today’s rapidly 
digitising world can hardly be understated, 
especially as data is being called the 
word’s new ‘gold’ or ’oil’. Data – and 
how it is used – is fundamental to the 
sustainability of business into the future. 
Businesses that don’t react quickly enough 
to shifting trends won’t survive, as shown 
by Fortune 500 company ratings in recent 
years. Up until 15 years ago the life 
expectancy of a Fortune 500 company was 
75 years. Since then, 52% of the world’s 
Fortune 500 companies have disappeared. 
Speed of recognition and reaction have 
become crucial to business survival and 
the implications of leaking or misusing 
private information can be disastrous.

All organisations storing personal data 
will have – or will soon have – to make 
decisions regarding how best to manage 
their information. Data and manipulating 
it optimally is so vital today that I can 
only suggest customers to outsource this 
function to specialised service providers 
like Metrofile. 

Pfungwa G Serima
Group Chief Executive Officer
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GROUP CFO’S REPORT

THE GROUP WILL CONTINUE 
MAKING STRATEGIC 
ACQUISITIONS IN ECONOMIES 
THAT OFFER EXCEPTIONAL 
GROWTH POTENTIAL. METROFILE 
USES TARGETED ACQUISITIONS 
TO ENTER NEW GEOGRAPHIES, 
GROW REVENUE, BUILD CRITICAL 
MASS, AND GAIN ACCESS TO 
NEW TECHNOLOGIES AND 
INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL.

INTRODUCTION 
After another in a succession of 
difficult years, I am pleased to report a 
satisfactory, although subdued, set of 
results, given South Africa’s dragging 
economy and low business confidence 
that are holding back urgently needed 
public and private investment. 

Despite the Gulf region of the Middle 
East remaining politically volatile, 
Metrofile recorded double-digit growth 
in revenue contributions from markets 
outside of South Africa. 

The Group will continue making 
strategic acquisitions in economies 
that offer exceptional growth potential. 
Metrofile uses targeted acquisitions to 
enter new geographies, grow revenue, 
build critical mass, and gain access 
to new technologies and intellectual 
capital.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS 
 ` Revenue increased by 23.9% to  

R953.0 million (2017: R769.2 million) 

 ` EBITDA improved by 9.3% to 
R270.2 million (2017: R247.3 million) 

 ` EBIT lifted by 4.4% to R221.8 million 
(2017: R212.4 million) 

 ` Headline earnings per share (HEPS), 
reduced to 29.2 cents per share, while 
normalised headline earnings per 
share (NHEPS) increased to 32.1 cents 
per share, after adding back once off 
acquisition costs;

 ` Metrofile’s operations outside of 
South Africa recorded 28.0% growth 
in revenue to contribute 11.6% of the 
Group’s total revenue for the year. 

 ` The Group allocated R80.3 million to 
capital expenditure, of which  
R64.5 million was for operational 
expansions.

The sanctions imposed upon Qatar 
by certain of the Gulf Co-operation 
Council (GCC) states adversely affected 
the ability of e-File Masters LLC, 
Metrofile’s UAE subsidiary, to deliver 
on and complete a significant project 
in Qatar. Whilst every effort was made 
to minimise the financial impact of 
the situation, this unfortunately had a 
negative effect on both the revenue and 
EBIT of the Group for the year.
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ACQUISITIONS AND 
DISPOSALS

 ` Acquired 100% shareholding in Tidy 
Files (SA) Proprietary Limited.

 ` Acquired 100% interest in G4S Secure 
Data Solutions (Kenya) Limited.

 ` Acquired the remaining 30% non-
controlling interest in Cleardata 
Proprietary Limited. 

 ` Invested a 62.5% majority interest 
in Dexterity Solutions Proprietary 
Limited, a start-up focusing on digital 
product development for records and 
information management.

 ` Disposed of Rainbow Paper 
Management Proprietary Limited.

Our acquisitions, disposals and 
investments are integral to Metrofile’s 
growth strategy, enabling the Group 
to quickly adapt to changes and 
opportunity. The two acquisitions 
made during the reporting period, viz. 
Tidy Files (SA) (Pty) Limited and G4S 
Secure Data Solutions (Kenya) Limited, 
generated revenues of R157.5 million 
and R20.4 million respectively for the 
year.

FINANCING 
During the year Metrofile secured 
a robust funding plan replacing its 
previous facilities with a R250 million 
bullet facility and a revolving credit loan 
facility of R450 million. Both facilities 
have a five-year term, and interest at 
JIBAR plus 275 basis points is payable 
quarterly in arrears.

SHARE BUY-BACKS
During the year, under the share 
repurchase program sanctioned by the 
Board, a total of 5 000 000 shares were 
acquired at a price range of R3.96 to 
R4.01 (average price R3.99).

At 30 June 2018, there were  
416 164 210 shares in issue, net of 
treasury shares.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT 
Capital expenditure of R80.3 million 
was incurred, of which R64.5 million 
was allocated primarily to facilitate 
expansion. A total of R87.8 million has 
been allocated to capital investment 
projects for the 2018/19 financial year. 

COMMITMENTS 
Metrofile owns or leases premises based 
on the prevailing economic realities in 
each country where we operate.  
We continue to monitor and optimise 
the balance of owned and leased 
premises to ensure the continued 
availability of space to meet 
expansionary demand relative to the 
cost of unutilised facilities. 

Operating lease commitments amount 
to R119.5 million for the next five years 
and R130.4 million over the next  
10 years.

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 133 381 197 941
Net cash outflow from investing activities (394 097) (84 005)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 285 166 (114 715)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24 450 (779)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 24 593 25 372

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 49 043 24 593

DIVIDENDS 
The Group’s net interest-bearing debt 
amounted to R614.8 million which 
equates to a Debt: EBITDA ratio of  
2.3 times. The Group is now at the 
maximum debt capacity ratio acceptable 
to the Board, which decided to pay 
dividends at the current maximum 
dividend cover of 1.5 times relative to 
normalised HEPS (NHEPS). The Board 
has also resolved that an appropriate 
normalised cover ratio for future years 
will be 2.0 times to retain a higher 
proportion of incoming earnings for 
funding acquisitions. 

The full year dividend of 21.0 cents 
per share represents dividend cover of 
1.5 times. A final gross cash dividend 
of 8.0 cents per share was declared in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2018, 
payable from income reserves, to the 
holders of ordinary shares recorded in 
the books of the Company on Friday,  
5 October 2018. 

I wish to thank the finance, risk and 
investor relations team for their support 
during the year and in the compilation 
of this Integrated Annual Report.

Mark McGowan 
Group Chief Financial Officer 
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SIX-YEAR
REVIEW

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue 952 988 769 239 777 577 701 898 675 260 590 163
Operating income 229 725 212 412 199 287 186 790 222 411 159 768
Net finance cost (46 241) (18 056) (14 687) (13 084) (12 630) (16 566)
Profit before taxation 175 581 194 356 184 600 173 706 209 770 143 202
Taxation (50 288) (54 979) (48 949) ((46 244) (53 674) (35 135)
Profit after taxation 125 293 139 377 135 651 127 462 156 096 108 067
Non-controlling interests ( 3 759) (4 358) (5 522) (2 842) (1 288) (1 314)

Attributable income 129 052 135 019 130 129 124 620 154 808 106 753

BALANCE SHEET
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 589 818 538 103 497 452 460 400 420 697 377 856
Intangibles 527 621 216 938 220 890 194 615 171 666 171 666
Investments 9 353 7 739 – – – –
Long-term receivables 2 419 375 559 1 574 – –
Deferred taxation asset 9 455 5 906 4 257 3 673 1 220 1 018
Current assets excluding cash 248 608 184 143 201 789 160 888 180 818 118 812
Cash resources 52 331 27 866 25 717 120 517 35 765 25 898 

Total assets 1 439 605 981 070 950 364 941 667 810 166 695 250

Equity and liabilities
Ordinary shareholders’ interest 610 122 624 007 643 397 617 520 561 794 457 364
Non-controlling interests 13 170 23 636 16 943 12 887 6 028 3 648
Deferred taxation liability 25 867 25 074 21 646 19 035 15 190 12 515
Current liabilities 126 594 95 167 95 876 88 737 86 332 80 842
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 597 118 156 904 123 297 156 125 92 696 104 812
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 66 734 56 282 49 205 47 363 48 126 36 069

Total equity and liabilities 1 439 605 981 070 950 364 941 667 810 166 695 250

Ordinary shares in issue*  (000) 416 164 421 103 425 084 427 084 423 240 420 253
Weighted average  
ordinary shares in issue  (000) 417 233 424 554 425 944 425 831 422 315 418 978
Headline earnings  
per ordinary share  (cents) 29.2 31.8 30.5 29.3 34.4 25.5
Dividends per share  (cents) 21.0 30.0 30.0 21.0 15.0 11.0

* Net of Treasury shares
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

FINANCIAL RATIOS
Liability 1.3 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.5
Current 1.6 1.4 1.6 2.1 1.6 1.2
Quick liabilities 1.4 1.3 1.4 2.0 1.5 1.2
Interest cover  (times) 5.0 11.8 13.6 14.3 17.6 9.6
Dividend cover  (times) 1.4 1.1 1.0 1.4 2.3 2.3
Debt equity  (%) 108.8 34.2 26.8 33.0 25.1 30.8
Return on property, plant 
and equipment  (%) 22.9 26.1 27.2 28.3 38.8 29.9
Return on capital employed  (%) 19.0 27.3 26.0 24.1 34.0 28.4
Return on equity  (%) 21.2 21.7 20.2 20.2 27.6 23.3
PROFITABILITY
Operating income to revenue  (%) 24.1 27.6 25.6 26.6 32.9 27.1
Operating income to average assets 
employed  (%) 19.0 22.0 21.1 21.3 29.5 24.4
Number of employees 1 615 1 208 1 282  1 274 1 247 1 237

RATIO DEFINITIONS
Liability Liabilities to ordinary shareholders’ interest

Current Current assets to current liabilities

Quick liabilities Current assets (excluding inventories) to current liabilities

Interest cover Operating income to net finance costs

Dividend cover Headline earnings per share to dividend per share for the year

Debt:equity ratio Debt (excluding bank and cash) to ordinary shareholders’ interest

Return on property, plant and equipment Attributable income to property, plant and equipment

Return on capital employed Operating income to ordinary shareholders’ interest and interest-bearing liabilities

Return on equity Attributable income to ordinary shareholders’ interest

Average assets employed Average total assets at the beginning and end of the financial year
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CREATING VALUE 
SUSTAINABLY
For a truly integrated report, Metrofile 
must show the flow of strategising 
and decision-making that leads to 
value creation for shareholders, other 
stakeholders, people and communities. 
We use our business model to 
create value for all our stakeholders 
by investing in the resources and 
relationships impacting our value.  
In creating our value we take the 
operating environment into account  
and evaluate the risks and opportunities. 
Equally important, we offer material 
insights into our short-, medium- and 
long-term strategy. 

When deciding on which items of 
information to include in this report, 
the Board and executive management 
considered the relative importance of 
each matter in terms of their known or 
potential effects on Metrofile’s ability to 
continue creating value. We prioritised 
these for relevance to the report users, 
so that information deemed as less 
important could be allocated to ancillary 
channels or set aside as irrelevant for 
informed shareholder and stakeholder 
decision-making.  

VALUE CREATION

STAKEHOLDER  
MAP

See page 44

OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT
See pages 26 and 27

KEY STRATEGIC PILLARS
See page 34

RISK AND 
OPPORTUNITIES

 See page 28

MATERIAL MATTERS
See pages 29 to 33

Digital 
Services

Products and 
Solutions

Business Support 
Services

Secure 
Storage
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OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT

FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN OUR CHOSEN MARKETS

GLOBAL CONTEXT

POSITIVE FACTORS
 ` Global economic growth is picking up, but with strong divergence between 

countries. This is evidenced by improved operating performance in Botswana, 
Mozambique and Zambia. 

 ` Improved ease of doing business because of globalisation.

 ` Drive towards accountability for information protection highlighted the need 
for professional information management.

CHALLENGES
 ` Metrofile is exposed to various economies, 

growing at different speeds.

 ` Ongoing global financial market volatility.

 ` Intense globalised competition. 

 ` Ongoing embargo implemented against Qatar by 
selected GCC States. 

 ` Elections planned for 2019 in various regions.

 ` Complex regulatory environment.

 ` Metrofile must innovate with speed to stay 
relevant in a world shaped by fast moving 
technological advances.

OUR RESPONSE
 ` We will continue making strategic acquisitions in economies that offer good growth potential.

 ` To compete effectively, we must ‘think globally and act locally’ to meet the growing demands of clients by entering into local 
partnerships in the economies where we operate.

SOUTH AFRICAN CONTEXT

POSITIVE FACTORS
 ` Positive market sentiment to change in political environment.

 ` Analysts expect the economy to emerge from recession by year-end*.

 ` Drive towards accountability for information protection highlighted the need 
for professional information management.

CHALLENGES
 ` South Africa’s economy declined in the second 

quarter of 2018, marking a technical recession 
following a first quarter decline.

 ` Challenging macroeconomic and market 
environment impacts revenue growth and 
operating costs.

 ` Fluctuations in exchange rates can have significant 
impact on the Group’s global earnings.

 ` Scarcity of skilled and specialised staff. 

OUR RESPONSE
 ` Invest in value-add opportunities to counter low organic growth. Our challenge is to keep costs down while not diluting our value 

proposition.

 ` Diversify geographically into regions with strong macro-economic fundamentals and a growing need for records and information 
management uptake. 

 ` To attract and retain technical and specialist skills.

* Source: Focus Economics

The external environment continues to have an impact on our ability to create stakeholder value. This informs our thinking 
on material matters and identification of issues that could substantially affect ability to create and sustain value in the short-, 
medium- and long-term (see pages 29 to 33).

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 201826

CREATING VALUE SUSTAINABLY



RECORDS AND INFORMATION MANAGEMENT TRENDS

POSITIVE FACTORS
 ` Despite the decline of paper consumption, organisations still rely on paper. 

 ` Increasing obligations on matters such as data subject consent, data anonymisation, 
breach notification, trans-border data transfers, and appointment of data protection 
officers to safeguard private information.

 ` Businesses looking to automate document management and workflow process.

 ` Digitisation increasing worldwide, presenting unique opportunities. 

 ` Paradigm shift in how ‘big data’ software can extract invaluable business intelligence  
from records.

 ` Move towards a mobile, digital workforce.

CHALLENGES
 ` Users demand technology to be 

always on, connected and providing 
real-time information.

 ` Cybercrime threat rapidly spreading 
worldwide. 

OUR RESPONSE
 ` In an increasingly digital world the conversion of paper records to electronic form poses ever-growing challenges. Metrofile’s cradle-

to-grave offering has grown far beyond its original document management services. 

 ` Metrofile now offers innovative solutions and support across every aspect of information management, including technologies and 
services that allow ‘big data’ to extract invaluable business intelligence from records. 

 ` Systems continuity, cyber security and IT governance are of critical importance to our operations and as such count towards our top 
risks and mitigations.

INDUSTRY TRENDS TO CONSIDER
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RISK PHILOSOPHY
Sound management of risks and opportunities enable the Group to anticipate and respond to changes in its business 
environment, as well as provide the ability to take informed decisions under uncertain conditions. 

Metrofile recognises that risk in business is complex and must be identified and prepared for wherever the business may 
be exposed to it. Risk management is not there to impede, but rather to help achieve organisational objectives. Committing 
to Metrofile’s risk and opportunity management philosophy ensures safer, healthier work environments for employees and 
preserved assets and value creation for the benefit of shareholders and stakeholder groupings. 

RISKS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
Metrofile’s enterprise-wide approach means that identified material risks are included in a structured risk and opportunity 
management process and managed within a unitary risk management framework. 

Risk management involves identifying key risks and preparing to mitigate these through internal control structure and combined 
assurance plans. Strategic risks are continually reviewed and ranked by inherent risk based on the evaluation of the probabilities 
and severity for each risk. The probable mitigation of each risk is assessed and the resultant residual risk is also calculated. 

A comprehensive risk register is in place and constantly managed by the appropriate executive management members.  
A summary of the risks and opportunities have been included in the material matters and mitigation section of this integrated 
annual report on pages 29 to 33. Refer to page 59 for more details on risk governance. 

IDENTIFY
Review risk register 
and identify risks 
and opportunities

COMMUNICATE
Provide regular reports  
to the Audit, Governance  
and Risk Committee  
and Board

ASSESS
Document the 
net effect of 
identified threats 
and opportunities
–  Likelihood of threats  

and opportunities 
– Impact of each risk
– Proximity of threats
–  Prioritisation based  

on scales 

MONITOR  
AND REVIEW
Monitor and review 
 the performance 
of the risk 
management 
system and risk 
mitigations

IMPLEMENT
Risk responses
are actioned and 
maximise opportunities

PLAN
Prepare management 
responses to mitigate 
threats and maximise 
opportunities
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MATERIALITY
Metrofile’s Board and executive 
management present the information in 
this integrated annual report as relevant 
or ‘material’ to our shareholders and 
key stakeholders for a fully informed 
understanding of Metrofile’s performance 
over the past year. Equally important, 
we offer material insights into our short-, 
medium- and long-term strategy. (Refer 
to page 34 for our strategic pillars).

MATERIAL MATTERS  
AND MITIGATION

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION
A major technological upgrade of Metrofile’s operational systems is underway that will include a broader suite of technology products and 
solutions on offer across the Group.

Metrofile is preparing for fast-growing demand for the conversion of data into insights. Besides technological advancements, this 
will involve a more urgent drive towards co-innovation, targeted acquisitions, organic growth and strategic partnerships. Our digital 
transformation will be primarily driven by newly established Dexterity Digital Solutions, an ‘innovation hub’ company established for this 
purpose. Dexterity Digital Solutions is building in-house products, while innovating with industries, clients and vendors to create solutions 
that can be licenced beyond the Group portfolio.

Dexterity Digital Solutions is the fresh and modern interface through which a new generation of digital clients will interact with the Group. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

MATERIAL MATTERS 2018

ASSOCIATED RISKS  
AND OPPORTUNITIES KEY MITIGATIONS
Client satisfaction

Digital transformation is a major opportunity to 
maintain Metrofile’s status as market leaders, satisfy 
our clients and gain market share.

 ` Executive call-in visits to clients.

 ` Client needs are assessed and solutions identified.

IT and data security, privacy and integrity

Inadequate IT and data security could potentially 
lead to data breaches and reputational losses.

 ` IT Steering Committee oversight.

 ` IT security policy, aligned to ISO 27001 in place.

 ` Adequacy of external perimeter security controls regularly reviewed.

 ` Regular penetration and vulnerability testing conducted.

 ` Rollout of encryption completed.

 ` Firewall continuously monitored and upgraded.

O’Neil system implementation

Successful implementation will result in improved 
invoicing, productivity and security of client 
information.

 ` Dedicated project manager and team, reporting into the O’Neil System 
Implementation Steering Committee.

 ` Detailed training – both via manuals and on-the-job – prior to and during a roll out.

 ` Staggered roll out and staggered implementation of invoicing.

Competitor behaviour

Keeping abreast of competitor activity allows 
Metrofile to defend its market position and 
maintain a competitive edge.

 ` Pre-empt competitor actions so as to maintain market leadership.

 ` Build an awareness to monitor non-traditional competitors entering our market.

 ` Excel in the delivery of client and operational service.

MATERIAL MATTERS
Metrofile’s potential material matters 
emerge through our risk management 
process and stakeholder feedback. 
Once identified, these potentially 
material matters are subjected to a 
materiality process that considers a 
matter’s qualitative and quantitative 
aspect, influence, legitimacy, urgency, 
and Metrofile’s ability to affect change 
with regard to our impact on the topic. 

Our most material matters were 
determined in an integrated approach 
through:

 ` Understanding the consequences 
and implications of our external 
environment.

 ` Assessing stakeholder feedback in 
terms of the stakeholder’s influence, 
legitimacy and urgency.

 ` Considering our current risks and 
opportunities.

The Group’s material matters, associated risks and opportunities, and key mitigations, in no particular order, are noted below:
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MATERIAL MATTERS  
AND MITIGATION
(CONTINUED)

 
  

BUSINESS GROWTH AND THE EXPANSION OF SERVICES
Metrofile remains the records and information management market leader in South Africa, but the required level of growth can only be 
achieved by entering promising markets and expanding the Group’s bouquet of service offerings. Offshore expansion and acquisitions 
have been pursued to balance the Group’s activities across a spread of geographies.

MATERIAL MATTERS 2018

Metrofile is driving growth through: 

 ` Targeting direct organic growth to widen our client base in South Africa

 ` Broadening our offering of products and services, particularly in the digital space

 ` Expanding in Africa, the Middle East and other emerging markets through acquisition and partnerships 

 ` Evolving into a technology company grounded on records storage.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

ASSOCIATED RISKS 
AND OPPORTUNITIES KEY MITIGATIONS
Client satisfaction

Expanding our services presents an opportunity to retain 
and gain new clients.

 ` Executive call-in visits to clients.

 ` Group Executive sponsorships for strategic clients are in place.

 ` Negotiating global contracts.

 ` Client needs are assessed and solutions identified.

 ` Revisit the core of the business on a regular basis to ensure that focus is 
maintained. Ensure that services being offered are robust and can be supported.

 ` Introduce business initiatives that are closely associated with our core business 
offerings.

Cross border expansion

Accidental non-compliance, changes in legislation, or 
possible asset seizure by foreign authorities

 ` Adequate information obtained on the target country utilising reputable research 
agencies.

 ` Seek professional advice regarding foreign laws and accounting practices before 
and after making investments.

 ` Conduct appropriate financial and legal due diligence.

Integrating acquisitions

Harmonising business practices across the Group 
presents an opportunity for streamlining operational 
efficiencies.

 ` Implementation of Group best practices and standards.

 ` Regular business reviews and strategic discussions are held with management

Integration of systems

Maintaining the integrity of operational and financial 
information across multiple geographies remains a 
priority.

 ` Standard audit pack used quarterly to report Group financial results.

 ` Standardisation of monthly reporting.

 ` Reconciliations between operational and financial system.

Competitor behaviour

Keeping abreast of competitor activity allows Metrofile 
to defend its market position and maintain a competitive 
edge.

 ` Build and maintain good client relationships at all contact points within the 
business units.

 ` Pre-empt competitor actions so as to maintain market leadership.

 ` Build an awareness to monitor non-traditional competitors entering our market.

Foreign exchange risk

Exchange rate shifts could impact foreign investments as 
well as the costs of and returns from sales.

 ` All significant sales quotes, which are based on imports, are set with an exchange 
rate fluctuation clause.

 ` Utilisation of forex hedging mechanisms.
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MATERIAL MATTERS 2018

ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES KEY MITIGATIONS
Regulatory, legal and contractual compliance

Country specific localisation policies might not be met 
in all geographies of operation.

 ` Review regulatory changes and changes in the business for compliance.

 ` Maintain a register of applicable regulations and laws which is considered in 
all business dealings.

 ` In South Africa:

 ` Drive skills development throughout the organisation in a consistent 
manner in keeping with Services SETA requirements.

 ` BEE strategy and plan in place to maintain and approve BEE level over 
time.  

 ` For rest of Africa, local partnership agreements have been entered into where 
there is a local content requirement

Appropriate skills

Astute talent management is required to ensure that 
competent staff with the necessary skills are recruited.

 ` Succession plans for executive directors, senior Group- and subsidiary 
management in place.

Human Resource effectiveness

Inadequate HR processes could harm staff retention, 
succession planning and the pace of transformation, 
while sound HR policies can transform Metrofile in a 
manner that will contribute a flow of new skills and 
talent into our industry.

 ` Management and HR have procedures in place for labour related 
communications and instances of industrial action.

 ` Critical skills and responsibilities are identified and remunerated accordingly, 
while high potential employees are given career building and leadership 
opportunities.

 ` Remuneration packages are market related to retain competent staff.

 ` Transformation in Metrofile’s South Africa businesses is closely monitored by 
executive management and are linked to executive KPIs and remuneration.

LOCALISATION AND B-BBEE TRANSFORMATION REQUIREMENTS
Localisation and B-BBEE transformation is key, as are the indigenisation requirements of our various countries of operation. Indigenisation 
facilitates strong stakeholder relationships with local communities and bolsters the Group’s acceptability, relevance, and appropriateness 
as we enter new territories. Metrofile will endeavour to remain a preferred corporate citizen of choice in all the respective countries we 
operate in. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
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MATERIAL MATTERS  
AND MITIGATION
(CONTINUED)

MULTIJURISDICTIONAL LEGAL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
Our operations cover a broad range of regulatory regimes. Compliance with regulators, laws and contractual commitments must be 
vigilantly monitored and managed.

Accepting that each economy will have its own business idiosyncrasies, laws and trade patterns, we prefer acquisitions that enable us to 
partner with credible local partners.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

MATERIAL MATTERS 2018

ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES KEY MITIGATIONS
Cross border expansion

Accidental non-compliance, changes in legislation, or 
possible asset seizure by foreign authorities could result 
in material financial losses.

 ` Adequate information of the target country utilising reputable research 
agencies is obtained.

 ` Seek professional advice regarding foreign laws and accounting practices 
before and after making investments.

 ` Conduct appropriate financial and legal due diligence. 

IT governance 

Appropriate regional controls must meet and document 
compliance to internal and externally imposed business 
practices.

 ` The IT function monitors procedures and controls across all regions.

 ` IT security policy and procedure developed and implemented, which is 
aligned to the ISO 27001 standards. 

 ` IT Steering Committee formed, with monthly meetings being held.

Bribery and corruption

Developments in global anti-bribery and anti-
corruption enforcement point to the need for a broad, 
multijurisdictional compliance approach.

 ` Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy and anti-competitive behaviour policy 
in place.

 ` Gift and declaration policy and procedure in place and signed off by all senior 
staff. 

 ` Anti-bribery and anti-corruption training conducted annually. 

 ` Compliance declaration signed off by company MD’s annually.

 ` Three quote system in place for procurement, with approval in line with 
authority frameworks. 

 ` Supplier selection and evaluation process in place. 

 ` Sales and pricing policies and procedures in place.
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INFRASTRUCTURE AND OPERATIONAL RISKS 
Infrastructure upgrades are made continuously to ensure safe and healthy work environments for employees and to securely manage 
information assets. A rolling capital expenditure plan is in place to ensure continuous upgrading of automatic firefighting and smoke 
detection equipment. We have invested considerable financial capital and management time into enhanced infrastructure, safety and to 
mitigate operational risks.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

MATERIAL MATTERS 2018

ASSOCIATED RISKS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES

KEY MITIGATIONS

Fire

Damaged facilities would lead to severe 
interruption of business operations, while 
destroyed documents will result in reputational 
damage.

 ` Minimal electricity in warehouses to reduce potential fire ignition sources.

 ` Thermographic scans conducted on electrical distribution boards annually.

 ` Early warning fire detection in facilities, which is continuously upgraded as part of the 
asset management programme. The fire detection systems include high-sensitivity 
aspiration systems.

 ` Various automatic and handheld fire suppression/fighting systems in place, which 
include automatic sprinkler systems, fire hydrants, hose reels and extinguishers. Gas 
suppression systems are in place in vaults.

 ` Regular servicing of fire equipment is conducted in line with requirements and 
servicing certificates issued and retained via the SafeCyte compliance system.

 ` Quarterly emergency drills performed, including a post-emergency analysis.

Racking collapse

Falling materials and collapsing loads could 
impact business operations, endanger 
employees and result in damage to client’s 
information.

 ` All racking is supplied and installed in terms of the racking standards.

 ` Annual racking inspection by racking suppliers, with remedial reports. 

 ` Risk assessments have been formalised and conducted to early identify risks and 
implement remedial action within given timeframes.

 ` Racking and stacking standard in place and implemented.

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)

Non-compliance with legislation could result in 
penalties, liabilities or claims.

 ` Metrofile conducts risk assessments and rolled out a comprehensive health, safety 
and facility risk compliance framework across all business units.

 ` First line assurance provided by subsidiary management via the SafeCyte compliance 
system.

 ` Third line assurance provided over health and safety compliance by an outsourced 
service provider.

 ` New employees are formally inducted into operational procedures and training is 
provided in first aid, firefighting and evacuation procedures, in line with regulations.

Security measures

Without an international view and control 
of crime issues and security requirements 
the company may face severe operational 
disruption, financial losses, reputational damage 
and or injury to staff.

 ` Perimeter controls, including electric fences linked to armed response and security 
guard patrols.

 ` Biometric access control for staff members onto Metrofile sites and further biometric 
access controls to certain critical areas (eg vault, scanning areas, server rooms etc).

 ` Site access controls for visitors (driver’s license and vehicle license scanned, visitor’s 
card issued and visitor has to be escorted).

 ` Sites are physically monitored 24/7 by on site security personnel.

 ` Actively monitor company vehicles for suspicious activities and panic signals.

 ` Staff are made aware and are vigilant about personal security.

 ` Sites have a defined lock up procedure that is completed daily.

 ` Formal barcoded lock down procedures followed at the end of each business day, 
with a security presence after hours.
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STRATEGY

The world is becoming more digitised and Metrofile is evolving 
accordingly to retain our place as a global top 10 service provider for 
records and information management. We are well-positioned to bridge 
the gap between legacy storage and new data platforms by digitising 
long-proven solutions for a wider and agile marketplace. 
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TO BE OUR CLIENTS’ TRUSTED INFORMATION 
AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT PARTNER

SECURE 
STORAGE

BUSINESS SUPPORT 
SERVICES

PRODUCTS
AND SOLUTIONS

DIGITAL
SERVICES

Managing the loss of 
information by backing 
up, managing, storing 
and protecting large 

volumes of active and 
inactive documents, 
images and data in 

physical and electronic 
formats.

A world class range of 
records and information 
management solutions 

for ensuring safe storage 
and data optimisation of 

client records.

Digitally transforming 
traditional business 

processes and tools into 
solutions that provide 

insights through machine 
learning and modern 

visualisation.

An extensive range of 
business support services 

to ensure client peace 
of mind, allowing them 
to concentrate on core 

business.

RESTRUCTURING 
OUR OPERATING 

MODEL

ENHANCING 
OUR CLIENT 

RELATIONSHIPS

STRATEGIC 
ACQUISITION AND 

EXPANSION

NIMBLE AND 
TAILOR-MADE 

SOLUTIONS

EVOLUTION INTO 
THE DIGITAL SPACE
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST  
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

RESTRUCTURING OUR OPERATING MODEL
We are shifting from regional management structures to an integrated management framework through industry categorisation and specialisation in 
the private and public sectors. This involves streamlining and developing the efficiencies in our own operations. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2018

2018 
PERFORMANCE

RELATED  
STRATEGIC PILLARS

SELF-
ASSESMENT

The Group is moving away from its current regional management structure 
towards an integrated management framework based on category and 
speciality verticals.

 ` Keeping costs down is imperative in the current economic climate. Duplication 
of effort and expenditure are identified to reduce costs through rationalising 
inputs, processes and R&D.

 ` Portfolio of products across the Group being reviewed for duplication, 
applicability and value to our clients; our product range around those 
identified as the best in their categories consolidated; and adjacent or 
complementary products that could fit well into the Group’s portfolio 
continually evaluated.

 ` In South Africa, process to consolidate facilities is underway and will reduce 
running costs going forward. This will be expanded to other companies within 
the Group. 

 ` Disposed of Rainbow Management Proprietary Limited.

 ` Regular business reviews and strategic discussions with management are held.

   

   

ENHANCING OUR CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS
We are intensifying our client relationships through stepped-up visits and satisfaction surveys to gain insights into improving our interactions with 
them. 

2018 
PERFORMANCE

RELATED  
STRATEGIC PILLARS

SELF-
ASSESMENT

 ` Refreshed branding provides a clear identity and reflects the Group’s role as a 
technology and solution provider. This rebranding was well received by clients.

 ` Identified market segments supported by specialist teams allocated to each 
category, such as active filing, consulting, image processing, archiving and 
information management.

 ` Numerous conversations held with clients on co-innovation.

 ` Dexterity Digital Solutions' products and services enhance client’s business 
processes, ensuring that these businesses gain from the innovation of today’s 
most modern cloud-based technologies.

   

   

Substantially achievedModerate progressLimited progress
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST  
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
(CONTINUED)

STRATEGIC ACQUISITION AND EXPANSION 
We continue to embark on strategic acquisitions and partnerships with companies that are positioned to increase our innovation pipeline and 
increase our geographical reach. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2018

2018 
PERFORMANCE

RELATED  
STRATEGIC PILLARS

SELF-
ASSESMENT

 ` The Group acquired a 100% interest in Tidy Files, a leading provider of end-to-
end document management and storage.

 ` Acquired the remaining 30% non-controlling interest in Cleardata.

 ` In January 2018 the Group acquired a 100% interest in the issued share 
capital of G4S Secure Data Solutions (Kenya), the largest records management 
company in East Africa.

 ` In line with the Group’s value creation strategy to provide annuity related 
services in the cloud environment, which complements the traditional annuity-
based RIM offering, a 62.5% investment in Dexterity Digital Solutions was 
made.

   

   

EVOLUTION INTO THE DIGITAL SPACE
We are launching a new incubator developed for Metrofile’s products and services as part of our digital transformation.

2018 
PERFORMANCE

RELATED  
STRATEGIC PILLARS

SELF-
ASSESMENT

 ` The Group is focused on developing and launching new products and services 
to facilitate Metrofile’s digital transformation. The outputs are pioneering our 
interactions with the digital client of the future.

 ` Dexterity Digital Solutions' cloud-based solutions are purpose built, scalable, 
secure and deliver a positive time-to-value consumer experience. The 
company's business process cloud offers end-to-end solutions such as:

 ` Procure to pay

 ` Source to pay 

 ` Order to cash 

 ` Contract life cycle management 

 ` Records management 

 ` Human capital management 

 ` Expense and travel management 

 ` Claims management
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NIMBLE AND TAILOR-MADE SOLUTIONS 
We are segmenting our targeted markets and developing detailed go-to-market strategies for each. We are also reviewing our solutions in terms of 
applicability to our new digital future and value to clients. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2018

2018 
PERFORMANCE

RELATED  
STRATEGIC PILLARS

SELF-
ASSESMENT

 ` Metrofile is fully conversant with the fundamental and specific needs and 
requirements of each business sector and offers specialised industry solutions, 
such as:

 ` Financial services sector: we have an understanding of the dramatic changes 
in risk management and other finance-specific requirements, as well as the 
importance of adherence to procedures.

 ` Healthcare sector: we are thoroughly familiar with the importance of patient 
confidentiality and secure access to patient records.

 ` Mining sector: we have considerable expertise regarding the regulations 
and standards governing the mining industry and the importance of 
adherence to them.

 ` Retail, Manufacturing, Transport and Logistics sector: we are experienced in 
managing the various types of documents created within this sector, as well 
as their retention periods.

 ` Public sector: our long-standing experience with the public sector has 
allowed us to effectively deploy solutions that guide and inform budgeting, 
management and decision making through all Government Departments.

 ` Acquisition of Tidy Files increases Metrofile’s range of business outsourcing 
and support services.

 ` Dexterity Digital Solutions formed utilising cloud-based software, infrastructure, 
security and data platforms to service our client base and provide cloud-based 
digital solutions to other companies. 

   

   

Substantially achievedModerate progressLimited progress
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BUSINESS 
MODEL

EXTERNAL OPERATING ENVIRONMENT:
Metrofile’s business model is based on the lifecycle of 
a physically or digitally recorded document. Once a 
document – in or on any media – is passed on to Metrofile 
for backup, security or storage, we offer the in-house 
infrastructure, technology and specific services to securely 
manage each phase of the document’s lifecycle until its 
ultimate destruction and recycling. 

Reliable records and information management in today’s 
world is a vital responsibility. Modern organisations cannot 
function without secure and timely information. In an era 
in which data is being increasingly targeted by hackers for 
financial leverage, information has gained in economic, 
legal, fiscal, risk-management, and competitive value. 
Governments and business regulators are introducing 
stricter measures for securing and storing information or 
data. Many organisations, however, are lax in how they 
manage recorded information. As a result, records are 
retained too long or misplaced. Failing to protect mission-
critical information or client data can lead to reputational 
damage, loss of business and financial penalties. 

The creation, storage, retrieval, use, and destruction 
(or permanent archival retention) of information of all types 
and in all media is an increasingly difficult challenge for any 
business or organisation. 

The amount of “hard copy” information continues to 
accelerate, despite the growing adoption of digital or  
“cloud” storage. Although best known for our traditional 
offering of boxed paper storage and retrieval, Metrofile 
deploys all accepted forms of records and information 
management, including paper, analogue and electronic 
content. 

Our range of services and products include: 

Digital services
 ` Digital transformation
 ` Software solutions
 ` Imaging services

Secure storage
 ` Records storage and management
 ` Backup storage
 ` Records management consultancy

Business support services
 ` Business continuity work area recovery
 ` Proof of delivery processing
 ` Track and trace management
 ` Sensitive information protection
 ` Procurement tracking
 ` Claims processing
 ` Human resources
 ` Education processing

Products and solutions
 ` Office filing stationery
 ` Archive filing boxes
 ` Bulk filing solutions
 ` Filing cabinets
 ` Shelving and steel products
 ` Modular library solutions
 ` Bulk scanners
 ` Packaging solutions 

For the purpose of integrated reporting, the factors that 
flow through Metrofile for it to create its value are divided 
into “six capitals”, being financial, manufactured (built), 
intellectual, human, social (relationship) and natural capital. 
Metrofile’s business model draws on various capital inputs 
and shows how its activities transform them into outputs. In 
the adjacent business model schematic, we use the concept 
of the <IR> Framework’s capitals to demonstrate how we 
manage each capital and how we have performed. 

INPUTS
FINANCIAL CAPITAL

 ` Market capitalisation

 ` Debt funding

MANUFACTURED 
CAPITAL

 ` Warehouses

 ` Racking

 ` Processing centres 

 ` Data storage vaults

 ` Disaster recovery facilities

 ` Vehicles

 ` Equipment

HUMAN CAPITAL
 ` Skilled workforce

 ` Learnership programmes

 ` Employee wellness

SOCIAL AND 
RELATIONSHIP 
CAPITAL

 ` Metrofile’s reputation and 
brand

 ` Transparency

 ` Stakeholder relationships

 ` Integrity and ethical 
standards

 ` Transparency and good 
governance

INTELLECTUAL 
CAPITAL

 ` Human capital

 ` Business systems and 
processes

NATURAL CAPITAL
 ` Energy 

 ` Resources

VISION

To be our clients’ trusted 
information and records 
management partner.

LIFECYCLE OF RECORDS 
AND INFORMATION

Create Content 
capture

Secure 
and 

protect
Retrieve

METROFILE SERVICES
Records and information management (RIM) services

 ` Metrofile Records Management – South Africa

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Mozambique

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Nigeria

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Botswana

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Zambia

 ` Metrofile Records Management – Kenya

 ` eFile Masters

 ` eFile Teejan 

 ` Al Bidda Metrofile 

 ` Cleardata

 ` Tidy Files

 ` Dexterity Digital Solutions

GOVERNANCE

RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
Refer pages 29 to 33

RISK MANAGEMENT AND PHILOSOPHY:
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OUTPUTS
FINANCIAL CAPITAL

 ` Revenue

 ` Profit

 ` Return on capital

 ` Dividends

 ` Cash generated by operations

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
 ` Records and information management 

services 

 ` Adjacent services

HUMAN CAPITAL 

 ` 84.9% historically disadvantaged South 
Africans, of which 39.8% are black women

 ` Level 4 B-BBEE scorecard

 ` 20.8% employee turnover

 ` Succession plan

SOCIAL CAPITAL
 ` Over 9 000 clients

 ` Service delivery

 ` Level 4 B-BBEE scorecard

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
 ` Services and products

NATURAL CAPITAL
 ` Emissions

 ` Waste

OUTCOMES
FINANCIAL CAPITAL

 ` Cash generative, based 
primarily on annuity revenue 
from stable and renewable 
contracts

 ` Cash reserve for strategic 
upgrading and acquisitions

MANUFACTURED 
CAPITAL

 ` ICT infrastructure

 ` Secure facilities and safe 
workplaces

HUMAN CAPITAL
 ` Skilled workforce

 ` Succession planning

 ` Diversity and transformation

 ` Inflow of women, young people 
and the disabled

SOCIAL CAPITAL
 ` Commitment to transparency, 

quality, integrity 

 ` Insight into client’s requirements

 ` Improved Group collaboration

 ` Socio-economic development

 ` Contributed 1% of our NPAT to 
SED initiatives

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
 ` Trust and confidence

 ` Performance improvement

 ` Trend awareness

 ` Competitiveness

NATURAL CAPITAL
 ` Cleaner mobility

 ` Low-energy warehouses

 ` Paper recycling

MISSION

To enable organisations 
and their people to 
manage their records 
and information securely, 
rapidly, intelligently and 
cost-effectively.

OUR STRATEGIC  
PILLARS AND OBJECTIVES
Refer to page 34

Backup Archive Destroy Recycle

Our external environment presents conditions that effect our ability to generate value over time. We face conditions such 
political and economic volatility in South Africa and the Middle East, legal and regulatory compliance. 

Corporate culture, ethics, performance and value creation, adequate and effective control, regulatory compliance

Store

Adjacent services

 ` Tidy Files SA

 ` Global Continuity SA

 ` CSX Customer Services 

 ` Lexie Legal Services (Litigator and 
Contract Zone)

Sound management of risks and opportunities enable the Group to anticipate and respond to changes in its business 
environment, as well as provide the ability to take informed decisions under uncertain conditions. 
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CAPITAL
OUTCOMES

TRADE-OFFS IN OUR USE OF FINANCIAL CAPITAL OUTCOMES
 ` Sustaining and growing our expansion, products, solutions, people and communities with the use of financial capital, with 

positive impacts on most other capital stocks. 

 ` Use of financial capital to build new infrastructure and invest in our fleet of vehicles may negatively impact on natural capital.

Our financial capital inputs are made up of cash generated by our operations and debt and equity financing. 
These funds provide working capital to run our business and finance both expansion and replacement 
capital expenditure. The funds are also used to pay interest on borrowed money and distribute dividends to 
shareholders, when appropriate. Our financial capital is reinvested in all the other capitals in a measured way 
to grow and sustain our business, after careful consideration of the returns they will generate.

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

KEY INPUTS
 ` Market capitalisation 

 ` Cash and cash equivalents R24.6 million 

 ` Net asset value R623.3 million

 ` Net interest-bearing debt R614.8 million

OUTPUTS
 ` Revenue increased by 23.9% to R953.0 million  

(2017: R769.2 million)

 ` EBITDA increased by 9.3% to R270.2 million 
(2017: R247.3 million)

 ` Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) decreased to  
31.0 cents and headline earnings per share (“HEPS”) 
decreased to 29.2 cents representing a decline of 
2.5% and 8.2% respectively.

 ` Cash generated from operations before net working 
capital changes increased by 2.0% to R255.6 million.

 ` Cash generated from operations before net working 
capital changes increased by 16.4% to R231 million.

 ` R80.3 million in capital expenditure was incurred, 
of which R64.5 million was expansionary capital 
expenditure.

HOW WE ACHIEVED THESE OUTCOMES
 ` Efficient capital allocation

 ` Acquisitions:

 ` Tidy Files (100%)

 ` G4S Secure Data Solutions (Kenya)  
(Metrofile Kenya) (100%)

 ` Remaining non-controlling interest in Cleardata

 ` Investment in Dexterity Digital Solutions

 ` Working capital management
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TRADE-OFFS IN OUR USE OF MANUFACTURED CAPITAL OUTCOMES
 ` Pursuing excellence in operating manufactured assets across the value chain underpins performance in safety, reliability and 

cost-effectiveness.

 ` Adopting advanced technology results in more efficient business processes and allows us to bring digital tools and solutions to 
clients.

 ` Although our warehouses make use of natural light as far as possible, transport and courier services contribute to Scope 3 
emissions.

We leverage on our asset base – including warehouses, properties, data storage vaults, disaster recovery 
facilities, vehicles, specialised equipment and high-end dedicated fibre – to service our clients. We also rely 
on IT equipment and software to bring new products and solutions to our clients. Investment in warehousing, 
infrastructure, processing and other assets are essential to deliver quality products reliably to our clients around 
the world. Metrofile constantly explores new technology and ways to operate our assets more efficiently and 
intelligently.

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL

KEY INPUTS
 ` Properties, buildings and warehouses:

 ` The records and information management division 
operates from 67 facilities, at 36 locations, covering  
122 160 square metres of warehousing and office 
space (48% owned)

 ` 20 processing centres

 ` 17 data storage vaults

 ` 3 disaster recovery facilities

 ` 1 specialised document destruction facility

 ` 2 printing and die-cutting facilities

 ` 1 wood-working factory

 ` Fleet of vehicles, including specialised mobile 
shredding trucks

 ` Sophisticated ICT infrastructure

 ` Other equipment (including scanners, forklifts, fire 
suppression and security equipment)

 ` CSX’s inventory includes diverse imported machinery 
and technology.

OUTPUTS
 ` Refer to a list of our services and products on page 7.

HOW WE ACHIEVED THESE OUTCOMES
 ` Manufactured capital is managed strictly in line with 

best practice to include:

 ` Physical access controls supported by security and 
fire detection systems

 ` Adequate insurance of assets

 ` Ongoing maintenance of buildings and fleet. 

 ` A rolling capital expenditure plan is in place to ensure 
continuous upgrading of infrastructure.

 ` Metrofile owns or leases premises based on the 
prevailing economic realities in each country where 
we operate. Operating lease commitments amount to 
R86.7 million for the next five years. 

 ` During the reporting period, investments were made 
in IT infrastructure, motor vehicles, racking, equipment 
and mobile shredding equipment. Capital investment 
plans for the next financial year amount to  
R108.6 million.

 ` Facilities are designed to maximise space and are 
purpose-built with designed racking matching height-
specific requirements to weight.

 ` Customised data vaults are tightly secured, fireproof, 
environmentally controlled and constantly monitored 
by CCTV cameras. 

 ` Warehouses make use of natural light and headlamps 
where possible, to reduce potential fire ignition 
sources.

 ` In-house vehicle fleets combined with outsourced 
couriers to maximise client service and fleet. 
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CAPITAL
OUTCOMES
(CONTINUED)

TRADE-OFFS IN OUR USE OF HUMAN CAPITAL OUTCOMES
 ` To attract and retain technical and specialist skills, we maintain and improve productivity levels and innovate around 

new technology solutions. 

 ` Training and development build competencies and collective values around safety, operational excellence and 
innovation.

 ` Remuneration strategies focus on entrenching a performance-driven culture, which supports cost optimisation.

 ` Effective management of risks associated with industrial action by building partnerships with trade unions and 
engaging in other structured forums.

Although Metrofile is becoming increasingly technology-focused, many processes still rely on manual labour 
and physical handling. We depend on the expertise and experience of our people, their health, skills and 
safety, to operate our facilities safely and efficiently, and in so doing assist in the delivery of our strategy. Our 
people management methodology contributes to resolving inequalities in the workplace, and our ongoing 
investment in employee training and development is aimed at preparing our people for a digital future. 

Our subsidiaries and associated companies in Africa and the Middle East have indigenisation policies in 
place, which are managed by local partners.

HUMAN CAPITAL

KEY INPUTS
 ` Leadership

 ` Skilled workforce with the 
relevant knowledge and 
experience:

 ` South Africa: 1 261

 ` Outside of South Africa: 354

 ` Metrofile’s learnership 
programmes in South Africa 
during the 2017/2018 financial 
year trained a total of 163 
learners, 100 ‘unemployed 
learners’ and 63 employees, of 
the above learners 157 are black 
and 73 are female 

 ` Active pursuit of transformation

 ` Employee wellness programme

OUTPUTS
 ` Level 4 B-BBEE scorecard

 ` 20.8% employee turnover

 ` Succession planning in place

 ` 84.9% historically disadvantaged 
South Africans, of which 39.8% 
are black women

MALE (%)

African

Coloured

70

12

12

6

Indian

White

FEMALE (%)

African

Coloured

61

15

18

6

Indian

White

Foreign 
nationals

0.4

HOW WE ACHIEVED THESE OUTCOMES
 ` Compliance with labour legislation 

 ` The Group has a mature, well-entrenched range of effective human 
resource policies and procedures in place, which are introduced to new 
employees during induction.

 ` Our people operate within a clearly defined framework and must adhere 
to the Group’s code of conduct and business ethics.

 ` Training of marginalised groups such as women and the youth are 
prioritised.

 ` Executive and senior management performance in reaching 
transformation targets is linked to their remuneration.

 ` In accordance with our skills development initiatives, Metrofile in South 
Africa has several learnership programmes underway for employed staff 
and unemployed learners.

 ` In South Africa, Metrofile is a fully accredited member of the Services 
SETA and reclaims its full development levies every year.

 ` Metrofile works with our primary B-BBEE shareholder, the Mineworkers 
Investment Company, to grow the skills of our people and improve 
employment equity ratios through all levels.

 ` The South African operations have a set policy of procuring services 
and supplies from black-owned businesses, with black woman-owned 
businesses as first choice.

 ` Metrofile facilities in South Africa are regularly visited by our wellness 
service provider, who offers basic health checks, advice, guidance and 
counselling. 

 ` Metrofile conducts a comprehensive HIV/Aids strategy and programme, 
based on the core principle that the human rights and dignity of any 
employee infected by the virus should be upheld.

 ` Metrofile embedded the SafeCyte compliance system to monitor 
and maintain safe workplaces. We maintain a register of all workplace 
accidents and no serious injuries were reported over the past year, and 
no significant loss of time due to injury.

 ` Staff members are actively involved in health and safety committees, with 
health and safety training conducted each year.

 ` Zero tolerance for any form of discrimination or unfair treatment

 ` Employees receive regular performance reviews

 ` Engagement with unions in the spirit of free association

SOUTH AFRICAN 
OPERATIONS
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TRADE-OFFS IN OUR USE OF SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL OUTCOMES
 ` Ongoing investment in social and relationship capital creates a stronger environment for operations and investments over the 

long-term.

 ` Insight into client requirements deliver competitive insight and business agility. 

 ` Regularly engaging with employees facilitates improved Group collaboration.

Our relationships with employees, investors, suppliers, clients, industry and government are important for our 
success. Long-term value creation depends on understanding the needs of our diverse material stakeholders. 
Metrofile’s stakeholder engagement process is therefore based on the principle of regular interaction and is 
underpinned by the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency.

Metrofile supports indigenisation, local communities and sound environmental practices in all geographies where 
we are present. Uplifting the communities in which we operate is fundamental to our business sustainability.

SOCIAL  
AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL

KEY INPUTS
 ` Metrofile’s reputation and brand value

 ` Relationships with our various stakeholders 
(refer to our stakeholder map on page 44).

 ` Integrity and ethical standards

 ` Transparency and good governance

OUTPUTS
 ` Over 9 000 clients

 ` High levels of responsiveness and consistent service 
quality

 ` Level 4 B-BBEE scorecard

HOW WE ACHIEVED THESE OUTCOMES
 ` Metrofile maintains a well-earned reputation as 

a leading provider of records and information 
management by keeping abreast of global information 
storage trends and consistently delivering innovative 
and fairly priced solutions.

 ` Metrofile is a member of Professional Records 
and Information Services Management (PRISM) 
International, a non-profit trade association for the 
commercial information management industry that 
requires members to:

 ` Fulfil obligations in good faith.

 ` Stringently maintain the confidentiality and security 
of client information.

 ` Update its offerings in line with international best 
practices.

 ` Remain compliant in all jurisdictions.

 ` The holding company and Metrofile subsidiaries adopt 
a consistent Group-wide approach to stakeholder 
engagement to ensure effective messaging and 
interaction.

 ` In South Africa, Metrofile achieved a level 4 contributor 
status following a 2017 audit under the revised B-BBEE 
codes. The Group is recognised as a value adding 
contributor for procurement purposes.

 ` Localisation and transformation are key, as are the 
indigenisation requirements of our various countries of 
operation. Indigenisation facilitates strong stakeholder 
relationships with local communities and bolsters the 
Group’s acceptability, relevance, and appropriateness 
as we enter new territories.

 ` Employees are equipped with the necessary business 
and interpersonal skills to deliver excellent service. They 
are, in turn, supported by processes and systems aimed 
at ensuring efficiency, integrity and legal compliance.

 ` A formal reporting process was implemented to 
provide timely and accurate feedback to Board 
sub-committees to further streamline stakeholder 
engagement.

 ` Metrofile contributes 1% of net profit after tax (NPAT) 
to initiatives focused on providing ongoing and 
sustainable education sponsorships to children at 
various schools.
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STAKEHOLDER MATTERS ON WHICH WE ENGAGE WHY AND HOW WE ENGAGE

Clients  ` Client complaints

 ` Client issues and concerns

 ` Establish business partner relationships

 ` Future service requirements

In order to address client’s complaints, issues, concerns 
and future service requirements, we conduct:

 ` Annual customer survey

 ` Selected meetings with customers on an annual basis to 
discuss services and service delivery

Employees  ` Employee concerns and issues We investigate and address employee concerns through:

 ` Employee representative committee meetings (monthly)

 ` National EE committee meetings (quarterly)

 ` Grievance process

 ` Tip-offs anonymous hotline

 ` Wellness programme

Service providers 
and suppliers

 ` Our business priorities and service requirements

 ` Issues that pose a risk to the Metrofile business and/or 
brand

 ` BEE compliance and plans to address

We review our product offering and delivering as per 
agreed SLA’s through:

 ` Ongoing electronic and personal engagement, including 
supplier meetings

Investors/ 
shareholders: 

 ` Individual

 ` Institutional

 ` Business performance

 ` Business expectations and strategy

 ` Economic, social and environmental concerns

As per our shareholder charter, we conduct the following:

 ` Annual general meeting

 ` Annual investor presentation

 ` Individual, documented analysts meetings

We publish:

 ` Integrated annual report

 ` Supplementary information via our website

 ` SENS announcements 

Government 
departments and 
regulatory bodies

Issues include: 

 ` Trade and industry policy on sector development, trade 
issues and growth

 ` Labour market issues regarding flexibility, skills, 
minimum standards, labour relations

 ` Environmentally friendly practices

To amend policies, procedures and practices to ensure 
compliance.

Unions Issues include: 

 ` Verification of union membership

 ` Establishment of organisational and bargaining 
agreements

 ` Wages and terms and conditions of employment 

Better understanding and response to employee 
concerns through:

 ` Ongoing electronic and personal engagement

 ` Meetings

 ` Participation in CCMA processes

Media Matters include: 

 ` Product and service offerings

 ` Topical issues affecting records management, e.g. 
PoPIA/privacy laws, business continuity and disaster 
recovery

 ` Macro-issues affecting storage and retrieval of 
information

Ensuring transparency and improving the provision of 
information:

 ` Ongoing electronic and personal engagement

 ` Interviews

 ` News releases

 ` Publications, including printed material and electronic 
format on websites

Community Focus includes: 

 ` Education and capacity building through the provision 
of education sponsorships

 ` Learnership programmes

 ` We continue to identify individuals to participate in our 
programmes through ongoing electronic communication 
and personal engagement

OUR  
STAKEHOLDER MAP
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CAPITAL
OUTCOMES

TRADE-OFFS IN OUR USE OF INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL OUTCOMES
 ` Intellectual capital dovetails with human capital through employee competence, skills, training and development. These include 

instilled knowledge of work procedures, ethics and values.

 ` Intellectual capital exists in all key support functions such as financial, administration, client relations and IT.

 ` The cumulative value of the intellectual capital that Metrofile has refined over nearly four decades informs and drives our 
evolving business strategy. Building onto the other five capitals, it enables Metrofile to remain sustainable and ahead of our 
competitors.

Our intellectual capital is derived from our extensive industry experience, combined with technology, procedures 
and processes developed by the Group. Intellectual capital is becoming vital to whether enterprises can remain 
sustainable in the long-term. Metrofile needs to understand industry and consumer trends to stay relevant in the 
future, while delivering to high standards in the present.

In a dynamic industry, innovation of products and services is essential, as are new skills to develop timeous solutions 
for our clients. Metrofile’s investment in research and development has led to an ever-expanding range of products 
and solutions specifically designed for our market sectors.

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

KEY INPUTS
 ` Skilled, experienced and technically 

qualified human capital

 ` Business systems and processes

 ` Experienced leadership responsible 
to the changing environment and 
client needs

OUTPUTS
 ` Services and products  

(refer to page 7).

HOW WE ACHIEVED THESE OUTCOMES
 ` The Group’s intellectual capital is refined through a continuous improvement 

process based on:

 ` Responding to changing needs

 ` Competitive intelligence

 ` Anticipating the needs of clients in the future

 ` Collaborating internally with Group businesses to pool intellectual capital

 ` Consulting with clients to create tailor-made solutions that fit their unique 
information and record management needs

 ` Partnering with the best providers of forward- thinking technology 
solutions and services

 ` Acquiring product lines in emerging technologies

 ` Continuously assessing product and service gaps, as well as identifying 
adjacent opportunities

 ` Improving operational efficiencies and cost management

 ` Identifying and mitigating risks

 ` Upskilling and motivating our workforce

 ` Metrofile’s range of consultancy services are designed to help clients 
navigate the world of records management. Consultants assist clients with 
the task of setting up the policies and procedures necessary to manage their 
information effectively, as well as to define relevant roles and responsibilities 
within the company. This process includes building file plans, doing data 
clean-ups or audits, developing retention policies and training staff. It also 
includes advising clients on the legislation governing records management.

Metrofile’s range of specialised records management software includes:

DataSTOR O’Neil eFile ECM E-Tracker
An easy-to-implement 
software solution 
that cost-effectively 
allows corporations 
and large enterprises 
to manage electronic 
records through the 
process of capture, 
storage, retrieval and 
distribution.

A comprehensive, browser-based, 
Software- as-a-Service (SaaS) solution 
that scales to record centres – 
commercial, corporate, and government 
– of all sizes. It takes the burden of 
locally hosting a records management 
application and database, and moves 
it to a web-based cloud environment 
managed by Metrofile and O’Neil. The 
new technology provides cost savings, 
greater power, ease-of-use, accessibility, 
and flexibility.

A client content management system 
designed to store the scanned output of 
digital conversion processes. eFile ECM 
incorporates a set of modules which 
enable clients to organise their different 
types of documents, assign accessibility, 
maintain document confidentiality, 
automate workflow, share documents 
across silos and instantly retrieve 
information. eFile ECM is a flexible and 
friendly solution that can integrate with 
front-end applications such as accounting 
and banking systems.

A system that 
simplifies document 
filing management for 
the diverse business 
needs of multiple 
departments within an 
organisation.

(CONTINUED)
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CAPITAL
OUTCOMES
(CONTINUED)

TRADE-OFFS IN OUR USE OF NATURAL CAPITAL OUTCOMES
 ` Our use of non-renewable resources such fossil fuels, as well as our emissions and wastes, negatively impact 

natural capital. However, by converting natural capital into value-added services, we boost the stocks of other 
capitals.

 ` Recycling significant volumes of paper saves transport and handling costs.

Metrofile has always managed its impact on the natural environment. The nature of our business enables us to 
drive our environmental messages by focusing on the importance of recycling, which is driven primarily through 
our Cleardata business.

Our environmental impact is best offset by re-cycling boxes and documents. The management of this waste paper 
is the Group’s single largest environmental contribution. In the last financial year, Metrofile recycled  
5 574 tons of paper, thus saving 327 trees.  

We remain aware of general environmental concerns, and continue to monitor our usage of water, electricity 
and fuel. Management is working towards establishing baseline reporting data to enable better monitoring of 
consumption and show year-on-year improvements.

NATURAL CAPITAL

KEY INPUTS
 ` Electricity generated primarily from fossil fuels

 ` Petrol and diesel used to fuel vehicles and generators

OUTPUTS
 ` Scope 3 emissions 

 ` Reduced waste-to-landfill 

 ` Continued focus on reducing electricity consumption

HOW WE ACHIEVED THESE OUTCOMES
 ` We strive to reduce the impact of paper and packaging 

waste on landfills and are committed to encouraging 
recycling.

 ` Recycling is a vital part of Metrofile. The Group recycle 
hundreds of tons of paper each month.

 ` Low-energy warehouses

 ` We are managing our electricity consumption and 
operating costs. 

 ` We are working to understand the impact of industry 
specific environmental impacts.

Electricity Water Fuel
 ` Warehouses are designed with 

minimum power usage so as to 
reduce cost and also the risk of fire. 
This is done by utilising natural light 
as much as possible through the 
use of translucent sheeting during 
construction. 

 ` In conjunction with natural light, 
employees working within warehouses 
utilise headlamps so as to ensure that 
their safety is optimised at all times 
whilst reducing the requirement and 
risk of powered lighting. 

 ` Lights are switched off when offices 
and meeting rooms are not in use 
and low-energy bulbs are being 
implemented where possible.

 ` The temperatures of geysers are 
managed and are switched off when 
not required. 

 ` All staff are aware that water 
is a precious natural resource 
which must be used sparingly.

 ` Leaking taps or pipes are 
reported timely so that these 
can be repaired.

The Group has implemented methods to ensure the 
more efficient use of its fleet:

 ` Reduction in the number of vehicles utilised.

 ` Monitoring of the driving techniques of our 
drivers.

 ` Structured maintenance and replacement 
policy, which ensures that vehicles are replaced 
timeously from both an economical and 
environmental point of view.

We have also started working on understanding our 
carbon footprint:

 ` Our Group and Regional offices have been 
equipped with video-conferencing facilities to 
reduce the requirement for internal travel

 ` Our offices and warehouses are strategically 
located near to public transport hubs, to enable 
our staff to access and use public transport when 
coming to work

 ` Analysis of flights for the period 1 January 2018 
to 30 June 2018, indicates that we contributed 
285.36 CO2  emissions through the use of air 
travel for business purposes. We are considering 
programmes to generate carbon credits for the 
Group
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INTRODUCTION
Metrofile Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries confirm their commitment 
to driving positive governance outcomes 
through principles, as advocated by the 
King Code on corporate governance, 
and remain committed to complying with 
legislation, regulations and best practices 
relevant to the business.

During the year ended 30 June 2018 
and up to the date of approval of 
this integrated annual report and 
annual financial statements, the 
principles articulated in the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 
2016 (“King IV”) have been sustainably 
applied.

Throughout the reporting period, action 
plans identified during the previous 
financial year have been implemented to 
further align the company’s governance 
principles with the King IV philosophy, 
principles and governance outcomes. 
Throughout this section of the report, we 
have reported on these action plans, as 
well as highlighted key focus areas for the 
next financial year. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
WITHIN THE GROUP

BUSINESS CONDUCT, ETHICS 
AND PREVENTION OF 
CORRUPTION
Metrofile is built on four promises, namely 
commitment, integrity, reliability and 
resourcefulness which supports our vision 
of being our clients’ trusted records and 
information management partner. As such, 
the Group’s business philosophy requires 
that directors, employees and business 
partners conduct themselves with honesty 
and integrity in all business practices to 
achieve the highest standard of ethical 
behaviour.

The company has adopted a Code of 
Ethics, which is available on the website. 
The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to 
prevent unethical business practices and 
to provide guidelines to ensure all our 
business dealings and partnerships are 
conducted fairly and ethically. The Code of 
Ethics stipulates, among other things, that 
the company must ensure it practices good 
business ethics, as well as ensuring that all 
of its subsidiaries and business partners 
adhere to the Code of Ethics. The Board 
considers sustainability to encompass 
social and environmental responsibility, 
good corporate governance and ethics, 
which are fundamental to the way the 
company interacts with its stakeholders, 
investors, clients, suppliers, employees and 
the community.

Communicating with all stakeholders is 
a fundamental part of Metrofile’s drive 
to provide timely, transparent and full 
disclosure. Metrofile further commits to 
transparent reporting to all its stakeholders. 
Metrofile is committed to govern its 
activities in a manner that is commensurate 
with the overarching corporate governance 
principles of fairness, accountability, 
responsibility and transparency.

The Board, CEO and CFO lead by example 
in terms of commitment, honesty and 
integrity. The leadership team continually 
supports and promotes an integrity-driven 
culture.

VALUE CREATION
The Board regards governance as 
fundamental to the success of Metrofile’s 
business. It is committed to applying the 
principles of good governance in directing 
and managing the Group in order to 
achieve its strategic objectives.

As reported in the creating value 
sustainably section of this report (refer 
to pages 25 to 46), the integration of 
our stakeholder engagement, material 
matters assessment, strategy and business 
model development, together with our 
performance management and outlook, 
ultimately encapsulates the value creation 
story of the Group overseen by our 
governance framework.

The Group endeavours to provide relevant 
reporting in a transparent manner to 
its stakeholders through the medium 
of the integrated annual report, annual 
and interim financial results, as well as 
supplementary reports and engagement 
with various stakeholders during the year.
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ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE 
LEADERSHIP
As a member of Professional Records 
and Information Services Management 
(PRISM) International, a non-profit trade 
association for the commercial information 
management industry, Metrofile subscribes 
to a philosophy of professionalism towards 
clients, fellow PRISM members and the 
public (refer to page 43 for further details 
on PRISM).

The Group subscribes to a whistle-blowing 
hotline, which was established in order 
to create a channel for anonymous tip-
offs relating to any matter of concern 
impacting the Group or stakeholders. As 
reported in the previous integrated annual 
report, alleged irregularities have been 
reported via the whistle-blowing hotline 
at Cleardata. The alleged irregularities 
have been fully investigated and 
criminal charges have been laid with the 
authorities. No other material reports were 
made via the whistle-blowing hotline for 
the reporting period. 

An annual declaration process exists for 
the company’s directors and management 
team covering gifts, compliance and 
disclosure of interests. No matters were 
identified for reporting.

Organisational ethics is overseen by 
the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee. During the reporting period, 
staff refresher training with regard to 
business conduct, ethics, exchange of gifts 
and entertainment, anti-bribery and anti-
corruption and anti-competitive behaviour 
were conducted throughout the South 
African Group companies. Consistent 
themes throughout the governance 
training material, included: 

 ` Any wrong-doing, in accordance with 
the governance policies, should be 
reported via the anonymous whistle-
blowing hotline; 

 ` Any non-compliance with Metrofile’s 
values and rules will not be tolerated; 
and

 ` Managing fears that reporting unethical 
behaviour will lead to victimisation.

Organisational ethics were further 
promoted through visual advertising 
campaigns and an annual ethics 
newsletter. 

Key focus areas for the 2019 financial year 
will be to conduct similar training sessions 
and advertising campaigns for the Group 
companies outside of South Africa and 
to formalise programmes to monitor 
organisational ethics further.

RESPONSIBLE CORPORATE 
CITIZENSHIP
Corporate citizenship underpins Group 
strategy and reputation in so far as human, 
social and relationship and natural capital 
are concerned.

Corporate citizenship is overseen by 
the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee and is reported on in the six 
capitals section (pages 42 to 44).

The Board acknowledges its responsibility 
to consider the impact of the company’s 
operations on the economy, community, 
the environment and its stakeholders in 
its decision-making and is committed 
to the principles of sustainability in 
achieving Metrofile’s strategy. Sustainability 
encompasses social and environmental 
responsibility as well as corporate 
governance and ethics. The Group retains 
overall control of its subsidiaries, which 
ensures that its sustainable business model 
of long-term growth built on a responsible, 
social and environmental platform is 
filtered through.

The company strives to minimise its own 
impact on the natural environment and 
utilisation of resources.
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COMPOSITION
The Board comprises of a diverse group 
who have adequate and appropriate 
knowledge, skills and experience. This is 
necessitated by the size and nature of its 
business, in order to act in the best interest 
of the company and its stakeholders. 
The technical, entrepreneurial, financial 
and business skills of the directors are 
balanced.

Throughout the reporting period, the 
Board, which is chaired by an independent 
non-executive director, comprised five 
independent non-executive directors, three 
non-executive directors and two executive 
directors. With effect from 30 June 2018, 
Nigel Matthews retired and Phumzile 
Langeni replaced Nigel Matthews as the 
lead independent non-executive director 
with effect from 10 July 2018. 
In addition, with effect from  
15 September 2018, Zaheer Abdulla 
replaced Cynthia Pongweni as one of the 
Mineworkers Investment Company (RF) 
(Pty) Limited representatives. 

All director appointments is a matter of 
the Board as a whole and are formal and 
transparent. The Board is satisfied that its 
composition reflects the appropriate mix 
of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity 
and independence. During the reporting 
period, the Board formalised and adopted 
a Board diversity policy, which reflects 
race and gender targets and measures. 
At Board level the intent is to maintain a 
voluntary target of 40% female and 50% 
race representation. The Board is currently 
meeting these targets with 44% of our 
members being female, 45% being black 
and 11% being Indian.

The role of all directors is to bring 
independent judgement and experience 
to Board deliberations and decisions. Chris 
Seabrooke continues his role as Chairman 
of the Board and Pfungwa Serima is the 
Group CEO. The separation of these two 
roles ensures a balance of authority and 
precludes any one director from exercising 
unfettered powers of decision-making. 
An official succession plan for the role of 
Chairman and CEO is in place.

OUR 
BOARD

DIRECTOR CLASSIFICATION (%)

Executive

Independent non-executive

Non-executive

22
45

33

DIRECTOR TENURE (%)

< 5 years

10 to 15 years

5 to 10 years

45

22

33

GENDER DIVERSITY (%)

Male Female

5644

RACE GROUP (%)

Black

Indian

White
Foreign nationals

45
11

11

33

The Nominations Committee has approved 
the continuance of the current Chairman. 
Notwithstanding Chris Seabrooke’s tenure 
of 15 years on the Board and his family’s 
indirect economic interest as at 30 June 
2018 of 3.4% in Metrofile, the other Board 
members have unanimously determined 
that Chris continues to exercise strong 
independent judgement and leadership in 
his capacity as Chairman of the Group. 

The Board continues to have a lead 
independent non-executive director in 
order to strengthen independence of the 
Board. With effect from 30 June 2018, 
Nigel Matthews retired and Phumzile 
Langeni replaced him as the lead 
independent non-executive director. The 
lead independent non-executive director’s 
duties include:

 ` Assisting the Board to deal with 
management of any actual or perceived 
conflicts of interest that arise on the part 
of the Chairman;

 ` Presiding at all meetings of the 
Board at which the Chairman is not 
present or where the Chairman is 
conflicted, including any sessions of the 
independent directors;

 ` Serving as principal liaison between 
the independent directors and the 
Chairman;

 ` Performing all such functions that 
cannot be performed by the Chairman 
due to his absence or the existence of a 
conflict of interest; and

 ` Liaising with major shareholders 
if requested by the Board in 
circumstances or transactions in which 
the Chairman is conflicted.

Brief biographical details of each Board 
member are reported on pages 14 and 15.

Data at time of publication
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BOARD ROLES  
AND RESPONSIBILITIES
In making its decisions, the Board strives to 
achieve the appropriate balance between 
the various stakeholder groupings, while 
adhering rigorously to its fiduciary duty to 
act in the best interests of the company. 
The Board charter, as well as the dynamic 
and well-balanced composition of the 
Board, ensures the best interests of the 
Group.

The Board of Metrofile is responsible for 
directing the Group towards achieving its 
vision and mission. The Board is ultimately 
accountable for the development and 
execution of the Group’s strategy, 
operating performance and financial 
results, practised within the Group’s formal 
governance framework and authority, 
with the objective to create sustainable 
value for all stakeholders. The Board is 
responsible for its own composition, 
the appointment of the Chairman and 
Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and 
the constitution and composition of its 
Committees.

The Board’s roles and responsibilities are 
reflected in the Board charter, which has 
been published on the company’s website. 

The purpose of the charter is to regulate 
how business is to be conducted by the 
Board in accordance with the principles 
of good corporate governance. The 
charter sets out the specific roles and 
responsibilities to be discharged by the 
Board collectively, the individual Board 
member roles expected, as well as the 
requirements for its composition and 
meeting procedures. During this financial 
year, the charter was reviewed and 
updated to incorporate aspects of the 
King IV code. The Board has an annual 
work plan in order to ensure all aspects as 
required per the charter are deliberated 
on. 

The executive directors, being involved 
with the day-to-day business activities of 
the Group, are responsible for ensuring 
that the decisions, strategies and views of 
the Board are implemented.

To fulfil their responsibilities, Board 
members have full and unrestricted access 
to relevant information and the services 
and advice of the Company Secretary. 
Directors may also obtain independent 
professional advice at the expense of the 
company.

BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets at least four times a 
year (attendance for this reporting period 
is detailed in the table on the following 
page). The Board works to a formal agenda 
that covers strategy, structure, operating 
performance, growth initiatives, Group 
functional reporting, feedback from Board 
sub-committees and other key activities 
of the Group. To do so effectively, formal 
documents and minutes of all Board 
Committees are included in the Board 
papers.

At each Board meeting the executive 
directors report to the Board on board-
related matters. The executive directors’ 
reports are supplemented with reports 
from the managing directors of major 
subsidiaries and Group functional heads 
(HR, IT, marketing and risk). 

The Chairmen of the Board sub-
committees also report to the Board on 
matters delegated.

During the year, the Board received 
presentations from management on the 
strategic plans and budgetary matters, 
as well as any other items requiring in-
depth coverage in terms of the Group’s 
authority framework. The Group’s authority 
framework is reviewed by the Board on an 
annual basis.

During 2018 the Board of Directors 
delivered on the following key focus areas:  
targeted acquisitions in selective 
international markets (Tidy Files and 
Kenya acquisition), maintaining and 
improving corporate governance (as 
evident in this governance section of the 
integrated annual report) and stakeholder 
engagement (refer to pages 43 and 44). 
Increasing revenue and profit growth from 
existing businesses will remain a key focus 
area for 2019. 

 

Apart from the standing agenda items, the 
following key focus areas were deliberated 
at Board meetings:

SEPTEMBER TO NOVEMBER

 ` Integrated annual report

 ` AGM

 ` Succession plan 

 ` On-boarding of Tidy Files 

 ` Cleardata investigation and  
on-boarding to MRM

 ` Approval of charters after alignment 
with King IV requirements

DECEMBER TO FEBRUARY

 ` Acquisitions and investment 
opportunities

 ` Approval of interim financial results

 ` On-boarding of Kenya acquisition

MARCH TO MAY

 ` Risk register review

 ` Approval of the integrated risk 
management and combined assurance 
policy and framework

 ` Review and approval of Group authority 
framework

 ` Approval of year-end audit plan, scope 
and approach

 ` Strategy deliberations (subsidiary and 
Group) and budget approval, including 
restructuring of operating model

 ` Approval of charters after alignment 
with King IV requirements

JUNE TO SEPTEMBER

 ` Approval of combined assurance plan 
FY2019

 ` Review overall assurance conclusions 
FY2018

 ` Approval of annual financial results

 ` Director and sub-committee changes

 ` Acquisitions and investment 
opportunities

In addition to increasing revenue, the 
other key focus area for 2019 will be 
delivering on our strategic pillars, which 
include restructuring our operating 
model, enhancing our client relationships, 
strategic acquisition and expansion, 
nimble and tailor-made solutions and 
evolution into the digital space.  

OUR 
BOARD
(CONTINUED)
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Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the 2018 financial year is 
depicted in the following table:

PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS
The effectiveness and performance of 
the Board, its committees, the CEO and 
the Chairman was measured by way of 
self-assessments during the year. We are 
satisfied that the Board’s performance is 
satisfactory in all aspects.

We specifically consider the independence 
of directors and their other commitments 
annually. This is done to determine 
whether a director has sufficient time to 
discharge his or her duties effectively 
and is free from conflicts that cannot be 
managed satisfactorily.

The Chairman and the Board re-assess the 
independence of independent directors 
on an annual basis. The King IV code 

The Board is of the view that all non 
executive directors are independent, in 
accordance with the King IV code. We have 
reconfirmed the independence of our non-
executive Chairman who has been in office 
for more than nine years. We did this after 
considering, among other considerations, 
the extent to which the diversity of his 
views, skills and experience continue to 
enhance the Board’s effectiveness and he 
is able to question management judgment 
objectively and inclusively.

The Board is satisfied that the evaluation 
process improves its performance and 
effectiveness. No action plans of a material 
nature were noted, and, in future, any 
action plans of a material nature will be 
disclosed in the integrated annual report 
and in the JSE Compliance Certificate.

Succession planning will remain a key 
focus area in the year ahead.

BOARD ROTATION
In terms of the Group’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation (MOI), all non-executive 
directors retire by rotation every three 
years. In the event that no directors are 
due for rotation, the two with the longest 
period since re-appointment automatically 
retire. Retiring directors are proposed for 
re-election by shareholders. 

At the 2018 AGM, Zaheer Abdulla’s 
appointment will be confirmed and 
Chris Seabrooke, Graham Wackrill and 
Sindi Zilwa will retire by rotation and, 
being eligible, will offer themselves for 
re election.

All existing non-executive directors of 
the Board are subjected to a rigorous 
review by the Nominations Committee, 
irrespective of tenure. 

Notwithstanding Graham Wackrill’s tenure 
of 14 years, the other Board members have 
unanimously determined that Graham 
Wackrill continues to exercise strong 
independent judgement. 
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Chris Seabrooke 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2
Mary Bomela 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Pfungwa Serima (CEO) 4/4 2/2
Mark McGowan (CFO) 4/4 2/2
Phumzile Langeni 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2
Nigel Matthews* 2/4 1/3 0/2 1/2 1/2
Lindiwe Mthimunye 4/4 3/3 2/2
Cynthia Pongweni# 4/4
Graham Wackrill 4/4
Sindi Zilwa 4/4 3/3 2/2
Zaheer Abdulla#

*  Nigel Matthews retired with effect from 30 June 2018. 
#   Cynthia Pongweni resigned from the Board of Directors and was replaced by Zaheer Abdulla with 

effect from 15 September 2018.

BOARD STATEMENT
The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its charter for the 
reporting period and that it has complied with its 
legal and regulatory responsibilities throughout the 
period under review.

suggests that the re-appointment of an 
independent director after a term of nine 
years should be seriously considered as 
it is suggested that after nine years their 
independence may be impaired. Non-
executive directors of the company may 
continue to serve, in an independent 
capacity, for longer than nine years if, upon 
an assessment by the company conducted 
every year after nine years, it is concluded 
that the director exercises objective 
judgement and there is no interest, 
position, association or relationship which, 
when judged from the perspective of a 
reasonable and informed third party, is 
likely to influence unduly or cause bias in 
decision-making.
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The Board has outsourced this function 
to an independent Company Secretary 
in order to meet the requirements of the 
Companies Act and the JSE. 

The duties of the Company Secretary 
include:  

 ` Ensuring that Board procedures are 
followed and reviewed regularly;

 ` Ensuring that the applicable rules and 
regulations for the conduct of the affairs 
of the Board are complied with;

 ` Providing the Board and individual 
Board members with detailed guidance 
as to how their responsibilities should 
be properly discharged in the best 
interest of the company and in line with 
good governance;

 ` Providing counsel and guidance to the 
Board on their individual and collective 
powers and duties; 

 ` Eliciting responses, input and feedback 
for Board and Board Committee 
meetings;

 ` Preparing and circulating Board and 
Board Committee papers timeously;

 ` Ensuring preparation and circulation of 
proper minutes of shareholder, Board 
and Board Committee meetings;

COMPANY 
SECRETARY 

 ` Maintaining statutory records in 
accordance with legal requirements;

 ` Reporting to the Board on any non-
compliance with the MOI or Companies 
Act; 

 ` Certifying in the annual financial 
statements that the Group has filed the 
required notices and returns timeously 
in accordance with the Companies Act; 

 ` Ensuring that the Group’s annual 
financial statements are properly 
distributed;

 ` Carrying out the other functions 
required of a Company Secretary by the 
Companies Act and the JSE;

 ` Considering the regulatory universe 
prepared and providing the Board with 
updates and proposed changes to laws 
and regulations affecting the Group; 

 ` Assisting the Nominations Committee 
with the appointment of directors;

 ` Advising the Nominations Committee 
on all legal and regulatory matters, 
including legal frameworks and 
processes;

 ` Advising the Nominations Committee 
with respect to all regulatory filing 
and public disclosure relating to the   
company’s governance processes;

 ` Assisting with Director induction and 
training programmes;

 ` Ensuring that the Board charter and 
the terms of reference of Board 
Committees are kept up-to-date;

 ` Drafting annual work plans with 
the Chairman of the Board and the 
individual Board Committee Chairmen;

 ` Assisting with the evaluation of 
the Board, Board Committees and 
individual directors; and

 ` Keeping abreast of current corporate 
governance thinking and practice, and 
informing the Board accordingly.

The Board has considered and satisfied 
itself of the Company Secretary’s 
competence, qualifications and 
experience. The Company Secretary has 
over 10 years’ experience in the role and 
the Board is satisfied that she has carried 
out her duties as set out above and that 
the arrangements for access to the services 
offered by the Company Secretary is 
effective.

The Board confirms that the Company Secretary has 
maintained an arm’s-length relationship with the 
Board as she is not a director of the company and she 
performs no other functions on behalf of the Group 
or the Board.
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The Group’s governance structure provides 
for delegation of authority while enabling 
the Board to retain effective control.

The Board has established four 
Committees to assist with its duties, 
namely the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee, the Nominations Committee, 
the Remuneration Committee and 
the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee. The structure and composition 
of the Committees remain unchanged 
other than Nigel Matthews retiring with 
effect from 30 June 2018 and therefore 
stepping down as an Audit, Governance 
and Risk Committee member and lead 
independent non-executive director. 
Nigel was replaced by Phumzile Langeni 
as lead independent non-executive 

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  
AND DELEGATION OF 
AUTHORITY

AUDIT, 
GOVERNANCE  

AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND 
TRANSFORMATION 

COMMITTEE

director. Effective 6 September 2018 
Phumzile Langeni also replaced Mary 
Bomela as Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee in order to align with the King 
IV recommended practices, where the 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
should be an independent non-executive 
director. Mary Bomela remains as a 
Remuneration Committee member. 

The Committee charters are available  
on the Group’s website:  
www.metrofilegroup.com or from the 
Company Secretary. The Committee 
charters were updated during the 2018 
financial year to incorporate aspects of the 
King IV code. The individual Committee 
feedback is detailed in the next section of 
this report.

The Board delegates authority to these 
established Board Committees as well 
as to the executive directors with clearly 
defined mandates. The Board is satisfied 
that the Group’s authority framework 
contributes to role clarity and the effective 
exercise of authority and responsibilities. 
The Board is responsible for setting 
strategic and operational direction and 
policy and this is filtered down to all 
subsidiaries. The Nominations Committee 
reviews executive director and senior 
management succession plans and is 
satisfied that a robust succession plan is in 
place at a Group and subsidiary level. 

SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS – METROFILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ASSURANCE PROVIDED BY MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL AUDIT  
AND OTHER INDEPENDENT PROVIDERS IN LINE WITH THE COMBINED ASSURANCE PLAN

NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE CONSISTING OF  
SUBSIDIARY MD’S AND GROUP FUNCTIONAL HEADS

GROUP SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CEO AND CFO)

METROFILE 
RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT 
SOUTH AFRICA

100%

TIDY FILES SA
100%

METROFILE 
RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT 
MOZAMBIQUE

51%

CSX CUSTOMER 
SERVICES

100%

CLEARDATA
100%

METROFILE 
RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT 
NIGERIA
100%^

METROFILE 
RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT 
ZAMBIA

60%

METROFILE 
RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT 
KENYA
100%

METROFILE 
RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT  
BOTSWANA

100%

LEXIE LEGAL 
SERVICES

40%

EFILE  
MASTERS

60%

AL BIDDA
METROFILE 

49%

GLOBAL 
CONTINUITY SA 

100%

DEXTERITY 
DIGITAL 

SOLUTIONS
62.5%

EFILE  
TEEJAN 

49%

^  Subsequent to the finalisation of the annual financial statements, and prior to the issue of this report, the Group disposed of 38% of its investment in 
Metrofile Records Management Nigeria.
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COMMITTEE STRUCTURE  
AND REPORT BACK
Each sub-committee’s roles and responsibilities, composition requirements and meeting procedures are reflected in their respective 
charters, which are published on the company’s website. The purpose of the charters is to regulate how business is to be conducted by 
the sub-committees in accordance with the principles of good corporate governance and other legal requirements. During this financial 
year, the charters were reviewed and updated to incorporate aspects of the King IV code and alignment between the powers detailed in 
the individual charters and the Group’s authority framework was ensured. 

AUDIT, GOVERNANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE (AGRC)
COMPOSITION ON THE 2018 AGENDA
Members
Sindi Zilwa (Chairman)
Phumzile Langeni
Nigel Matthews*
Lindiwe Mthimunye
Chris Seabrooke

Permanent invitees
Cynthia Pongweni*
Graham Wackrill
Zaheer Abdulla* 

Other regular attendees
Pfungwa Serima
Mark McGowan
Members of executive management
Internal audit
External audit 

*  Nigel Matthews retired with effect from 30 
June 2018. In addition, Cynthia Pongweni 
resigned from the Board of Directors 
effective 15 September 2018 and was 
replaced by Zaheer Abdulla.

Apart from the standing agenda items and statutory requirements, the Committee 
specifically focussed on the following matters during the reporting period:

 ` Delivering on focus areas highlighted in the 2017 integrated annual report:

 ` Financial reporting in terms of international frameworks (eg IFRS 9, 15 and 16)

 ` JSE proactive monitoring of financial statements

 ` Corporate governance – further alignment to King IV (review and approval of 
AGRC and Internal Audit charters and annual work plan alignment)

 ` Internal control environment for Group companies outside South Africa

 ` Combined internal assurance – further evolvement

 ` Information technology – reporting specifically in terms of resilience and security

 ` Internal audit and external audit assurances around their engagement quality 
assurance processes

 ` Cleardata irregularities and stabilisation of the Cleardata control environment

 ` Trade debtor collections

 ` Tracking of investments versus performance

CAPITALS FORMING PART OF THE AGENDA
 ` Financial capital

 ` Manufactured capital (properties, buildings, warehouses, assets, IT equipment)

 ` Human capital (CFO, finance function, risk and compliance function)

 ` Intellectual capital (information and technology)

ADDITIONAL 2019  
FOCUS AREAS

REPORT BACK IN TERMS OF THE FOLLOWING GOVERNANCE 
FUNCTIONAL AREAS 

 ` Enhancing internal control 
environment outside South Africa 

 ` International regulatory universe

 ` Information and technology charter 

 ` Privacy policies and procedures

 ` Risk and opportunity management

 ` Technology and information 

 ` Compliance and share dealings

 ` Combined assurance plan

 ` Internal control and management reporting

 ` External audit

 ` Internal audit

 ` CFO and Group finance function

MEETING SCHEDULE
The Committee met three times in 2018.

COMMITTEE STATEMENT
The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for 
the reporting period. Also refer to the Audit, Governance 
and Risk Committee report on pages 73 and 74 as part of the 
financial statements.
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NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE (NOMCOM)
COMPOSITION ON THE 2018 AGENDA
Members
Chris Seabrooke (Chairman)
Mary Bomela 
Phumzile Langeni
Nigel Matthews*

Permanent invitees
Graham Wackrill

Occasional invitees
Pfungwa Serima
Mark McGowan

*  Nigel Matthews retired with effect from 30 
June 2018.

Apart from the standing agenda items, the Committee specifically focussed on the 
following matters during the reporting period:

 ` Delivering on focus areas highlighted in the 2017 integrated annual report:

 ` Corporate governance – further alignment to King IV (review and approval of 
charter and changes to Remuneration Committee Chairman to be an independent 
non-executive director)

 ` Finalised Board diversity policy

 ` Replacement of lead independent non-executive director due to Nigel Matthews’ 
retirement

 ` Board and Committee composition

 ` Succession planning for the Board, CEO, CFO and senior management

 ` Benchmarking, Board and sub-committee non-executive fees

CAPITALS FORMING PART OF THE AGENDA
 ` Human capital (Board, senior management)

REPORT BACK IN TERMS OF THE FOLLOWING GOVERNANCE 
FUNCTIONAL AREAS 

 ` Our Board

 ` Compliance

MEETING SCHEDULE ADDITIONAL 2019 FOCUS AREAS
The Committee met twice in 2018.  ` Board, Chairman, CEO and Committee performance evaluation 

COMMITTEE STATEMENT
The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for 
the reporting period.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (REMCOM)
COMPOSITION ON THE 2018 AGENDA
Members
Phumzile Langeni (Chairman)*
Mary Bomela* 
Nigel Matthews* 
Chris Seabrooke

Permanent invitees
Graham Wackrill

Occasional invitees
Pfungwa Serima
Mark McGowan 
(neither may take part in any discussions 
regarding their own remuneration)

*  Nigel Matthews retired with effect from  
30 June 2018. In addition, effective 
6 September 2018, Phumzile Langeni 
replaced Mary Bomela as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee in order to align 
with the King IV recommended practices, 
where the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee should be an independent 
non-executive director. 

The Committee employs the services 
of specialist consultants in the field 
of executive remuneration to assist 
the Committee when necessary. 
The consultants who have been 
retained in this role to date are 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC). 

Apart from the standing agenda items, the Committee specifically focussed on the 
following matters during the reporting period:

 ` Delivering on focus areas highlighted in the 2017 integrated annual report:

 ` Corporate governance – further alignment to King IV (review and approval 
of charter and draft remuneration policy against King IV code principles and 
recommended practices)

 ` Approval of TGP increases for senior management

 ` Approval of short-term incentive targets for executive directors, prescribed officers 
and other staff

 ` Approval of short-term incentive outcomes for 2018

 ` Approval of long-term incentives awarded during 2018

 ` Employee benefits

 ` Review the remuneration policy, approve the remuneration report and strategy

 ` Considered shareholder feedback, where necessary

CAPITALS FORMING PART OF THE AGENDA
 ` Human capital

 ` Social and relationship capital

REPORT BACK IN TERMS OF THE FOLLOWING GOVERNANCE 
FUNCTIONAL AREAS 

 ` Compliance

 ` Remuneration report 

MEETING SCHEDULE ADDITIONAL 2019 FOCUS AREAS
The Committee met twice in 2018.  ` Approve and implement remuneration policy

 

COMMITTEE STRUCTURE  
AND REPORT BACK
(CONTINUED)

COMMITTEE STATEMENT
 ` The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in 

accordance with its terms of reference for the reporting period. 
Please refer to the Remuneration Report on pages 63 to 69 for 
more details on Metrofile’s remuneration philosophy, policy and 
implementation report. 

 ` The Committee is satisfied that PWC is independent and objective in 
the field of executive remuneration.
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SOCIAL, ETHICS AND TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE (SETCOM)
COMPOSITION ON THE 2018 AGENDA
Members
Mary Bomela (Chairman)
Phumzile Langeni
Nigel Matthews*
Mark McGowan 
Lindiwe Mthimunye
Pfungwa Serima
Sindi Zilwa

Permanent invitees
Members of executive management

*  Nigel Matthews retired with effect from  
30 June 2018.

Apart from the standing agenda items and statutory requirements, the Committee 
specifically focussed on the following matters during the reporting period:

 ` Delivering on focus areas highlighted in the 2017 integrated annual report:

 ` Corporate governance – further alignment to King IV (review and approval of 
charter and annual work plan alignment)

 ` Finalised Board diversity policy

 ` Defined sustainability measures further in order to report against these going 
forward 

 ` Defined responsible corporate citizenship programme and measures

 ` Stakeholder-inclusive approach defined and reflected in separate charter 

 ` Ethical conduct – staff refresher training with regard to business conduct, ethics, 
exchange of gifts and entertainment, anti-bribery and anti-corruption and anti-
competitive behaviour

 ` Human rights, equality, corruption, health, public safety, consumer and labour 
relations, empowerment 

 ` Regulatory universe focusing on social, ethics and transformation

 ` Social and economic development 

 ` Transformation

MEETING SCHEDULE CAPITALS FORMING PART OF THE AGENDA
The Committee met twice in 2018.  ` Human capital 

 ` Social and relationship capital

 ` Natural capital

REPORT BACK IN TERMS OF THE FOLLOWING GOVERNANCE 
FUNCTIONAL AREAS 

 ` Business conduct, ethics and prevention of corruption

 ` Compliance

ADDITIONAL 2019 FOCUS AREAS
 ` Code of Ethics to be reviewed in terms of King IV

 ` Refine reporting against sustainability measures defined

 ` Conduct ethics training sessions for the Group companies outside of  
South Africa

 ` Formalise programmes to monitor organisational ethics further

COMMITTEE STATEMENT
The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference 
for the reporting period. Also refer to the Social, Ethics and 
Transformation Committee report on page 80 as part of the 
financial statements.
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The governance functional areas contemplated in King IV are essentially embedded in the underlying elements of our integrated 
reporting and thought process. Oversight and report back of these functional areas is maintained by the Board and its sub-committees as 
follows: 

FUNCTIONAL AREA
COMMITTEE 
OVERSIGHT

REPORT BACK THROUGHOUT THIS 
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 
REFERENCE

Risk and opportunity management AGRC Risk and opportunities 28

Material matters and mitigation 29 to 33

Risk governance 59

Technology and information AGRC Material matters and mitigation 29 to 33

Information technology 59 and 60

Information and privacy 60

Compliance governance AGRC
SETCOM

Compliance 60

Share dealings 60

Assurance AGRC About this report ifc and 1

Combined assurance plan 60 and 61

Internal control and management reporting 61

External audit 61 and 62

Internal audit 62

CFO and finance function 62

Independent auditor’s report 70 to 72

Audit, Governance and Risk Committee’s report 73 and 74

Stakeholder relationship SETCOM Material matters and mitigation 29 to 33

Social and relationship capital 43

Our stakeholder map 44

Corporate citizenship SETCOM Human capital 42

Natural capital 46

Social and relationship capital 43 and 44

Remuneration REMCOM Remuneration report 63 to 68

GOVERNANCE  
FUNCTIONAL AREAS
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RISK GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors has committed 
to a process of risk and opportunity 
management that is aligned with generally 
accepted good practice as well as the 
principles of corporate governance 
as reflected in the King IV code. The 
Group’s process of risk and opportunity 
management is contained in the Metrofile 
integrated risk and combined assurance 
policy and framework and it is expected 
that all subsidiaries, functions and 
departments within Metrofile, as well as 
contracting parties, whether directly or 
indirectly controlled by Metrofile, will 
be subject to these risk management 
principles.

There is no separate Risk Committee, 
however, the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee takes responsibility for matters 
relating to risk and the mitigation thereof.

The Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee sets the Group’s risk strategy 
in liaison with the executive directors 
and senior management, making use of 
generally recognised risk management 
and internal control models and 
frameworks in order to maintain a sound 
system of risk management and internal 
control. 

The responsibility and accountability for 
implementation of risk management rests 
with management and staff. The Board 
of Directors retains accountability and 
responsibility for the overall process of 
risk and opportunity management and 
has established an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group. The 
Board and the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committees monitor risk management 
activities as a standard item on their 
agendas and has a specific risk-focussed 
meeting once a year. The Group Risk 
Officer reports to Mark McGowan, the 
Group CFO, and is responsible for risk 
management within the Group.

The Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee identifies and monitors, at least 
annually, key performance indicators and 
key risks or opportunities that could affect 
the company’s business model, the six 
capitals and the environment, society and 
economy in which the company operates. 
The realisation of Metrofile’s business 
strategy depends on its management 
being able to take calculated risks in a 

way that does not jeopardise the direct 
interests of stakeholders.

An enterprise-wide approach to risk 
management has been adopted by 
the Group, which means that identified 
material risks are included in a structured 
and systematic process of risk and 
opportunity management. These are 
managed within a unitary framework 
that is aligned to the entity’s corporate 
governance responsibilities.

Metrofile is committed to establishing 
appropriate mechanisms to serve as early 
warning for emerging or unpredictable 
risks. Equally, compliance with relevant 
legislation will be ensured and will fulfil the 
expectations of employees, communities, 
the shareholders and other stakeholders 
in terms of due care and corporate 
governance.

The risk management process involves 
the identification of the key risks facing 
the business and the implementation 
of controls to mitigate the risks where 
possible by means of formalised incident 
reporting and expanded combined 
assurance plans. Strategic risks are 
continually reviewed and ranked by 
inherent risk based on the evaluation of the 
probabilities and severity for each risk.  
The mitigation of each risk is assessed 
based on controls put in place and the 
resultant residual risk is also calculated.  
A comprehensive risk register is in 
place and constantly managed by the 
appropriate executive management 
members. A summary of the risks and 
opportunities have been included in the 
material matters section of this integrated 
annual report on pages 29 to 33. 

The Board obtains assurance that the 
controls over the identified risks are 
operating effectively by means of the 
combined assurance framework and plan 
(more detail is provided on pages 60 and 
61 under combined assurance plan).

The Board sets the level of risk tolerance 
and limits of risk appetite for Metrofile as 
part of its strategic direction setting of the 
Group. No risks outside the company’s 
tolerance level was noted.

In evaluating the risk of acquiring new 
businesses and entering new geographies, 
as well as directing the development of 
existing businesses, the Board takes a 
prudent approach to risk informed by 
many years of experience in the Group’s 
main business streams.

The Board also draws on the experience of 
its non-executive directors in other fields of 
business in setting the Group’s approach 
to risk in a wider context.

During the reporting period, the Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee has 
reviewed, and recommended to the 
Board for approval, the integrated risk 
and combined assurance policy and 
framework, as well as the company’s 
strategic risk register. In addition, the 
Committee reviewed and considered the 
consolidated subsidiary related strategic 
risk dashboard in order to assess that the 
integrated risk and combined assurance 
policy and framework has been embedded 
throughout the Group.  

For 2019, key focus will be placed on 
tracking actions plans to further mitigate 
the risks identified for the company and 
subsidiary Group companies.

TECHNOLOGY  
AND INFORMATION
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
As displayed throughout this integrated 
annual report, technology and information 
is one of the cornerstones of the Group 
and the Board takes overall responsibility 
for the governance thereof. Within 
Metrofile the value of information as 
an asset is well understood and the 
importance of technology in providing and 
securing information is key.

The use of technology and the evolution 
thereof within the business in order 
to streamline processes, maximise 
efficiency and to make information 
available to clients is a case of continuous 
improvement. Technology changes 
create opportunities for the Group to 
offer additional services to our clients 
as outlined in the material matters and 
strategy sections of this report on pages 
29 to 34.

The arrangements for technology  
and information is contained in our 
information technology security policy, 
which is aligned to ISO 27001. The 
Chief Information Officer report to the 
IT Steering Committee in order to ensure 
ongoing oversight over technology and 
information developments within the 
Group.

Part of the risk and opportunity 
management process described earlier 
in this report includes identifying 
information and technology-related risks 
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GOVERNANCE  
FUNCTIONAL AREAS
and mitigating them as best as possible. 
Systems continuity, cyber security and IT 
governance are of critical importance to 
the operations of the Group and as such it 
appears in the top risks for the Group.

Obtaining assurance on information 
and technology-related risks forms part 
of the combined assurance plan, where 
the effectiveness of controls in place to 
mitigate these risks are assured. The results 
of assurance activities, including ongoing 
vulnerability assessments, periodic 
penetration tests and the IT resilience 
of the Group, are reported to the Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee as 
standing agenda items. 

Throughout this financial year, the 
focus was on the implementation of 
effective technology across the Group 
to enable standardisation. In addition to 
the upgrading of operational systems, 
Metrofile integrated the Kenya acquisition 
and Cleardata from an IT perspective. 
Metrofile has worked with Tidy Files to 
review the  IT infrastructure, security, 
protection and business continuity and 
established a reporting framework for the 
overall IT resilience of the Group.  

Key focus areas for the 2019 financial 
year will be the further refinement of IT 
governance in terms of King IV, continuous 
strengthening of the security posture of 
the Group, standardisation of software 
to mitigate risk and driving efficiencies 
across the Group around information and 
technology.

INFORMATION AND PRIVACY
In South Africa, and the other jurisdictions 
where we operate, the Group is governed 
by laws that control the processing and 
security of personal information, both the 
information we process on behalf of our 
clients and our own information, including 
information about our employees.

During the 2018 financial year, we 
conducted a privacy health check and 
we rolled out refresher training covering 
privacy and confidentiality. The focus for 
the 2019 financial year will be to further 
enhance our privacy environment across 
the Group by reviewing and updating our 
privacy related policies, enhancing our 
existing information technology security 
policy to elaborate on certain privacy 
aspects and to enhance our privacy and 
confidentiality training material for all levels 
of staff. 

COMPLIANCE GOVERNANCE
COMPLIANCE
Compliance matters are the responsibility 
of subsidiary MDs and functional heads, 
who report on these matters to the Group 
Risk Officer and the CFO. The Group Risk 
Officer and the CFO are invitees to the 
Audit, Governance and Risk Committee 
meetings and the CFO is a member of 
the Social, Ethics and Transformation 
Committee. 

The assurance activities planned as part 
of the combined assurance plan are to 
assist management and the Board with 
identifying potential non-compliance 
issues. In addition, the subsidiary MD’s 
and functional heads are responsible 
for annually confirming compliance 
with applicable legislation, regulations, 
internal company policies and procedures 
of a material nature. Quarterly incident 
reporting is in place in order to report risk 
incidents and material or repeat non-
compliant matters. During the reporting 
period, no material or repeat non-
compliant issues were identified.

As in previous years, the Group’s regulatory 
universe, listing the prioritised high-
risk acts, was reviewed and updated. 
Prioritisation was based on the applicability 
of the act and its potential consequences 
(impact of non-compliance) and no 
significant changes in the regulatory 
universe for the Group was noted. Our 
regulatory universe and risk compliance 
processes ensures that key internal controls 
are in place to mitigate compliance risk 
and to ensure compliance with new or 
changed legislation.

A key area of focus during the 2018 
financial year was compliance with health, 
safety and risk standards and key financial 
controls within the newly acquired Tidy 
Files operation, as well as compliance with 
key financial controls within the Rest of 
Africa operations. 

During 2019, the key focus areas will 
be to enhance the Group’s compliance 
monitoring capabilities further, to link 
the regulatory universe with compliance 
monitoring activities in order to identify 
compliance assurance gaps and to set a 
regulatory universe for other jurisdictions 
where the Group operate.

SHARE DEALINGS
All share dealings by a director or 
prescribed officer must be authorised 
by either the Chairman or CEO. Any 
dealings by the CEO are authorised by the 
Chairman and dealings by the Chairman 
are authorised by the CEO. A formal share-
dealing guideline has been adopted by 
the Board. Restrictions are imposed upon 
directors and senior management in the 
trading of Metrofile shares and upon all 
employees regarding the exercising of 
Metrofile share-based incentives during 
certain “closed periods”. In light of the JSE 
Listings Requirements, the insider-trading 
laws and good corporate governance, the 
Remuneration Committee has advised that 
employees are not permitted to exercise 
their share options during “closed periods” 
or when in possession of unpublished 
price-sensitive or inside information 
relating to Metrofile.

The “closed periods” begin the day after 
each reporting date (these reporting dates 
being 31 December and 30 June) and 
end on release of Group results. A closed 
period also applies whenever Metrofile 
issues a cautionary announcement until  
it is withdrawn.

ASSURANCE
COMBINED ASSURANCE PLAN
The Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee, and ultimately the Board of 
Directors, is responsible for ensuring a 
robust combined assurance plan for the 
Group. A combined assurance plan aims to 
optimise the assurance coverage obtained 
from management, internal assurance 
providers and external assurance providers 
on the risk areas affecting the Group. The 
Board implemented a formal combined 
assurance plan in order to co-ordinate and 
monitor the provision of assurance.

The objectives of the combined assurance 
plan are to:

 ` Identify and specify all the sources of 
assurance over Metrofile’s risks;

 ` Co-ordinate the efforts of, and increase 
collaboration between, management, 
internal and external assurance 
providers;

 ` Be used for the purposes of 
planning the assurance provided 
by management, Group oversight 
functions, internal and external 
assurance providers across business 
processes associated with identified 
business risks and exposures;

(CONTINUED)
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 ` Provide the Board, Audit, Governance 
and Risk Committee and management 
with information and comfort on 
the completion and efficiency of the 
assurance being obtained from all the 
assurance parties;

 ` Demonstrate good governance through 
the linking of risk management with 
assurance;

 ` Provide a basis for identifying any areas 
where additional assurance may be 
required;

 ` Allow for the elimination of duplicated 
and/or excessive assurance where this is 
not considered cost-efficient; and

 ` Assists the Board in forming its 
opinion on the effectiveness of the risk 
management system.

The Group’s strategic risk register forms 
the basis for determining the combined 
assurance plan for Metrofile.

The plan was developed through:

 ` Analysis of the key exposures facing 
Metrofile, in order to ensure the 
completeness of the risk universe. 
These risks were also aligned to 
strategic value drivers.

 ` The risks were linked to assurance 
providers in order to ensure a robust 
assurance universe. The assurance 
provided was further categorised into 
four levels of “defence”:

 ` First level: Subsidiary management 
and line functions provide 
assurance on a more informal basis, 
including strategy development 
and implementation, performance 
measurement, risk management, and 
company control and monitoring of 
compliance to laws and regulations.

 ` Second level: Group oversight 
functions provide assurance with 
more formality. This includes the 
risk and compliance management 
structures of the company such as risk 
management, compliance officers, 
occupational health and safety, legal 
services and internal control units as 
well as finance, human resources and 
strategic/group management.

 ` Third level: independent assurance 
providers (e.g. internal audit, external 
audit and others).

 ` Fourth level: Oversight structures – 
made up by the Metrofile Holdings 
Board and the over-arching oversight 

structures in the company including 
the Board oversight sub-committees.

The combined assurance plan was 
prepared in order to achieve the objectives 
above and to ensure that Metrofile obtains 
a high level of assurance coverage over 
its key risks. Within Metrofile there are 
several assurance providers that directly 
or indirectly assure the Board and 
management over the effectiveness of 
controls for which they have responsibility. 
These controls include mitigating the risks 
identified in the risk assessment process 
described earlier in this report.

The primary assurance provider is Metrofile 
management, supported by the other 
levels of “defence”. Annually, the combined 
assurance plan is reviewed and assurance 
activities are formalised to be completed. 
The results of these activities are reported 
to the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee in order to enhance the overall 
control environment. 

Metrofile has a comprehensive and robust 
assurance plan in place, which is subject 
to the effective provision of assurance 
by all responsible parties. The Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee therefore 
recommended the combined assurance 
plan and assurance activities to the Board 
for approval. The Audit, Governance 
and Risk Committee is satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the combined assurance 
plan and arrangements and that it meets 
the objectives detailed above.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND 
MANAGEMENT REPORTING
The Board is responsible for the Group’s 
system of internal control, including 
internal financial control, which is designed 
to ensure operational effectiveness 
and efficiency, compliance with laws, 
regulations and policies, safeguarding of 
assets, prevention and detection of error 
and fraud to ensure the accuracy and 
completeness of accounting records and 
the reliability of financial statements.

The execution of the Group’s combined 
assurance plan, and subsequent reporting 
of results thereof, enhances the reliance 
on the effectiveness of the design and 
implementation of the Group’s system of 
internal control.

The Group has established management 
reporting disciplines, which include 
the preparation of annual budgets by 
subsidiaries. Monthly results and the 
financial status of subsidiaries are reported 

against approved budgets. Financial 
forecasting, inclusive of revenue, profit, 
interest, capital expenditure, cash flows 
and dividends, are reviewed regularly. 
Working capital, borrowing facilities 
and compliance with bank covenants 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. All 
financial reporting by the Group, including 
external financial reporting and internal 
management reporting, is generated from 
financial systems, subject to the internal 
controls and risk management procedures 
as described in this report.

While we recognise that systems 
of internal control can provide only 
reasonable and not absolute assurance, 
none of the internal audit or other 
assurance provider reviews conducted 
indicated that the system of internal 
control was inappropriate or functioning 
unsatisfactorily. The internal control 
processes at some of the non-South 
African operations however do require 
improvement. 

Based on assurance given by 
management, Group oversight functions, 
both the internal and external auditors and 
other assurance providers, the directors 
believe that the financial records can be 
relied on for preparing the annual financial 
statements and maintaining accountability 
for assets and liabilities.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee reviews the scope, 
independence and objectivity of the 
external auditors and agree on appropriate 
fees. During the financial year, Deloitte was 
the external auditor for the majority of the 
Group companies. 

The Committee is responsible for 
recommending the external auditor 
for appointment by shareholders and 
for ensuring that the external auditor is 
appropriately independent.

Shareholders ratified the appointment 
of Deloitte as external auditors to the 
Group at the previous annual general 
meeting and their re-appointment will be 
sought at the annual general meeting on 
Wednesday, 28 November 2018. Deloitte 
has been the auditor of Metrofile Holdings 
Limited for 18 years. The external auditor 
has the policy of rotating the lead audit 
partner every five years as prescribed by 
the Companies Act. The Committee is 
satisfied with the quality of the external 
audit.
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The external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee and present formal reports at 
the Committee meetings.

The external auditor carries out an annual 
audit of all the Group’s major subsidiaries 
in accordance with International Standards 
and Auditing (ISA) and reports in detail 
on the results of the audit to the Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee. The 
external auditor is thus the main external 
assurance provider for the Board in relation 
to the Group’s financial results for each 
financial year.

The nature and extent of non-audit 
services provided by the external auditors 
is reviewed annually to ensure that 
fees for such services do not become 
significant enough to call into question 
their independence of Metrofile. The 
Audit, Governance and Risk Committee 
regularly reviews the external auditor’s 
independence and maintains control over 
the non-audit services, provided by the 
external auditors.

The Committee has adopted a guideline 
that fees paid to the Group external 
auditors for non-audit services should not 
exceed the level of audit fees charged to 
the Group. If it appears that this guideline 
will be breached consistently, non-audit 
services will be outsourced to third-party 
auditors. Pre-approved permissible 
non-audit services performed by the 
external auditors include taxation and 
due diligence services. Non-audit services 
provided by the external auditors are 
required to be specifically approved by 
the Chairman of the Committee or by 
the full Committee if the fees are likely to 
be in excess of R500 000 in aggregate. 
The external auditors are prohibited from 
providing non-audit services, including 
valuation and accounting work where their 
independence might be compromised 
by later auditing their own work. During 
the current and previous financial years, 
Deloitte provided certain non-audit 
services, including tax reviews and 
advice, as well as reviews of information 
technology systems and applications.

Also refer to the Audit, Governance and 
Risk Committee report on pages 73 and 74 
as part of the financial statements.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Metrofile has outsourced the internal audit 
function of the Group to KPMG. The Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee reviews 
the operation of the Group’s internal audit 
function and the internal audit charter and 
recommends it to the Board.

The purpose of internal audit is to have 
an independent appraisal function which 
examines and evaluates the activities 
and the appropriateness of the systems 
of internal control, risk management and 
governance processes. Internal audit 
assists the Board, through the Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee, to 
effectively discharge its responsibilities. 
Internal audit is a key assurance provider 
and provides the Board with a report of its 
activities which, along with other sources 
of assurance, is used by the Board in 
making its report on its assessment of the 
Group’s system of internal controls, risk 
management and corporate governance.

The internal audit function operates within 
defined terms of reference as set out in its 
charter and authority granted to it by the 
Audit, Governance and Risk Committee 
and the Board. Audit plans are presented 
in advance to the Audit, Governance 
and Risk Committee and are based on 
an assessment of risk areas involving 
an independent review of the Group’s 
own risk assessments and the combined 
assurance framework.

The internal audit function goes through 
an independent quality review in line with 
the Institute of Internal Auditors’ standards 
as set out in the internal audit and Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee charters. 
KPMG performs regular internal quality 
reviews of its internal audit accounts. These 
reviews are conducted by senior KPMG 
personnel who are independent from the 
engagement team’s office(s).

The KPMG audit team reports to the 
Group Risk Officer and CFO on day-to-day 
matters.

The Audit, Governance and Risk 
Committee is satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the internal audit 
arrangements and that internal audit has 
met its responsibilities for the year with 
respect to its terms of reference.

CFO AND GROUP FINANCE 
FUNCTION
As required by the JSE Listings 
Requirements and King IV, the Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee annually 
considers and satisfies itself of the 
appropriateness of the expertise and 
experience of the Group Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO). His biographical details 
can be found on page 14. Furthermore, 
the Committee considers annually the 
appropriateness of the expertise and 
adequacy of resources of the Group’s 
finance function and the experience of 
senior management responsible for the 
finance function.

For the year under review, the Committee 
has satisfied itself on these points.

GOVERNANCE  
FUNCTIONAL AREAS
(CONTINUED)
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REMUNERATION 
REVIEW
PART 1: BACKGROUND STATEMENT STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT IN 

REMUNERATION POLICY
Metrofile is committed to engaging 
key stakeholders on its remuneration 
policy, as well as the consistent 
implementation of its remuneration 
policy. On an annual basis, Metrofile 
will put the remuneration policy and 
implementation report to two separate, 
non-binding votes at the AGM. For this 
year, the AGM will be held on  
28 November 2018. In the event that 
25% or more of the shareholders vote 
against either or both the remuneration 
policy and/or implementation report, 
Metrofile will include a note in its SENS 
announcement for the AGM results 
inviting dissenting shareholders to 
engage with it on their reasons for 
voting against either or both of these 
resolutions. 

The precise method of shareholder 
engagement will be decided by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

The results of the shareholder 
engagement, and the Remuneration 
Committee’s response to shareholder 
concerns will thereafter be published in 
the remuneration report at the end of 
the following financial year.

The Remuneration Committee 
(REMCOM) presents the following 
remuneration report for the 12 months 
ended 30 June 2018, highlighting key 
issues considered during this period.

The Remuneration Committee has 
considered the impact of King IV and 
has implemented a number of the 
suggested practices in part 3 of this 
report.

Since the presentation of the last 
remuneration policy to shareholders 
for the year ended 30 June 2017, 
the following changes have been 
implemented:

 ` The REMCOM charter has been 
updated in line with King IV, reviewed 
and accepted by the Board and 
REMCOM;

 ` As recommended per King IV, a 
new REMCOM Chairman has been 
confirmed, to ensure independence of 
this role;

 ` REMCOM has increased the number of 
times the Committee will meet to three 
meetings per annum.

As economies everywhere, including 
South Africa, continue to undergo 
significant change, Metrofile’s 
performance in a tough environment 
has been satisfactory.

In line with King IV, the report 
is presented in three parts: this 
background statement (part 1), followed 
by the company-wide remuneration 
philosophy and policy (part 2), and lastly 
the implementation of the policy for the 
12 months from 1 July 2017 to  
30 June 2018 (part 3).

The Committee is satisfied that the 
principles laid down by the Companies 
Act 2008 and King IV have been 
adhered to, unless otherwise stated in 
this report. 
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REMUNERATION 
REVIEW

Percentage

For Against Abstained

Ordinary Resolution Number 1.1  
Re-election of MS Bomela 99.84 0.16 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 1.2  
Re-election of P Langeni 93.68 6.32 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 1.3  
Re-election of IN Matthews 98.15 1.85 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 2  
Appointment of LE Mthimunye 98.82 1.18 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 3.1  
Election of Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member – SV Zilwa 99.99 0.01 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 3.2  
Election of Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member – P Langeni 93.67 6.33 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 3.3  
Election of Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member – IN Matthews 98.15 1.85 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 3.4  
Election of Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member – LE Mthimunye 98.81 1.19 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 3.5  
Election of Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member – CS Seabrooke 94.46 5.54 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 4  
Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche as external independent auditors 92.37 7.63 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 5  
General authority for directors to allot and issue authorised and unissued ordinary shares 99.26 0.74 0.81

Ordinary Resolution Number 6.1  
Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy 95.82 4.18 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 6.2  
Non-binding advisory vote on implementation report 99.31 0.69 0.05

Special Resolution Number 1  
Remuneration of non-executive directors 99.81 0.19 0.05

Special Resolution Number 2  
General authority to acquire the company’s own shares 99.93 0.07 0.05

Special Resolution Number 3  
Authority to allot and issue ordinary shares pursuant to CSP 96.51 3.49 0.05

Special Resolution Number 4  
General authority to directors to issue ordinary shares for cash 98.38 1.62 1.29

Special Resolution Number 5  
General authority to provide financial assistance in terms of Section 44 and 45 98.80 1.20 0.05

Ordinary Resolution Number 7  
Directors’ authority to implement special and ordinary resolutions 98.82 1.18 0.05

(CONTINUED)

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 201864

GOVERNANCE REVIEW



PART 2: REMUNERATION POLICY The policy conforms to King IV and is 
based on the following principles:

 ` Remuneration practices are aligned 
with corporate strategy;

 ` Total rewards are set at competitive 
levels in the relevant market;

 ` Incentive-based rewards are earned 
by achieving demanding performance 
conditions consistent with shareholder 
interests over the short-, medium- and 
long-term;

 ` Incentive plans, performance measures 
and targets are structured to operate 
effectively throughout the business 
cycle; and

 ` The design of long-term incentives 
is prudent and does not expose 
shareholders to unreasonable financial 
risk.

In the remainder of this part of the 
report, we provide a summary of our 
remuneration policy followed by a 
detailed explanation of the policy as it 
applies to executive management.

DETAIL ON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS  
(PRESCRIBED OFFICERS) 
Overview 
The Remuneration Committee seeks 
to ensure that executive directors 
and senior managers are rewarded 
for their contribution to the Group’s 
operating and financial performance at 
levels which take into account country 
benchmarks.

There are no direct industry 
comparisons to be made, therefore we 
compare our remuneration to that of 
the general market. Performance-linked 
variable pay and share-based incentives 
are important elements of aligning 
executive incentives with shareholder 
interests.

The remuneration policy enables 
executive directors and senior 
management to receive remuneration 
that is appropriate to their scale 
of responsibility and required 
performances.

It is designed to attract, motivate and 
retain individuals of the necessary 
calibre.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The role of the Remuneration 
Committee, its members and terms of 
reference are explained in detail on 
page 56 in the corporate governance 
section of this integrated annual report.

OUR REMUNERATION POLICY
Key principles of the remuneration 
policy 
Metrofile’s remuneration policy 
is designed to support a high-
performance environment and 
comprises a basic annual total cost 
package and performance-related 
variable pay linked to short- and long-
term targets.

The Group’s policy is to pay cost-to-
company packages between the median 
and 75th percentile for comparable 
positions.

Executive director and senior 
management remuneration comprises 
three components designed to balance 
short- and long-term objectives, while 
aligning to shareholder interests.

A high-performance environment is 
supported by the Group’s remuneration 
structure. This structure is supported 
by a basic annual total cost package, 
as well as performance-related variable 
pay, which is linked to short- and long-
term performance requirements.

The main objective of the basic annual 
total cost package is to provide 
individuals with a fixed income 
aligned to the job they perform. The 
performance-related remuneration is 
designed to encourage and reward 
superior performance and align the 
interests of the executive directors and 
senior executives as closely as possible 
with the interests of the shareholders. 
Long-term incentives, although 
performance-based, are inherently 
retentive, but there are no schemes 
specifically in place for the sole purpose 
of the retention of key employees. 
In addition to primary incentives, 
the executive directors and senior 
executives also receive retirement and 
other benefits as part of their basic total 
annual cost-to-company.

Fixed/
Variable Element Definition

Fixed Basic, annual cost package 
including benefits

The fixed element of remuneration is 
referred to as total guaranteed pay and 
includes salary, car allowance, retirement, 
risk cover and medical contributions.

Variable Short-term incentives (STI’s) An annual short-term incentive is paid to 
support the achievement the company’s 
short- and medium-term goals, with 
payment levels based on both company 
and individual performance.

Long-term incentives (LTI’s) Long-term incentive comprise of a new 
Conditional Share Plan (CSP), introduced 
in the 2017 financial year. The CSP 
comprises performance awards which can 
be settled in shares or in cash. Vesting is 
subject to company performance vesting 
conditions.
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REMUNERATION 
REVIEW
Package design
The company’s policy for executive 
directors and prescribed officers 
results in a significant portion of 
the remuneration received being 
dependent on company performance. 
In part 3 of this report the actual total 
pay outcomes for the 12 months ending 
30 June 2018 are depicted. The total 
pay opportunities for the CEO and CFO 
(prescribed officers) are dependent 
on the achievement of company 
performance targets.

Basic package
The basic annual total cost package 
of the executive directors and senior 
management is subject to an annual 
review by the Remuneration Committee 
and is set with reference to individual 
performance and external market data 
relating to that of the general market. 
For this benchmarking process, the 
Committee has determined to set a 
basic annual cost package for executive 
directors between the median and 
75th percentile of comparator groups 
because, in its view, this is essential 
to attract and retain the calibre of 
management necessary.

Included in the annual basic total 
package are compulsory contributions 
to the Group’s retirement scheme and 
voluntary participation in the Group’s 
medical scheme. In addition to the basic 
annual total cost package, allowances 
are paid with respect to cell phones and 
fuel for purposes of business travel.

Short-term incentives
Annual performance incentives are paid 
based on the achievement of short-term 
performance targets set out for each 
individual.

The incentives are directly linked to 
the performance achieved during a 
financial year and are determined by the 
Remuneration Committee. These include 
measures of corporate or divisional 
financial performance and individual 
objectives, which are aligned to the 
business strategy.

The elements making up the 
performance targets include financial 
elements and vary depending on the 
individual’s business division, job 
role and function and are payable on 
achieving budgeted targets. Qualitative 
elements are included, in addition 
to financial performance, and these 

elements are at least partially dependent 
on the financial targets being met.

The main elements of the annual 
performance bonus are the following:

 ` Revenue targets

 ` Gross margin targets

 ` PBIT/EBIT targets

 ` Accounts receivable management

 ` Transformation targets being achieved

 ` Other strategic targets as set out on an 
individual basis

Each individual is allocated a base 
incentive, which becomes payable on 
a sliding scale once financial budgets 
have been achieved. This base incentive 
increases, based on a predefined 
formula and is limited to two times the 
defined base.

Specific performance criteria and 
weightings are reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

At the end of each financial year, the 
achievement of the corporate financial 
targets are measured utilising the 
audited results and the achievement of 
qualitative targets are assessed by the 
Remuneration Committee.

The incentives payable to the executive 
directors in respect of the year ended  
30 June 2018 and the comparative 
period are disclosed in part 3 of this 
report.

For the financial year ended 30 June 
2018, the on-target incentive level 
was set at 100% of the basic annual 
total cost package for the CEO, with a 
75% quantitative and 25% qualitative 
split, and 60% of the basic annual 
total cost package for the CFO. These 
percentages and split for the CEO 
and CFO will remain the same in the 
upcoming financial year.

An additional Sales Incentive of  
R300 000 per annum was introduced 
for the achievement of business unit 
revenue and PBIT target to the CFO, 
for his role as Managing Director of the 
Middle East operation. This incentive is 
now in place for the managing directors 
of the respective Group companies. 

Annual performance incentives are paid 
in cash, less appropriate income tax.

Long-term incentives
The Group operated equity-settled 
share-based incentive schemes 
for executive directors and senior 
management in the form of:

 ` share appreciation rights scheme 
(SARS); and

 ` deferred bonus plan (DBP).

In 2017, the Conditional Share Plan 
(“CSP”) was introduced and replaced 
all other long-term incentive schemes. 
The SARs and DBP awards which were 
awarded will continue to operate until 
their respective vesting dates, however, 
no further awards will be made under 
either plan. 

The CSP provides for conditional 
performance awards, which provide 
participants with the conditional right 
to receive shares in the future upon 
achievement of specific prospective 
performance conditions. It is intended 
that awards to executive directors will be 
settled in shares, whilst awards to other 
participants can be settled in cash.

The vesting of performance awards are 
subject to an employment condition 
and the fulfilment of the performance 
conditions. The performance condition 
is measured over a period of three 
years. The CSP makes provision for 
retention awards, which are only subject 
to an employment condition. No 
retention awards have been made.  

Details of the awards, performance 
conditions and performance period for 
executive directors for the year ended 
30 June 2018 are set out in part 3 of this 
report.

Executive directors’ service contracts
To properly reflect their spread of 
responsibilities, the executive directors 
Pfungwa Serima (CEO) and Mark 
McGowan (CFO) have employment 
contracts with Metrofile Management 
Services Proprietary Limited.

These contracts include the stipulation 
that the CEO and CFO or Metrofile 
could terminate their contracts giving a 
nine month or six month notice period 
respectively. Restraint agreements apply 
to both the CEO and CFO contracts.

(CONTINUED)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Non-executive directors receive annual 
fees for their roles as directors and as 
Board Committee members. The Board 
does not regard separate attendance 
fees as appropriate or necessary 
unless the time allocation to meetings 
expected of directors is materially more 
than normal in a particular year.

The Committee did not consider it 
necessary to split directors’ fees into a 
base fee and attendance fee, because 
of the satisfactory attendance record of 
directors at Board meetings and time 
spent outside these on request from the 
Chairman or Company Secretary.

The terms and conditions of the 
appointment of non-executive directors 
are available on request from the 
Company Secretary.

Non-executive directors are not eligible 
to participate in the short-term incentive 
plan or any of the long-term incentive 
plans.

All the non-executive directors have 
letters of appointment with Metrofile 
Holdings Limited. For the services 
of Mary Bomela (Deputy Chairman) 
and Cynthia Pongweni (non-executive 
director), a service contract is in place 
with MIC for payment of related service 
fees. As from 15 September 2018, 
Zaheer Abdulla replaced Cynthia 
Pongweni as a non-executive director.

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE
Shareholders are requested to cast a 
non-binding advisory vote in respect of 
part two of this report, at the AGM on  
28 November 2018. 

PART 3: IMPLEMENTATION REPORT 
SUMMARY OF REMUNERATION 
ACTIVITIES/DECISIONS
The main issues considered and 
approved by the Remuneration 
Committee for the 12 months ended  
30 June 2018 were:

 ` Approval of TGP increases for senior 
management

 ` Approval of short-term incentive targets 
for executive directors, prescribed 
officers and other staff

 ` Approval of short-term incentive 
outcomes for 2018

 ` Approval of long-term incentives 
awarded during 2018

 ` Corporate governance on remuneration 
aspects

 ` Employee benefits

 ` Review the remuneration policy, 
approve the remuneration report and 
strategy

 ` Review of fees payable to non-executive 
directors

2018 TOTAL GUARANTEED PAY 
(TGP) ADJUSTMENTS
Annual salary increases for executives 
and prescribed officers are effected in 
July each year, taking account of market 
benchmark movements and company 
affordability. The percentage increase 
granted to executives for this period 
was 7% to 15%, with the lowest increase 
being 7% and the highest being 15%. 
Prescribed officers received increases in 
this range.

2018 STI OUTCOMES
The quantum of these incentives are 
in accordance with the achievement of 
business performance objectives. Given 
that business targets were not achieved 
in the 2017/2018 financial year, the 
REMCOM approved the payment of 
discretionary incentives to executive 
directors, prescribed officers and senior 
management.

The following performance criteria and 
relative weightings were applied to the 
prescribed officers:

Performance criteria
Relative 

weighting

Group revenue 20%
Group PBIT 65%
Group transformation 15%
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2018 LTI’s AWARDED
The following LTI’s were awarded to executive directors (prescribed officers) during  
the year:

Executive directors Title
CSP award – performance shares:  

percentage of guaranteed package 

Pfungwa Serima CEO 80%
Mark McGowan CFO 60%

In accordance with the Conditional Share Plan (CSP), LTI’s awarded are subject to the 
following performance conditions:

Performance measure and 
corresponding vesting percentage Threshold Target

Profit Before Interest and Tax CPI + 2% per annum CPI + 5% per annum
Resulting vesting percentage 30% 100%

Linear vesting is applied for performance between the above levels. There was no 
vesting in this performance period of either SARS or CSP. In respect of the DBP,  
26 900 shares are to be issued to the CFO.

TOTAL REMUNERATION OUTCOMES
In line with the requirements of King IV, the single figure remuneration for the executive 
directors for the period ending 30 June 2018 is as follows:

Name Title F/Y
Annual 

package

Sales and 
Service 

Incentive (STI)
Annual 

Incentive (STI)
Qualitative 
Bonus (STI)

On Target 
Earnings

Pfungwa Serima CEO 2017 5 000 000 3 750 000 1 250 000 10 000 000
Pfungwa Serima CEO 2018 5 350 000 4 012 500 1 337 500 10 700 000
Mark McGowan CFO 2017 2 400 000 300 000 1 440 000 4 140 000
Mark McGowan CFO 2018 2 760 000 300 000 1 656 000 4 716 000

Discretionary incentives paid to executive directors in the 2017/2018 financial year:

Executive directors Title

 Sales and 
service 

incentive 
(STI) 

 Annual 
incentive 

(STI) 
 Qualitative 
bonus (STI) 

 Discretionary 
incentive value 

Pfungwa Serima CEO – 1 875 000  1 250 000 3 125 000 
Mark McGowan CFO 300 000  720 000 – 1 020 000 

Incentives paid to directors are contained in the annual financial statements note 6, 
Directors’ Remuneration (Bonuses), on pages 98 and 99 of this integrated annual report.

Remuneration outcomes for the 12 months ending 30 June 2018 are contained in the 
annual financial statements note 6, Directors’ Remuneration, on pages 98 and 99 of this 
integrated annual report.

REMUNERATION 
REVIEW
(CONTINUED)
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SHARE SCHEMES
Details of the grants issued to date, under the Metrofile Holdings Limited SARs and CSP 
schemes are reflected in note 14, Share-based Payments, on page 106 in the annual 
financial statements of this integrated annual report.

CSP awards issued to executive directors for the period ending 30 June 2018:

Executive directors Title
 CSP award – performance shares: 

percentage of guaranteed package 

 Number 
of shares

2017/2018 

Pfungwa Serima CEO 80% 979 405
Mark McGowan CFO 60%  378 947 

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS IN SHARE CAPITAL
The aggregate direct beneficial holdings of directors and their immediate families in the 
issued ordinary shares of the company are detailed in the Director ’s report on page 77 
of this integrated annual report.

INCREASE IN NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FEES AND CURRENT FEES
The current fees for 2018 and the proposed 2019 fees are indicated below:

Non-executive director fees

30 June 
2019

R

30 June 
2018

R

Chairman 860 000 810 000
Deputy Chairman * *
Lead independent director 480 000 450 000
Non-executive directors 350 000 330 000
Chairman of the Audit, Governance and Risk Committee 370 000 350 000
Chairman of the Nominations Committee 180 000 170 000
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 180 000 *
Chairman of the Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee * *
Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member 170 000 130 000
Nominations Committee member 85 000 80 000
Remuneration Committee member 85 000 80 000
Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee member 85 000 80 000
Mineworkers Investment Company* 1 706 667 1 625 397

*  For the services of Mary Bomela (Deputy Chairman) and Cynthia Pongweni, a service contract is in place 
with MIC for payment of related service fees.

The proposed fees for 2019 will be tabled at the annual general meeting for shareholder 
approval; there were no other proposed amendments.

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE
Shareholders are requested to cast a non-binding advisory vote in respect of part 3 of 
this report, at the AGM on 28 November 2018.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF METROFILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Metrofile Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries  
(“the Group”) set out on pages 81 to 118, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2018, and the income 
statements and statements of other comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 
separate financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2018, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits 
of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN THE AUDIT

 ASSESSMENT OF GOODWILL FOR POSSIBLE IMPAIRMENT

The carrying value of goodwill is 
R528 million (2017: R217 million).

The recoverability of the carrying value 
of goodwill is determined with reference 
to its value in use, based on the cash flow 
forecast for each cash generating unit. 
There is estimation involved in forecasting 
and discounting future cash flows, with the 
growth rates and discount rate being the 
most significant assumptions impacting the 
valuation.

As the goodwill balance is material to 
the Group and significant judgement is 
exercised by the directors in evaluating 
the recoverability of the goodwill, the 
evaluation of goodwill for possible 
impairment is considered to be a key audit 
matter.

Refer to the goodwill notes 1.3 and 9 of the 
consolidated financial statements.

In evaluating the possible impairment of goodwill, we performed the following procedures:

 ` In respect of the newly acquired subsidiary – Metrofile Records Management (Kenya) (Pty) 
Ltd, we reviewed the fair value less costs to sell. We assessed whether the recent purchase 
price has changed substantially since acquisition date. The procedures performed 
included:

 ` Confirming that the purchase price was determined after following a competitive 
bidding process;

 ` Confirming that there were no significant adverse changes to the cash generating unit 
since acquisition date; and

 ` Confirming the results for the current period are in line with the expectations as at 
acquisition date.

 ` In respect of other cash generating units, we reviewed calculations of value in use, as 
prepared by the directors. We performed various procedures, including the following:

 ` Evaluating the Group’s goodwill assessment models and the principles and integrity of 
the discounted cash flow model.

 ` Testing of inputs into the cash flow forecast against historical performance and in 
comparison to the Group’s strategic plans.

 ` Comparing the growth rates used to historical performance.

 ` With the assistance of our Corporate Finance team, testing of the assumptions used to 
calculate the discount rates and recalculating those rates.

 ` Re-computing of the value in use of each cash generating unit.

 ` Performing sensitivity analyses on the growth rates to evaluate the impact on the value 
in use calculation.

 ` Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in respect of goodwill with 
reference to applicable accounting standards.

Based on the results of the above procedures, we consider the carrying value of goodwill to 
be recoverable and the disclosures in relation to the goodwill balance to be acceptable.

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the report of the directors, the Audit, 
Governance and Risk Committee Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Integrated Report, which is expected to be made 
available to us after that date. The other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

 ` Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

 ` Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s 
internal control.

 ` Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

 ` Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 ` Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

 ` Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF METROFILE HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued) 

 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

In  terms  of   the  IRBA  Rule  published  in  Government  Gazette  Number  39475  dated        
4 December 2015, we report that Deloitte & Touche has been the auditor of Metrofile Holdings 
Limited for 18 years. 

Deloitte & Touche 
Registered Auditor 

 
Per: P Ndlovu 
Partner 
7 September 2018 

 
 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Deloitte & 
Touche has been the auditor of Metrofile Holdings Limited for 18 years.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditor

Per: P Ndlovu 
Partner
7 September 2018
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The Audit, Governance and Risk Committee (the “Committee”) comprised the following independent non-executive directors 
during the year and to the date of this report:

 ` Sindi Zilwa – Chairman

 ` Phumzile Langeni

 ` Nigel Matthews (retired 30 June 2018)

 ` Lindiwe Mthimunye

 ` Christopher Seabrooke

The Committee has discharged its oversight responsibility for all local and international subsidiaries of Metrofile Holdings Limited 
for the reporting period.

The Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its charter, and has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter, and has discharged all of the responsibilities set out therein. 

The Committee considered the matters set out in Section 94(7) of the Companies Act of South Africa and is satisfied with the 
independence and objectivity of Deloitte and Touche as external auditors and Mr Patrick Ndlovu as the designated auditor. The 
Audit, Governance and Risk Committee further approved the fees to be paid to Deloitte and Touche and its terms of engagement 
and pre-approved any proposed contract with Deloitte and Touche for the provision of non-audit services to the Company.

As required by the JSE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit, Governance and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that the Chief 
Financial Officer, Mr Mark McGowan, has the appropriate expertise and experience.

The Committee has discharged the following specific responsibilities with regard to audit and governance during the reporting 
period: 

 ` Ensure and report on the integrity, reliability and accuracy of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting systems. 

 ` Consider and recommend the annual and interim financial statements for approval by the Board. 

 ` Consider that the going-concern assertion remains appropriate. 

 ` Ensure that it has oversight of the integrated annual report and the factors, risks and sustainability matters that may impact the 
integrity thereof. 

 ` The Committee reviews the scope, independence and objectivity of the external auditors and agrees on appropriate fees. 

 ` Review the findings and reports of the external auditors. 

 ` Consider the independence of and recommend the re-appointment or not of the external auditors. 

 ` Promote the overall effectiveness of corporate governance in the Group.

 ` Review the effectiveness of the design and implementation of internal financial controls, and the nature and extent of any 
significant weaknesses in the design, implementation or execution of internal financial controls that could result in material 
financial loss, fraud, corruption or error.

 ` Ensure that a combined assurance model is applied to provide a coordinated approach to all assurance activities and that the 
combined assurance received is appropriate to address all the significant risks facing the business. 

 ` Consider the significant risks in the Group’s business environment. 

 ` The Committee assists the Board in reviewing the risk management process.

 ` Oversee the internal audit function of the company. 

 ` Monitor compliance with applicable legislation, governance codes and regulations. 

 ` Assist the Board in carrying out its information technology governance responsibilities. 

 ` Annually considers the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the Group’s finance function and the 
experience of senior management responsible for the finance function.

 ` Consider the JSE’s most recent report-back on proactive monitoring of financial statements, and taken appropriate action where 
necessary to respond to findings as highlighted in the JSE report when preparing the annual financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2018

AUDIT, GOVERNANCE AND 
RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTER
The Committee noted the key audit matter set out in the independent auditor’s report, which is:  

 ` Assessment for goodwill for possible impairment.

The Committee is satisfied that there was no material breakdown in the internal accounting controls during the financial year. This 
is based on the information and explanations given by management and the outsourced internal audit function as explained more 
fully in the corporate governance section of the integrated report.

The Committee has evaluated the financial statements of Metrofile Holdings Limited and the Group for the year ended 30 June 
2018 and, based on the information provided to the Committee, considers that the Group complies, in all material aspects, with 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the SAICA 
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by Financial 
Reporting Standards Council. I further confirm that the 2017 JSE report on proactive monitoring of financial statements as issued 
on 20 February 2018, was tabled, and having considered the important findings and focus areas identified by the JSE in the report, 
the Committee was satisfied that all such findings and focus areas are adequately addressed by the Company and no further 
remedial action is necessary. 

SV Zilwa
Audit, Governance and Risk Committee Chairman

7 September 2018
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The Board of Directors of Metrofile Holdings Limited presents their report on the activities of the Group.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that fairly present the financial position and results of 
operations and cash flows of the Company and the Group for the year ended 30 June 2018 in accordance with the appropriate 
accounting policies based on International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of 
South Africa.

The directors accept responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and for the integrity, objectivity and 
reliability of the financial statements of Metrofile Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries. The directors support the principle 
of transparent reporting and delegated the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements to 
management.

The directors are responsible for systems of internal control. These are designed to provide reasonable, if not absolute, assurance 
as to the reliability of the financial statements and adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, and to 
prevent and detect material misstatement and loss. The systems are implemented and monitored by suitably trained personnel 
with appropriate segregation of authority and duties. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these control procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act of South Africa and International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and 
Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and are based on appropriate accounting 
policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements. These accounting policies have been consistently applied with the 
prior year.

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes that assets will be realised and 
liabilities settled in the normal course of business. No adjustments have been processed to the classification or valuation of 
assets or liabilities, which may be necessary if the company is not able to continue as a going concern.

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte and Touche, who are independent and were given unrestricted access 
to all financial records and related data, including all minutes of shareholders' meetings, the Board of Directors and Committees 
of the Board. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and 
appropriate. Their unmodified audit report is presented on page 70 to 72.

The Audit, Governance and Risk Committee has reviewed the scope as well as the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors. The Committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor is independent as defined by the Companies Act and the 
Committee has approved the audit fees for the year. The Committee has nominated Deloitte and Touche as external auditor for 
the 2019 financial year for approval at the annual general meeting.

The annual financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of Mr MC McGowan CA(SA). The financial statements 
which appear on pages 81 to 118 were approved by the Board on 7 September 2018 and are signed on their behalf by:

PG Serima  MC McGowan
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATE BY
COMPANY SECRETARY
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, all returns and notices as are 
required by the Companies Act for a public company have been lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Properties 
Commission and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up-to-date.

Paige Atkins
Company Secretary

Johannesburg
7 September 2018

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY  
AND APPROVAL
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF METROFILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Your directors submit their report together with the audited annual financial statement of Metrofile Holdings Limited  
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2018.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Metrofile Holdings Limited holds 100% investment in Metrofile Proprietary Limited, Metrofile Management Services Proprietary 
Limited, Infovault Proprietary Limited (in liquidation), Global Continuity (SA) Proprietary Limited, CSX Customer Services 
Proprietary Limited, Cleardata Proprietary Limited, Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary Limited, a 40% investment in Lexie Legal Services 
Proprietary Limited and a 62.5% investment in Dexterity Solutions Proprietary Limited. The Group is a specialist in Records 
Storage and Management, Image Processing, Backup Storage and Management, Records Management Software and Records 
Management Consultancy, Business Continuity and IT Continuity, File Plan Development, Confidential Records Destruction, as 
well as the sale and maintenance of a wide range of business equipment, including scanners, library security systems, mailing and 
packaging machines.

The major business, being Metrofile Proprietary Limited, focuses on all aspects of enterprise records and information 
management including paper, analogue and electronic content, including:

 ` Records storage and management – archival, storage, retrieval and destruction of records;

 ` Image processing – conversion of paper and analogue records to digital formats;

 ` Backup management – rotation management and storage of backup media;

 ` Information solutions – professional consultancy and records management software; and

 ` Document handling equipment – sale and maintenance.

Global Continuity (SA) Proprietary Limited focuses on business continuity and IT continuity, Cleardata Proprietary Limited is a 
specialist confidential records destruction service provider, CSX Customer Services Proprietary Limited supplies and maintains 
scanners, optical mark readers, 3M products and bulk/desk-top mailing systems, Tidy Files design, supply and implement 
paper-based and electronic document and records management solutions and Lexie Legal Services Proprietary Limited provides 
specialised document management solutions to the legal industry. Dexterity Solutions Proprietary Limited is a start-up focusing 
on product development in the information and records management area.

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY
The directors of the Company during the financial year and up-to-date of this report were as follows:

CS Seabrooke ^* (Chairman)

MS Bomela* (Deputy Chairman)

PG Serima (CEO)

MC McGowan (CFO)

P Langeni ^†*

IN Matthews ^†* resigned 30 June 2018

LE Mthimunye-Bakoro ^* appointed 1 July 2017

CN Pongweni*

GD Wackrill *

SV Zilwa ^*

^ Independent
† Lead independent

* Non-executive

The Company Secretary is Paige Atkins.

All directors who retired in terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation were re-appointed for a further term of office 
as approved at the annual general meeting held on 29 November 2017.

The Board comprises two executive and seven non-executive directors, of whom five are independent directors. Mr IN Matthews 
resigned as the Lead Independent Director with effect from 30 June 2018, and Ms P Langeni was appointed in his stead.  
Mrs LE Mthimunye-Bakoro was appointed to the Board on 1 July 2017 as an independent non-executive director.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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At 30 June 2018, interests of the directors in the shares of the Company were as follows:

BENEFICIAL NON-BENEFICIAL
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS DIRECT INDIRECT DIRECT INDIRECT TOTAL SHARES

Mary Sina Bomela†

Phumzile Langeni
Ian Nigel Matthews
Mark Clark McGowan 59 900 59 900
Lindiwe Evarista Mthimunye-Bakoro
Cynthia Nomsa Pongweni†

Christopher Stefan Seabrooke* 40 000 000 40 000 000
Pfungwa Gore Serima
Graham Dunbar Wackrill 3 152 023 3 152 023
Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa

*  The Seabrooke Family Trust has an economic interest of 35,5% in this shareholding through Sabvest Limited i.e. an effective economic interest of 3.4%.
†  Mrs Bomela and Mrs Pongweni are CEO and Financial Director of MIC respectively, which owns 160 799 730 shares being an economic interest of 36.95%. 

They have no economic interest in MIC personally but are MIC’s representatives on Metrofile’s Board.

There have been no material changes to the shareholding of the directors between the financial year-end and the date of this 
report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
None of the directors, except where indicated in note 21 to the annual financial statements, has any interest in any transactions 
that were entered into by the Group during the current or prior financial year, or during an earlier financial year, which remain in 
any respect outstanding.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The income statements and other statements of comprehensive income set out on pages 81 and 82 reflect the results of the 
operations of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2018.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
To present a statement of financial position that fairly reflects the financial position; asset values have been tested for impairment 
and no impairment is required.

Investments and loans are recorded at fair market or realisable values. Working capital has been assessed to ensure a fair carrying 
value for inventory and the recoverability of accounts receivable. The Group’s properties have been recorded at their carrying 
value, and have been tested for impairment.

LEASE COMMITMENTS
Operating lease commitments amount to R130.4 million for the next 10 years. Capital investment plans for the 2018 financial year 
amount to R85.2 million.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS
Save for those agreements that have been disclosed to shareholders in terms of the Listings Requirement of the JSE Limited, the 
Group has not entered into any material contracts, other than in the ordinary course of business, during the two years prior to the 
date of this report.

LITIGATION
The Group is not involved in any legal or arbitration proceedings, nor are the directors aware of any such proceedings which may 
be pending or threatened, which may have, or which have had, in the 12-month period preceding the date of this annual report,  
a material effect on the Group’s financial position.
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DIVIDENDS
The Group’s net interest-bearing debt amounted to R614.8 million which equates to a Debt: EBITDA ratio of 2.28 times.  
While the Group was under borrowed, dividends were paid representing a cover ratio of 1.1:1 The Group is now at the  
maximum debt capacity ratio acceptable to the Board. As a result, the Board has resolved to increase the dividend cover for the 
2018 financial year to the upper level of the previously announced target range of 1.25 to 1.5 times. The Board has also resolved 
that an appropriate normalised cover ratio for future years will be 2.0 times thereby facilitating capacity to fund new bolt-on 
acquisitions partially from future retained earnings.

The dividend for the full year of 21.0 cents per share represents dividend cover of 1.52 times relative to normalised HEPS.

Notice is given that a final gross cash dividend of 8.0 cents per share in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 has been 
declared payable, from income reserves, to the holders of ordinary shares recorded in the books of the Company on Friday,  
5 October 2018. The last day to trade cum-dividend will therefore be Tuesday, 2 October 2018 and Metrofile shares will trade 
ex-dividend from Wednesday, 3 October 2018. Payment of the dividend will be on Monday, 8 October 2018. Share certificates 
may not be dematerialised or re-materialised from Wednesday, 3 October 2018 (which is ex-date) to Friday, 5 October 2018, both 
days inclusive. Withholding tax on dividends will be deducted for all shareholders who are not exempt in terms of the legislation 
at a rate of 20% which will result in a final net cash dividend of 6.4 cents per share. The Company’s issued share capital at the 
period end is 416 164 210 shares and the Company’s tax number is 9375/066/71/0.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s material operating subsidiaries at 30 June 2018 are set out in Note 26. The Company acquired a 100% 
stake in Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary Limited, effective 25 July 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised ordinary share capital of the Company remains unchanged at 500 million ordinary shares of 0.61446 cents each 
during the year.

The following ordinary shares were in issue at the end of the year under review:

2018 2017 2016

Opening balance 435 140 268 427 084 010 427 084 010
Issue in terms of SAR Scheme, DBP and CS Plan – – –
Issue in terms of MIC Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited – 8 056 258 –
Closing balance 435 140 268 435 140 268 427 084 010
Treasury shares 18 976 058 14 037 036 2 000 000

Closing balance net of treasury shares 416 164 210 421 103 232 425 084 010

Further details of share capital can be found in note 12 to the annual financial statements.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
Special resolutions approving the non-executive directors’ remuneration, authority to provide financial assistance to any Group 
company and a general authority to repurchase shares were approved in the year under review.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Revenue increased by 23.9% to R953.0 million, whilst EBITDA increased by 9.3% to R270.2 million.

Headline earnings decreased by 10.0% to R121.7 million.

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) decreased by 2.5% to 31.0 cents and headline earnings per share (“HEPS”) decreased by 
8.2% to 29.2 cents.

Normalised headline earnings decreased by 1.1% to R133.7 million, whilst normalised headline earnings per share (“NHEPS”) 
increased by 0.9% to 32.1 cents.

Cash generated from operations before net working capital changes increased by 1.6% whilst the cash generated from 
operations decreased by 32.3%.

Capital investments of R80.3 million were effected mainly for expansion and included the development of new facilities in 
Johannesburg and Cape Town, and the purchase of racking and equipment required for growth.

The Group’s total interest-bearing debt amounted to R614.8 million at the year end, which equates to a Debt:EBITDA ratio of  
2.28 times.
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GOING CONCERN
The directors are of the opinion that the business will be a going concern in the year ahead. In reaching this opinion, the directors 
considered the following factors:

 ` The Group’s cash requirements for debt servicing and capital repayments are satisfactorily covered by the Group’s current and 
projected cash flows;

 ` Well controlled working capital;

 ` Approved short- and long-term financing, with sufficient additional short-term working capital borrowing capacity, if required;

 ` Statement of Financial Position assets have been carefully tested for impairment and none are over-valued;

 ` Budgets to June 2019 reflect a continuation of positive trading; and

 ` Key executive management is in place.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No events material to the understanding of the annual financial statements have occurred in the period between the year-end 
date and the date of the report.

PREPARATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The annual financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of Mr MC McGowan, CA(SA).

AUDIT, RISK AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
The Audit, Risk and Governance Committee has reviewed the scope as well as the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors. The Committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor is independent as defined by the Companies Act and the 
Committee has approved the audit fees for the year.

The Audit, Risk and Governance Committee has nominated Deloitte and Touche as external auditor for the 2019 financial year, 
and Mr P Ndlovu as the designated partner, for approval at the annual general meeting.
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This report is published in terms of regulation 43(5)(c) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 (the Act), as amended.

For this financial year, the Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee (the “Committee”) comprised the following members:

 ` Mary Bomela (Chairman)

 ` Phumzile Langeni

 ` Nigel Matthews – retired 30 June 2018

 ` Mark McGowan

 ` Lindiwe Mthimunye

 ` Pfungwa Serima

 ` Sindi Zilwa

The Committee discharged all responsibilities set out in terms of its charter, which is to assist the Board in ensuring that the Metrofile Group 
acts as a good and responsible corporate citizen.

The Committee is responsible for monitoring the Group’s activities relating to human rights, empowerment, B-BBEE, equality, corruption, 
health, public safety, consumer and labour relations.

It assesses, measures and reviews the Group’s performance, standing and goals in addressing transformation, social and economic 
development in terms of:

 ` The use of the 10 principles set out in the United Nations Global Compact Principles as a guideline.

 ` The Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act (including compliance with the Department of Trade and Industry’s Codes of Good 
Practice), as well as the Employment Equity Act, Skills development Act and the Preferential Procurement Framework Act  
(No 5 of 2000).

 ` The OECD recommendations regarding corruption.

 ` Good corporate citizenship, including the Group’s:

 ` promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination and reduction of corruption;

 ` contribution to development of the communities in which its activities are predominantly conducted or within which its products or 
services are predominantly marketed;

 ` record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving; and

 ` no tolerance of fraud or activities related to fraud.

 ` The environment, occupational health and public safety.

 ` The impact of the Group’s activities, products and services.

 ` Consumer relationships, such as advertising and public relations and compliance with consumer protection laws.

 ` Black economic empowerment in terms of equity ownership, preferential procurement, enterprise development, community 
development.

 ` Labour and employment, including:

 ` Metrofile’s standing in terms of the ILO protocol on decent work and working conditions;

 ` human resources development;

 ` employment equity;

 ` skills development; and

 ` the Group’s employment relationships and its contribution toward the educational development of its employees.

The Committee considers all relevant regulatory developments and advises the Group to comply with policies, guidelines and standards 
applicable to transformation, society and ethics.

The Committee monitors Metrofile’s procurement policies and practices to ensure that they comply with applicable legislation and 
regulation in support of Metrofile’s transformation, social and ethics standards.

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board any concerns, findings or recommendations for consideration, review and necessary 
decision-making. The Chairman of the Committee attends the Group’s annual general meeting and reports to shareholders on the matters 
within the Committee’s mandate.

The Committee reports that it has discharged its duties, as set out in its mandate, for the year ended 30 June 2018 and up to the date of this 
report.

Mary Bomela
Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee Chairman

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND
TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
 2018 2017 2018 2017

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue 952 988 769 239 519 565 4 765
Direct costs (399 837) (283 651)

Gross profit 553 151 485 588
Other income 9 468 3 510

Gross profit before indirect expenditure 562 619 489 098 519 565 4 765
Indirect expenditure (292 147) (240 967) (1 358) (1 380)
Share of loss of a joint venture (297) (802)

Operating profit before depreciation 270 175 247 329 518 207 3 385
Depreciation (40 450) (34 917)

Operating profit 2 229 725 212 412 518 207 3 385
Acquisition-related costs (15 495)
Profit on sale of subsidiary 7 592 12 544
Finance income 1 502 3 649
Finance costs 4 (47 743) (21 705)

Profit before taxation 175 581 194 356 530 751 3 385
Taxation 3 (50 288) (54 979)

Profit for the year 125 293 139 377 530 751 3 385

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 129 052 135 019 530 751 3 385
Non-controlling interests (3 759) 4 358

125 293 139 377 530 751 3 385

Profit attributable to owners of the parent
Basic earnings per share (cents) 5 31.0 31.8
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 5 31.0 31.8

INCOME
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Profit for the year 125 293 139 377 530 751 3 385
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year#

Currency movement on translation of foreign subsidiaries 6 434 (5 064)

Total comprehensive income for the year 131 727 134 313 530 751 3 385

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 134 469 132 206 530 751 64 788
Non-controlling interests (2 742) 2 107

# All items will subsequently be reclassified to profit and loss.

STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 589 818 538 103
Goodwill 9 527 621 216 938
Investment in unlisted subsidiaries 26.1 279 028 192 184
Investment in unlisted associate and joint venture 8 9 353 7 739 4 666 3 166
Intangible assets
Long-term receivables 2 419 375
Deferred taxation assets 3 9 455 5 906

1 138 666 769 061 283 694 195 350

Current assets
Inventories 10 34 747 19 068
Trade receivables 11 184 726 134 582
Other receivables 11 29 135 30 493 188 185
Bank balances 52 331 27 866 272 154
Amounts owing by subsidiaries – non-interest-bearing 26.1 539 060 227 626

300 939 212 009 539 520 227 965

Total assets 1 439 605 981 070 823 214 423 315

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Ordinary share capital and share premium 12 542 549 562 486 932 640 932 640
Accumulated profit/(loss) 51 623 49 566 (114 165) (514 375)
Other reserves 13 15 950 11 955

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 610 122 624 007 818 475 418 265
Non-controlling interests 13 170 23 636

623 292 647 643 818 475 418 265

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 15.1 597 118 156 904
Deferred taxation liabilities 3 25 867 25 074

622 985 181 978

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16.1 100 498 71 461 2 303 1 915
Provisions 22 4 093 2 351
Deferred revenue 13 661 12 968
Taxation 3 787 2 814
Bank overdraft 3 288 3 273
Interest-bearing liabilities 15.2 66 734 56 282
Non-interest-bearing liabilities 16.2 1 267 2 300
Amounts owing to subsidiaries – non-interest-bearing 26.1 2 436 3 135

193 328 151 449 4 739 5 050

Total equity and liabilities 1 439 605 981 070 823 214 423 315

STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Accumulated 
profit/(loss)

Other 
reserves

Attributable 
to owners

 of the parent

Non-
controlling

 interests
Total 

equity
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

CONSOLIDATED
Balance at 30 June 2016 2 625 579 359 50 046 11 367 643 397 16 943 660 340
Purchase of treasury shares – (58 732) – – (58 732) – (58 732)
Shares issued 50 39 184 – – 39 234 – 39 234
IFRS 2 equity reserve relating to 
share schemes – – – 6 198 6 198 – 6 198
Share scheme settlement – – – (2 797) (2 797) – (2 797)
Minority contribution on acquisition 
of subsidiary* – – – – – 2 886 2 886
Reversal of prior year non-
controlling interest and loss  
of joint venture – – 731 – 731 1 700 2 431
Dividends declared – – (136 230) – (136 230) – (136 230)
Total comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2017 – – 135 019 (2 813) 132 206 2 107 134 313

Balance at 30 June 2017 2 675 559 811 49 566 11 955 624 007 23 636 647 643

Purchase of treasury shares – (19 937) – – (19 937) – (19 937)
IFRS 2 equity reserve relating  
to share schemes – – – 5 076 5 076 – 5 076
Share scheme settlement – – – (6 498) (6 498) – (6 498)
Purchase of remaining non-
controlling interest of subsidiary# – – (1 016) – (1 016) (7 724) (8 740)
Dividends declared – – (125 979) – (125 979) – (125 979)
Total comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2018 – – 129 052 5 417 134 469 (2 742) 131 727

Balance at 30 June 2018 2 675 539 874 51 623 15 950 610 122 13 170 623 292

*	Effective	1	July	2016,	the	Group	acquired	a	51%	shareholding	in	E-File	Teejan	LLC.	There	was	no	cash	outflow.	The Company	was	dormant	at	that	date.
# Effective 1 July 2017 the Group acquired the remaining 30% shareholding in Cleardata Proprietary Limited for a nominal amount. This line also includes 

the impact of irregularities perpetrated by a former executive of Cleardata Proprietary Limited amounting to R8.7 million.

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Accumulated 
profit/(loss)

Other 
reserves

Attributable 
to owners

 of the parent

Non-
controlling

 interests
Total 

equity
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY
Balance at 30 June 2016 2 625 890 781 (380 046) – 513 360 – –
Shares issued 50 39 184 – – 39 234 – –
Dividends declared – – (137 714) – (137 714) – –
Total comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2017 – – 3 385 – 3 385 – –

Balance at 30 June 2017 2 675 929 965 (514 375) – 418 265 – –

Dividends declared – – (130 541) – (130 541) – –
Total comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2018 – – 530 751 – 530 751 – –

Balance at 30 June 2018 2 675 929 965 (114 165) – 818 475 – –

STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 912 936 785 301 510 000 –
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (681 953) (509 113) 8 297 3 319

Cash generated by operations 23.1 230 983 276 188 518 297 3 319
Net finance costs (46 241) (18 056)

Finance costs (47 743) (21 705)
Finance income 1 502 3 649

Normal taxation paid 23.2 (51 361) (60 191)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 133 381 197 941 518 297 3 319

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in property, plant and equipment: 
expansion (64 523) (74 067)
Investment in property, plant and equipment: 
replacement (15 818) (5 832)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 13 623 1 326
Effects of foreign currency exchange differences on 
property, plant and equipment (2 598) 1 827
Acquisition of investment in unlisted associate and 
joint venture – (7 259) – (833)
Increase in loans to associate company (1 500) –
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary 12 235 – 12 545 –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 23.4 (335 516) – (78 105) –

Net cash outflow from investing activities (394 097) (84 005) (65 560) (833)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of long-term liabilities (14 147) (34 317)
Proceeds from issue of new shares – 39 234 – 39 234
Purchase of treasury shares (19 937) (58 732)
Dividends paid (125 682) (135 900) (130 244) (137 384)
Increase/(decrease) in loans to/from subsidiaries 23.3 (322 375) 95 391
Long-term liabilities raised 444 932 75 000

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 285 166 (114 715) (452 619) (2 759)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24 450 (779) 118 (273)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 24 593 25 372 154 427

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 49 043 24 593 272 154

Represented by:

Bank balances 52 331 27 866 272 154
Bank overdraft (3 288) (3 273)

STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018 85

OUR  
BUSINESS

LEADERSHIP
MESSAGES

CREATING VALUE
SUSTAINABLY

GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION



NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of accounting and reporting
The consolidated financial statements (“ financial statements”) as set out on pages 81 to 118 have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting 
policies below. Significant details of the Group’s accounting policies are set out below and are consistent with those 
applied in the previous year.

The financial statements comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting 
Standards Board, Interpretations as issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
Companies Act of South Africa as well as the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council.

New or revised accounting standards and amendments to existing standards not yet effective:

At the date of authorisation of the annual financial statements, the following new or revised standards and amendments to 
existing standards applicable to the Group were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments Effective date 1 January 2018

This standard introduces new requirements in three areas:

Classification and measurement

Financial assets will now be classified based on the objective of the Group in holding the asset and the contractual cash flows.

Impairment

A new expected credit loss model will be used for calculating impairment on financial assets. A loss event does not have to 
occur before credit losses are recognised.

Hedge accounting

New general hedge accounting requirements will allow hedge accounting based on the Group’s risk management policies 
rather than only prescribed scenarios.

The Group has assessed the impact of this standard and does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s results.

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers Effective date 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 applies to revenue from contracts with customers and replaces all of the revenue standards and interpretations 
in IFRS. The standard outlines the principles an entity must apply to measure and recognise revenue and the related cash 
flows. In the current year, the Group has assessed the impact of this standard in relation to its revenue streams. As the 
majority of the Group’s revenue is derived from arrangements in which the transfer of risks and rewards coincides with the 
fulfilment of performance obligations, the standard had no material impact in respect of timing and amount of revenue 
recognised.

IFRS 16: Leases Effective date 1 January 2019

The Group undertook a preliminary assessment of IFRS 16. The standard eliminates the classification of leases as either 
operating or finance leases and introduces a single accounting model. Lessees will be required to recognise assets 
and liabilities in respect of the minimum lease payment for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, and show 
depreciation of leased assets and interest on lease liabilities separately in the income statement. IFRS 16 will require the 
Group to recognise substantially all of its current operating lease commitments on the balance sheet.

It is expected IFRS 16 will increase the Group’s recognised assets and liabilities and affect the presentation and timing of 
related depreciation and interest charges in the statement of comprehensive income. Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the most 
significant impact is likely to be the present value of the operating lease commitments being shown as a liability on the 
statement of financial position together with an asset representing the right of use.

The Group intends to adopt a modified retrospective approach with an adjustment to the opening balances of equity at the 
date of initial recognition and no adjustments to the prior year comparatives.

1.1 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described below, the directors of the Company 
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may dif fer from these estimates. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.1 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Significant judgements
Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to 
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 
The carrying amount of goodwill at the statement of financial position date was R527.6 million (2017: R216.9 million). 
No impairment loss has been recognised on goodwill. Refer to note 1.3 for significant judgements made by 
management for assessing goodwill for impairment.

Other judgements
Asset lives and residual value
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life taking into account residual values, where 
appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on 
a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and 
maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market 
conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. Buildings are only depreciated if their 
carrying amounts exceeds their anticipated residual values.

Provision for doubtful debts
Provision for doubtful debts is based on a detailed review and reflects an appropriate allowance for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. Where management has determined that a debt is no longer recoverable the amount is 
written off.

Provision for obsolete inventory
An allowance is made for slow moving and obsolete inventory based on historical trends.

Deferred tax assets
The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is 
probable that the deductible temporary dif ferences will reverse in the foreseeable future, or the probability of 
utilising assessed losses. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make 
significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income on a subsidiary by subsidiary level. Estimates 
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations. To the extent that future cash flows dif fer 
significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the statement 
of financial position date could be impacted.

1.2 Basis of consolidation
The Group comprises Metrofile Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 
the Company (its subsidiaries).

Control is achieved when the Company:

 ` has power over the investee;

 ` is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

 ` has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when 
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. 
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights 
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

 ` the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders;

 ` potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

 ` rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

 ` any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.2 Basis of consolidation continued

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 
those policies. The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these group annual financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of the joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially 
recognised in the consolidated financial statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. Where the Group’s share of 
losses of the joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in the joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its 
share of further losses.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

The following average and spot rates were used in the translation of the foreign subsidiaries:
2018 2017

Average rate Spot rate Average rate Spot rate

Mozambique 4.724 4.280 5.088 4.630
Nigeria 24.225 22.057 22.724 23.395
United Arab Emirates 0.286 0.265 0.271 0.282
Zambia 0.759 0.721 0.712 0.704
Botswana 0.779 0.755 0.776 0.786
Kenya 8.150 7.285 – –

The foreign currency translation reserve relates to the dif ference that arose in translation of Metrofile Mozambique 
from Mozambique Meticais to Rands, Metrofile Nigeria from Nigerian Naira to Rands, Flexifile Zambia from Zambian 
Kwacha to Rands, Document Bank Botswana from Botswana Pula to Rands, Metrofile Records Management (Kenya) 
from Kenyan Shillings to Rands and E-File Masters UAE from UAE Dirhams to Rands.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.3  Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business (see note 1.2 above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups 
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. A cash-generating unit to 
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication 
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss 
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

The value of the goodwill represents the value generated by expected synergies from combining operations. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis (refer paragraph 1.1). The discounted cash flow method is 
used to test for impairment. The key assumptions for the calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth 
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. The key assumptions of a growth in 
business of 8% and discount rate of 15% have been determined by assessing the Company’s historical growth and 
management expectation of future growth. The directors estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the cash-generating units. The growth 
rate and discount rate used in the calculation is 8% and 15% respectively. Should these rates be changed by 2%, this 
will not result in an impairment of goodwill. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent 
financial budgets approved by management. Goodwill has been recognised on acquisition of businesses as the 
Group’s cash-generating units are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Goodwill relating to foreign operations is translated at spot rates.

1.4 Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of 
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 
except that deferred tax assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured 
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are 
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.5 Revenue recognition

Metrofile Holdings Limited is an investment holding company and its main source of revenue being dividend income 
received from its subsidiary companies.

Revenues from subsidiary companies comprise the following:

 ` Storage for cartons stored and active client files managed

 ` Sales of hardware, consumables, spare parts, paper media and software

 ` Maintenance of hardware equipment

 ` Backup management services

 ` Paper recycling and shredding services

 ` Consulting and technical services

 ` Scanning and other image processing services

 ` Auxillary services relating to the above revenue streams

 ` Continuity services

 ` Document management

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Storage and service revenues are recognised when the service is performed. Sales of hardware, consumables, spare 
parts, paper media and software are recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed.

Where revenues are billed in advance in terms of long-term contracts, the revenues are deferred and recognised over 
the period of the contract as the services are rendered.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principle amount outstanding and at the effective rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected useful life of the financial asset to that 
asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s rights to receive payment have been 
established.

1.6 Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Group has only operating leases 
except for two finance leases on motor vehicles in the UAE operations.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on 
the straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.7 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit dif fers from profit as reported in the 
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the statement of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.8 Property, plant and equipment

Land is stated at cost whilst other fixed assets are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised in profit and loss and is calculated on the straight-line basis, so as to write the cost of the 
assets down to their residual values, at the following rates, which are considered to approximate the estimated useful 
lives of the assets concerned.

%

Buildings 2
Plant and equipment 6.7 – 20
Leasehold improvements 25
Motor vehicles 16.7
Furniture and fittings 10
Office equipment 20
Computer equipment 20

The directors review the residual values and useful lives of depreciable assets each financial year-end. Useful lives are 
determined in terms of the assets expected use to the Group and based on the experience of the Group’s similar assets.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the dif ference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

1.9 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost 
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to 
be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Redundant and slow-moving inventory items are identified and 
written down to their estimated economic or realisable value.

1.10 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the holder of the asset about loss events.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the dif ference between 
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets 
are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.10 Financial instruments continued

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value.

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at proceeds received, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any dif ference between the proceeds and 
the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Trade payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their nominal value.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. 
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 
equity instruments.

1.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date, and are discounted to 
present value where the effect is material.

1.12 Share-based payments
The Group issues certain equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based 
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the date of 
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payment is expensed on the 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest 
and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes 
pricing model. The expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the 
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

1.13 Segmental reporting
The segment report has been determined based on the dif ferent business operations within the Group.

1.14  Normalised headline earnings
The measure of normalised headline earnings is specific to Metrofile Holdings Limited and is not required in terms 
of International Financial Reporting Standards or the JSE Listings Requirements. Normalised headline earnings 
represent earnings from the recurring activities of the Group. This is determined by adjusting the headline earnings 
attributable to the owners of Metrofile Limited for non-recurring expense or income items incurred during the year. 
In the current year, headline earnings has been adjusted for acquisition-related costs amounting to R12 million. There 
were no adjusting items in the prior period. Refer to note 5.
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2. OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is stated after accounting for the following:
Auditors’ remuneration 3 790 3 713 509 480
Directors’ emoluments paid by subsidiaries (note 6) 18 045 15 228

Executive directors 14 130 12 356
Non-executive directors 3 915 2 872

Depreciation 40 450 34 917
Profit on disposal of plant and equipment 48 (132)
Managerial, secretarial and technical fees 13 641 16 463
Operating lease charges 47 454 40 176
Inventory expensed 150 835 84 227
Retirement benefit expenses 15 837 15 675
Share-based payment expense (note 14) (1 139) 4 037
Reversal of impairment on loans to subsidiaries* (9 565) (4 765)
Employment costs 322 620 248 219

Number of employees at the year-end was 1 615 (2017: 1 206).

*   The reversal of impairment of loans of R9.6 million (2017: R4.8 million) relates to the loan receivable from Metrofile Management 
Services Proprietary Limited. This is due to the net increase in the net asset value of the Metrofile Management Services Proprietary 
Limited.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

3. TAXATION
3.1.1 South African normal taxation

Current year 52 666 53 315
Prior year (318) (78)

52 348 53 237

3.1.2 Deferred taxation
Current year (2 301) 1 501
Prior year 241 241

(2 060) 1 742

50 288 54 979

3.2  Taxation reconciliation
Profit before taxation 175 581 194 356 530 751 3 385

Taxation at statutory taxation rate of 28% 49 163 54 419 148 610 948
Non-deductible expenditure 1 017 70
Prior year taxation 34 (78)
Deferred tax asset not raised 4 386 939
Statutory taxation rate dif ference due to foreign 
subsidiaries 550 378
Capital gain on disposal of subsidiary (3 512) –
Losses of associate company 83 –
Prior year adjustment relating to joint venture – (241)
Exempt income (2 182) (117) (145 098) (948)
Deductible allowances (Learnership allowance) (2 763) (391)

Actual taxation charged 50 288 54 979 – –

% % % %

Taxation rate reconciliation
Statutory taxation rate 28.0 28.0 28.0 28.0
Non-deductible expenditure 0.6 –
Prior year taxation – (0.1)
Deferred tax asset not raised 2.5 0.5
Statutory taxation rate dif ference due to foreign 
subsidiary 0.3 0.2
Exempt income (1.2) (0.1) (28.0) (28.0)
Deductible allowances (1.6) (0.2)

Effective taxation rate 28.6 28.3 – –
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

3. TAXATION CONTINUED
3.3 Deferred taxation

Property, plant and equipment (33 398) (29 866)
Trade receivables 533 216
IFRS 2 charge relating to share schemes 3 542 3 940
Lease smoothing adjustment 1 131 955
Prepayments (886) (3 059)
Provisions 3 835 2 852
Goodwill amortisation (Botswana) (213)
Acquisition-related costs 3 471
Accrued expenses 1 401 766
Deferred revenue 2 219 2 099
Foreign exchange losses (616) 1 024
Assessed losses 2 569 1 905

Total (16 412) (19 168)

Net deferred taxation liability
Opening balance (19 168) (17 389)
Acquisition/disposal of subsidiary companies 625
Income statement movement 2 060 (1 742)
Effect of dif ferent tax rates of subsidiaries operating in 
other jurisdictions 71 (37)

Closing balance (16 412) (19 168)

Deferred taxation asset 9 455 5 906
Deferred taxation liability (25 867) (25 074)

3.4  Taxation losses
Deferred tax asset raised on estimated taxation losses 
available for offset against future taxable income  
amount to: 2 569 1 905
Based on management’s most recent forecast financial 
information, this balance recognised is supported 
by sufficient future taxable profits anticipated to be 
generated.
Estimated assessed losses 83 973 76 127 70 592 69 324

These assessed losses are unlikely to be used in the foreseeable future by normal operations and accordingly no 
deferred taxation asset has been raised. There are no expiry dates applicable to these assessed losses.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

4. FINANCE COSTS
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 45 328 20 955
Other interest expense 2 415 750

47 743 21 705
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

5. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
5.1 Earnings – basic

Earnings for purposes of earnings per share 129 052 135 019
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

Earnings for purposes of diluted earnings per share 129 052 135 019

Number of shares – earnings per share
Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 416 164 421 103

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
(thousands) 417 233 424 554

Basic earnings per share  (cents) 31.0 31.8

Diluted earnings per share  (cents) 31.0 31.8

5.2 Headline earnings
Basis for calculation
The calculation of headline earnings per ordinary share 
is based on headline earnings of R121.7 million (2017: 
R135.2 million) and a weighted average number of 
417.2 million (2017: 424.6 million) ordinary shares in issue 
during the year.

This basis is a measure of the trading performance 
and excludes profits and losses of a capital nature. It is 
derived, after taxation and non-controlling interests, 
as follows:

Headline earnings
Attributable profit 129 052 135 019
Adjusted for af ter tax:
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (7 592) –
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 48 (132)
Tax effect of profit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 194 314

Headline earnings for purposes of headline earnings 
per share 121 702 135 201
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

Headline earnings for purposes of diluted headline 
earnings per share 121 702 135 201

Headline earnings per ordinary share  (cents) 29.2 31.8

Diluted headline earnings per ordinary share  (cents) 29.2 31.8

The Share Appreciation Rights (“SAR”) was not included in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share because 
they are antidilutive for the year but could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

cents cents R’000 R’000

5. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE CONTINUED
5.3 Reconciliation of headline earnings per share

Earnings per ordinary share 31.0 31.8
Adjusted for af ter tax:
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (1.8) –
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Headline earnings per ordinary share 29.2 31.8

5.4 Normalised headline earnings per share
Headline earnings for purposes of headlines earnings 
per share 121 702 135 201
Adjusted for af ter tax:
Acquistion-related costs 12 024 –

Normalised headline earnings for purposes of 
normalised headline earnings per share 133 726 135 201

Normalised headline earnings per share  (cents) 32.1 31.8
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Rand

Directors’ 
fees as 

approved VAT

Directors’ 
fees – 

total paid Salary Bonuses

Retirement 
benefit 

contributions

Other 
benefits/

share-based 
payments Total

2018
MS Bomela*#

PG Serima 4 737 400 3 125 000 372 600 333 949 8 568 949
MC McGowan 2 267 400 1 020 000 372 600 145 481 3 805 481
P Langeni* 698 495 99 539 798 034 798 034
IN Matthews*$ 821 258 117 026 938 284 938 284
CN Pongweni*#

CS Seabrooke* 1 152 084 164 267 1 316 351 1 316 351
GD Wackrill* 595 000 595 000 1 161 000 1 756 000
L Bakoro 540 000 76 950 616 950 616 950
SV Zilwa* 755 001 107 588 862 589 862 589

4 561 838 565 370 5 127 208 8 165 800 4 145 000 745 200 479 430 18 662 638

*  Non-executive director.
$ Lead independent director.
# An amount of R1.63 million (excluding VAT) was also paid to Mineworkers Investment Company Proprietary Limited for services, inclusive of 

the non-executive and Committee roles performed by MS Bomela and CN Pongweni.

Directors’ remuneration paid to non-executive directors includes VAT of R0.56 million which the Group could not claim as a 
VAT input credit.

Rand

Directors’ 
fees as 

approved VAT

Directors’ 
fees – total 

paid Salary Bonuses

Retirement 
benefit 

contributions

Other 
benefits/

share-based 
payments Total

2017
MS Bomela*#

PG Serima 4 482 020 1 500 000 366 525 181 231 6 529 776
MC McGowan 1 956 000 1 455 661 324 000 163 143 3 898 804
P Langeni* 547 420 7 163 554 583 554 583
IN Matthews*$ 856 130 11 037 867 167 867 167
CN Pongweni*#

CS Seabrooke* 994 595 12 822 1 007 417 1 007 417
GD Wackrill 352 000 352 000 1 575 000 1 927 000
SV Zilwa* 437 010 5 740 442 750 442 750

3 187 155 36 762 3 223 917 6 438 020 2 955 661 690 525 1 919 374 15 227 497

*  Non-executive director.
$  Lead independent director.
#  An amount of R1.55 million (excluding VAT) was also paid to Mineworkers Investment Company Proprietary Limited for services, inclusive 

of the non-executive and Committee roles performed by MS Bomela and CN Pongweni.
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6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CONTINUED
Directors’ remuneration paid to non-executive directors includes VAT of R0.04 million which the Group could not claim as a 
VAT input credit.

The following directors and officers received grants for the Share Appreciation Rights (SAR) and Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP) 
schemes on 7 September 2015 and 29 February 2016:

SAR DBP
Number 
of rights

Number 
of shares

PG Serima Chief Executive Officer 2 463 054 –
MC McGowan Chief Financial Officer 944 723 26 900

3 407 777 26 900

SAR scheme allocation summary

No of rights 
at beginning 

of period
Rights 

granted
Rights

 exercised
Rights 

cancelled
No of rights at 
end of period

2018
Pfungwa Serima 2 463 054 2 463 054
Mark McGowan 944 723 944 723

3 407 777 3 407 777

2017
Pfungwa Serima 2 463 054 2 463 054
Mark McGowan 944 723 944 723

3 407 777 3 407 777

The following directors and officers received grants for the Conditional Share Plan Options (CSP) on 13 October 2017:

CSP scheme allocation summary

No of rights 
at beginning 

of period
Rights 

granted
Rights 

exercised
Rights 

cancelled

No of 
rights at

 end of period

2018
Pfungwa Serima 631 579 1 046 455 1 678 034
Mark McGowan 303 158 404 890 708 048

934 737 1 451 345 2 386 082

2017
Pfungwa Serima – 631 579 631 579
Mark McGowan – 303 158 303 158

– 934 737 934 737
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

7.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
CONSOLIDATED

Land and
buildings

Plant and
equipment

Computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Furniture
 and fittings

and office
equipment Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cost
At 1 July 2017 334 126 294 060 45 005 76 355 18 232 767 778
Additions 27 184 43 625 4 755 1 626 3 154 80 344
Acquisition of subsidiaries 3 481 40 372 8 127 3 045 8 981 64 006
Effect of foreign exchange 
differences 19 5 038 651 399 (790) 5 317
Disposals (1 446) (11 501) (1 880) (9 163) (612) (24 602)

At 30 June 2018 363 364 371 594 56 658 72 262 28 965 892 843

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2017 9 046 149 923 31 994 25 920 12 792 229 675
Depreciation 1 995 25 919 4 228 5 901 2 407 40 450
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2 075 23 732 7 060 1 823 6 421 41 111
Effect of foreign exchange 
differences 21 2 868 501 238 (907) 2 721
Disposals (795) (5 409) (1 782) (2 426) (521) (10 933)

At 30 June 2018 12 342 197 033 42 001 31 456 20 192 303 024

Net book value

At 30 June 2018 351 022 174 561 14 657 40 806 8 773 589 819

Cost
At 1 July 2016 296 106 278 186 42 961 68 947 13 747 699 947
Additions 39 599 23 434 3 161 12 138 1 567 79 899
Effect of foreign exchange 
differences (1 560) (4 734) (97) (178) 3 058 (3 511)
Disposals (19) (2 826) (1 020) (4 552) (140) (8 557)

At 30 June 2017 334 126 294 060 45 005 76 355 18 232 767 778

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2016 7 917 131 589 29 017 24 812 9 460 202 795
Depreciation 1 637 22 762 3 994 4 813 1 711 34 917
Effect of foreign exchange 
differences (489) (2 833) (57) (47) 1 742 (1 684)
Disposals (19) (1 595) (960) (3 658) (121) (6 353)

At 30 June 2017 9 046 149 923 31 994 25 920 12 792 229 675

Net book value

At 30 June 2017 325 080 144 137 13 011 50 435 5 440 538 103

A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

Certain assets have been pledged as security against loans as detailed in note 15.1.

Land and buildings include leasehold improvements of R3.65 million (2017: R3.88 million).
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

8. INVESTMENT IN UNLISTED ASSOCIATE AND 
JOINT VENTURE
Unlisted associate
Al Bidda Metrofile
Shares at cost 449 449
Loan account advanced in 2017 5 337 4 926

5 786 5 375

The Group acquired a 49% share in Al Bidda Metrofile (Qatar) 
on 7 December 2015. The entity commenced operations in 
2018.

The loan bears no interest (2017: nil) and is not payable within 
the next year.
Joint venture
Lexie Legal Services Proprietary Limited
Shares at cost 1 666 1 666 1 666 1 666
Share of accumulated losses from continuing operations (1 099) (802)
Loan account advanced 3 000 1 500 3 000 1 500

3 567 2 364 4 666 3 166

Total investment in unlisted associate and joint venture 9 353 7 739 4 666 3 166

Effective 1 January 2016 the Group acquired a 40% 
shareholding in Lexie Legal Services Proprietary Limited.  
The principle activity of the business is the providing of  
cloud-based legal software to the legal industry.

Summarised financial information of the joint venture is set out 
below. This information represents amounts shown in the joint 
venture’s financial statement prepared in accordance with IFRS:
Current assets 546 797
Non-current assets 1 751 1 432
Current liabilities (102) (67)
Non-current liabilities (7 680) (6 903)
Cash (included in current assets) 130 541
Revenue 1 827 719
Loss for the year ended June 2018 (743) (2 005)
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

9. GOODWILL
Net carrying value of cash-generating units:
Records Management* 416 299 181 308
Tidy Files 74 788 –
CSX Customer Services 31 076 31 076
Paper Recycling – 2 858
Continuity Services 1 696 1 696

523 859 216 938

Opening balance 216 938 218 573
Goodwill recognised in the reporting period 312 624 –
Disposal of subsidiary (2 858) –
Net exchange rate dif ferences arising during the reporting 
period 917 (1 635)

Closing balance 527 621 216 938

*   Goodwill attributable to the Records Management cash-generating unit includes the goodwill of R237.8 million acquired on acquisition 
of Metrofile Records Management (Kenya) Proprietary Limited.

Rainbow Paper Management Proprietary Limited 
 Effective 1 July 2017 the Group sold its 100% shareholding in Rainbow Paper Management Proprietary Limited to Neopak 
Recycling Proprietary Limited for R12.5 million. The net asset value of the Company at 30 June 2017 was R4.95 million.

Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary Limited
 Effective 25 July 2017, the Group acquired a 100% shareholding in Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary Limited (“Tidy Files”) for a 
purchase consideration of R78.1 million. Tidy Files is a leading provider of end-to-end document management and storage 
solutions in Southern Africa. The acquisition is aligned with Metrofile’s strategic growth objective of complimenting and 
expanding its client service offering across Africa and the Middle East.

The amounts recognised at acquisition date for each major class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were:

R’000

Inventories 8 351
Accounts receivable 22 848
Deferred taxation 913
Property, plant and equipment 10 103
Trade and other payables (15 793)
Provisions (2 155)
Bank balances 49
Long-term liabilities (19 881)
Tax liabilities (787)

Net asset value 3 648

Excluded in the net asset value is R23.7 million attributable to investments held by Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary Limited.

 The revenue and net profit after taxation recognised in the current financial year from the Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary 
Limited amounted to R157.5 million and R9.0 million respectively.
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9. GOODWILL CONTINUED 
Metrofile Records Management (Kenya) Proprietary Limited
 Effective 1 January 2018, the Group acquired a 100% shareholding in Metrofile Records Management (Kenya) Proprietary 
Limited “MRM (Kenya)” for a purchase consideration of R259.4 million. MRM (Kenya) is a leading provider of records 
management and storage solutions in Kenya. The acquisition is aligned with Metrofile’s strategic growth objective of 
complimenting and expanding its client service offering across Africa and the Middle East. Acquisition-related costs of 
R15.5 million have been expensed in the current year.

The amounts recognised at acquisition date for each major class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were:

R’000

Inventories 297
Accounts receivable 10 686
Deferred taxation (288)
Property, plant and equipment 12 793
Trade and other payables (4 281)
Provisions (209)
Bank balances 2 291
Tax assets 294

Net asset value 21 583

The revenue and net profit after taxation recognised in the current financial year from the MRM Kenya amount to 
R20.4 million and R7.7 million respectively. Should the entity have been acquired 1 July 2017, the revenue and net profit 
before tax would have been approximately R40 million and R15.5 million respectively.

The business combination accounting for the acquisition of Metrofile Records Management (Kenya) Proprietary Limited has 
been done on a provisional basis in terms of IFRS 3: Business Combinations.

Refer to notes 1.3 and 1.4 for further disclosure.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

10. INVENTORIES
Maintenance spares 23 489 18 608
Goods available for sale 10 186 1 809
Consumables 5 520 2 505

Total inventory 39 195 22 922
Less: Provisions (4 448) (3 854)

Net inventory 34 747 19 068

Inventories are carried at fair value less cost to sell. The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in respect of write-
downs of inventory to net realisable value is R0.1 million (2017: R0.1 million. Certain inventories have been pledged as 
security to the capital providers.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 189 635 136 531
Other receivables (includes prepayments and deposits) 29 135 30 493 188 185
Provision for doubtful debts (3 350) (1 421)
Provision for credit notes (1 559) (528)

213 861 165 075 188 185

Trade and other receivables are stated after the following 
allowances for impairment:
Provision for doubtful debts and credit notes
Opening balance (1 949) (2 497)
Impairment loss utilised 1 993 1 141
Impairment loss recognised (4 953) (593)

Closing balance (4 909) (1 949)

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties.

Management has a credit risk policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. This is 
implemented and controlled at an operating subsidiary level.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics.

Credit risk evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit. This is implemented and controlled at an operating 
subsidiary level.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset in the statement of 
financial position.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Neither past due nor impaired 117 037 88 154 188 185

Trade receivables 95 050 71 244
Other receivables 21 987 16 910 188 185

Past due but not impaired
Trade receivables 89 806 63 338
Not past due but impaired
Trade receivables 1 628 166
Past due and impaired
Trade receivables 3 281 1 783

Total financial assets 211 752 153 441 188 185

Neither past due nor impaired 117 037 88 154 188 185

1 – 30 days past due 43 485 29 804
30 – 60 days past due 13 064 13 557
60 – 90 days past due 11 444 5 163
90 – 180 days past due 21 813 14 814

Past due but not impaired 89 806 63 338

Not past due but impaired 1 628 166

Past due and impaired 3 281 1 783

Total financial assets 211 752 153 441 188 185
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

12. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
12.1  Share capital

Ordinary shares of 0.6146 cents each
Number of shares
Authorised
Authorised ordinary shares at end of year 500 000 500 000 500 000 500 000

Issued
Shares issued at the end of the year 416 164 421 103 427 084 427 084

Unissued shares at the end of the year 83 836 78 897 72 916 72 916

Balance at beginning of year 421 103 425 084 435 140 427 084
Issue of shares to Mineworkers Investment 
Company Proprietary Limited – 8 056 – 8 056
Purchase of treasury shares (4 939) (12 037)

Balance at the end of the year 416 164 421 103 435 140 435 140

The authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the Company were placed under the control and authority of the 
directors of the Company who were authorised and empowered to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such shares 
to such person or persons on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors of the Company may 
from time to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act (the Act), the 
Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and the JSE Limited (JSE) Listings Requirements, where applicable, 
such authority to remain in force until the next annual general meeting. This authority was restricted to 5% of the 
Company’s issued share capital.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Value of shares
Issued
Issued at beginning of year 2 675 2 625 2 675 2 625
Raised by way of issue for shares – 50 – 50

Issued at the end of the year 2 675 2 675 2 675 2 675

12.2 Share premium
Balance at beginning of year 559 811 579 359 929 965 890 781
Raised by way of issue for shares – 39 184 – 39 184
Purchase of treasury shares (19 937) (58 732)

Balance at the end of the year 539 874 559 811 929 965 929 965

Total share capital and share premium 542 549 562 486 932 640 932 640

Capital risk management
The capital structure of the Group is evaluated by the Board of Directors on a regular basis. The Group manages its 
capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern and continue to meet its business objectives. 
During the period under review the Group maintained a positive shareholders’ equity and there were no changes 
in the Group’s approach to capital management during the period. The Group is not subject to externally imposed 
regulatory capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

13. OTHER RESERVES
Balance at the beginning of the year 11 955 11 367
Share-based payment reserves 5 076 6 198
Share scheme settlement (6 498) (2 797)
Foreign currency translation reserve 5 417 (2 813)

Balance at the end of the year 15 950 11 955

Comprises:
Equity-settled employee benefits reserve 12 639 14 062
Foreign currency translation reserve 3 311 (2 107)

15 950 11 955

14. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
During the 2009 financial year; the shareholders approved the implementation of a Share Appreciation Rights (“SAR”) and 
a Deferred Bonus Plan (“DBP”) scheme to compensate and incentivise qualifying management within the Group. 

The initial scheme terms vested over a three-year period, with a maximum of seven years; the scheme terms were amended 
in November 2011, to include, inter alia, the condition that the vesting of Share Appreciating Rights be split equally over a 
three-year period.

In November 2016, shareholders approved the implementation of a Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”) to replace both the 
SAR and DBP schemes. As such, the SAR and DBP schemes have been discontinued and will cease to exist once all issued 
awards have either vested or expired.

The schemes have performance conditions attached to them which must be achieved in order for vesting to occur.

The schemes are equity settled and the calculated IFRS 2 charge booked to the statements of comprehensive income 
over the vesting period of the grants; these charges are not revalued. The SAR grants were valued using the Black-Scholes 
model. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the past three years.

Details of the share-based payment awards under the above schemes are contained in the note below.

The equity-settled employee benefits reserve relates to share options granted by the Company to its employees under its 
employee share option plan.

Allocation summary SAR SAR SAR SAR CSP CSP

Grant date of award 06/09/2013 08/09/2014 07/09/2015 29/02/2016 15/12/2016 13/10/2017
Share price on grant date of award 5.00 4.82 4.31 4.06 4.75 4.09
Number of shares on issue 420 252 623 423 239 994 427 084 010 427 084 010 427 084 010 435 140 268
Market capital 2 101 263 115 2 040 016 771 1 840 732 083 1 733 961 081 2 028 649 048 2 028 649 048
Vesting % of performance condition 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 60.0% 60.0%
Attrition rate of participants per 
annum 6.3% 6.3% 6.3% 6.3% 5.0% 5.0%
Corporate tax rate 28.0% 28.0% 28.0% 28.0% 28.0% 28.0%
Individual tax rate 40.0% 40.0% 41.0% 41.0% 41.0% 42.0%
Dividend yield 2.7% 2.7% 4.9% 5.2% 2.0% 2.0%
Outstanding at the beginning of 
the year 1 578 074 2 228 562 3 305 708 2 463 054 2 025 511 –
Granted during the year – – – – – 3 564 091
Forfeited during the year 299 852 366 959 571 555 – 193 718 324 695
Cancelled during the year – 1 861 603 – – – –

Outstanding at the end of the year 1 278 222 – 2 734 153 2 463 054 1 831 793 3 239 396

Exercisable at end of the year 426 074 – 911 384 – – –
Weighted average share price at 
date of exercise N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Number of remaining participants 7 – 9 1 12 16
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

15. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
15.1 Interest-bearing liabilities

Standard Bank “Amortising” loan facility – 21 234

Being a five-year senior facility, accruing interest at a rate 
equal to a three-month (Johannesburg Interbank Agreed 
Rate) (“JIBAR”) plus 2.00% on a nominal annual compounded 
quarterly (“NACQ”) basis. Interest payable will be calculated 
on the basis of actual number of days elapsed in a year of 
365 days and is payable quarterly in arrears. In the event of 
default, the interest rate on the facility will increase by 3%, 
which will remain in place until the default event has been 
remedied or the facility has been cancelled and repaid. 
Capital and interest to be repaid in 20 consecutive quarterly 
instalments, starting at the end of the first quarter and ending 
on 30 September 2019. The loan was refinanced in the current 
year with the loans detailed below. – 62 716
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities – (41 482)

Standard Bank “Revolving” loan facility – 135 443

Being a five-year senior facility, accruing interest at a rate 
equal to a three-month (Johannesburg Interbank Agreed 
Rate) (“JIBAR”) plus 2.40% on a nominal annual compounded 
quarterly (“NACQ”) basis. Interest payable will be calculated 
on the basis of actual number of days elapsed in a year of 
365 days and is payable quarterly in arrears. In the event of 
default, the interest rate on the facility will increase by 3%, 
which will remain in place until the default event has been 
remedied or the facility has been cancelled and repaid. 
Interest to be repaid in 20 consecutive quarterly instalments, 
starting at the end of the first quarter and ending on 
30 September 2019. A commitment fee is payable on the 
unutilised portion of the loan; this fee amounts to 1.00% per 
annum. Capital to be repaid in one lump sum at the end of the 
five-year loan period, on 30 September 2019. The loan was 
refinanced in the current year with the loans detailed below. – 150 040
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities – (14 597)

Standard Bank “Bullet” loan facility 225 730 –

Being a R250 million loan, accruing interest at a rate equal to a 
three-month (Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate) (“JIBAR”) 
plus 2.75% on a nominal annual compounded quarterly 
(“NACQ”) basis. Interest payable will be calculated on the 
basis of actual number of days elapsed in a year of 365 days 
and is payable quarterly in arrears. In the event of default, 
the interest rate on the facility will increase by 2%, which will 
remain in place until the default event has been remedied 
or the facility has been cancelled and repaid. Capital to be 
repaid no later than 10 September 2022. 250 133 –
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities (24 403) –
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

15. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES CONTINUED
15.1 Interest-bearing liabilities continued

Standard Bank “Revolving Credit” loan facility 316 022 –

Being a R350 million loan, accruing interest at a rate equal to a 
three-month (Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate) (“JIBAR”) 
plus 2.75% on a nominal annual compounded quarterly 
(“NACQ”) basis. Interest payable will be calculated on the 
basis of actual number of days elapsed in a year of 365 days 
and is payable quarterly in arrears. In the event of default, 
the interest rate on the facility will increase by 2%, which will 
remain in place until the default event has been remedied 
or the facility has been cancelled and repaid. A commitment 
fee is payable on the unutilised portion of the loan; this fee 
amounts to 1.00% per annum. Capital to be repaid no later 
than 21 September 2022. 350 186 –
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities (34 164) –

Standard Bank “New Revolving Credit” loan facility 47 855 –

Being a R100 million loan, accruing interest at a rate equal to a 
three-month (Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate) (“JIBAR”) 
plus 2.75% on a nominal annual compounded quarterly 
(“NACQ”) basis. Interest payable will be calculated on the 
basis of actual number of days elapsed in a year of 365 days 
and is payable quarterly in arrears. In the event of default, 
the interest rate on the facility will increase by 2%, which will 
remain in place until the default event has been remedied 
or the facility has been cancelled and repaid. A commitment 
fee is payable on the unutilised portion of the loan; this fee 
amounts to 1.00% per annum. Capital to be repaid no later 
than 21 September 2022. 53 028 –
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities (5 173) –

First National Bank “B” loan facility 6 374 –

The loan is repayable is monthly instalments over five years 
ending February 2021. The interest rate is the prime rate plus 
0.75%. The loan secured by a cession to First National Bank 
(“FNB”) of the debtors of Tidy Files (SA) Proprietary Limited 
(“Tidy Files”), an unlimited cession in favour of FNB of all the 
bank balances which Tidy Files has with FNB and a general 
notarial covering bonds totalling R4.5 million in favour of FNB 
over the movable assets of Tidy Files together with a cession 
of short-term insurance for an adequate amount of cover over 
the said assets. 8 304 –
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities (1 930) –
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

15. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES CONTINUED
15.1 Interest-bearing liabilities continued

Finance leases 1 137 227

Being finance leases over motor vehicles in Abu Dhabi, UAE. 
The loan is repayable in 48 equal monthly instalments of 
R27 468 and bears interest at rates between 5% and 6.5% 
per annum. The final instalment is in February 2022. The 
Company’s obligations under the finance leases are secured 
by the lesssor’s charge over the leased assets. The book value 
of the assets at 30 June 2018 was R915 565. 631 430
Being various finance leases over operating assets. The 
average lease term is 36 months and the average effective 
borrowing rate was 6%. Interest rates are linked to the prime 
rate at contract date. All leases have repayments which 
vary with changes in the prime rate and no arrangements 
have been entered into for contingent rent. The Company’s 
obligations under the finance leases are secured by the 
lesssor’s charge over the leased assets. The book value of the 
assets at 30 June 2018 was R2 025 701. 1 570 –
Less: Amounts payable within one year reflected under current 
liabilities. (1 064) (203)

Total non-current liabilities 597 118 156 904

15.2 Interest-bearing liabilities
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities
– Standard Bank “Bullet” loan facility 24 403 –
– Standard Bank “Revolving Credit” loan facility 34 164 –
– Standard Bank “New Revolving Credit” loan facility 5 173 –
– Standard Bank “Amortising” facility – 41 482
– Standard Bank “Revolving” facility – 14 597
– First National Bank “B” loan facility 1 930 –
– Finance leases 1 064 203

Total current liabilities 66 734 56 282

Total interest-bearing liabilities 663 852 213 186

Security for the Metrofile facilities is provided by Micawber 
305 (Proprietary) Limited (“the Guarantor”), a special purpose 
vehicle created to facilitate a security mechanism for the 
Capital Providers, in the form of guarantees issued to the 
Capital Providers (“the security”). The Guarantor holds the 
underlying assets of Metrofile Holdings Limited and Metrofile 
Proprietary Limited as security for its obligations under the 
guarantees provided by it to the Capital Providers.
Metrofile Proprietary Limited is compliant with all aspects of 
the Common Terms of Agreement with Standard Bank of South 
Africa Limited and all loan covenants.

Interest rate risk
Financial assets and liabilities that are sensitive to interest 
rate risk are cash, bank overdrafts and medium and long-
term liabilities. The interest rates applicable to these financial 
instruments are comparable with those currently available in 
the market and are linked to the JIBAR rate and prime rate of 
interest.

Loss if interest rates increase by 50 basis points 4 106 1 058
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

15. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES CONTINUED
There is an equal but opposite effect if the interest rates decrease by 50 basis points.

Liquidity risk
The Group has a strong track record of generating cash from operations and there is lit tle to no threat of this changing in 
the future. The requirement to expand in respect of facilities is the area which puts pressure on the liquidity of the Group, 
however, the additional facilities are required due to the business growing.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by 
continually monitoring forecast and cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Borrowing capacity:
Amount approved 700 000 300 000
Amount utilised (647 000) (212 756)

Total additional borrowings available 53 000 87 244

The following banking facilities were in place at the end of the current 
financial year:

R’000
Standard Bank
– Trading facility 5 000
– Working capital facility 40 000
First National Bank
– Settlement facility 17 000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Interest-bearing liabilities (663 852) (213 186)
Trade and other payables (91 644) (65 740) (2 303) (1 915)
Non-interest-bearing liabilities (1 267) (2 300)
Bank overdraft (3 288) (3 273)

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost (760 051) (284 499) (2 303) (1 915)

Maturity profile
Interest-bearing liabilities
Capital
2018 – 37 141
2019 2 919 21 895
2020 2 720 154 150
2021 2 884 –
2022 1 484 –
2023 653 000 –

663 007 213 186

Interest
2018 – 19 197
2019 64 647 16 072
2020 64 184 3 908
2021 63 715 –
2022 63 440 –
2023 14 016 –

270 002 39 177

Other
2018 – 68 040 – 1 662
2019 92 911 – 2 303 –

1 025 920 320 403 2 303 1 662
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

16. CURRENT LIABILITIES
16.1 Trade and other payables

Trade payables 42 773 24 970 84 99
Accrued expenses 17 032 13 162 509 480
Dividends for shareholders 1 710 1 413 1 710 1 413
VAT creditor 8 852 5 721
Payroll accruals 4 861 3 822
Credit balances in debtors 4 427 4 050
Leave pay accrual 12 018 9 606
Lease smoothing liability 4 039 3 412
Sundry creditors 4 786 5 305

100 498 71 461 2 303 1 992

The carrying value of trade and other payables 
approximates its fair value.

16.2 Non-interest-bearing liabilities
Outside shareholders – current accounts 1 267 2 300
These liabilities have no fixed repayment terms and are 
non-interest-bearing.

1 267 2 300

17. COMMITMENTS
17.1 Authorised capital expenditure

Authorised capital expenditure for the 2019 year  
amounts to R87.8 million of which R3.0 million relates  
to land and buildings.

17.2 Operating leases
Future leasing charges for premises
Payable within one year 45 705 32 511
Payable within two to five years 73 762 54 171
Payable within six to 10 years 10 969 –

130 436 86 682

Metrofile Holdings Limited subsidiary companies have entered into various long-term lease agreements related to 
buildings not owned by the Group. The last agreement expires in 2028 and the Company has the option to renew and 
extend the agreements for a further term. All the leases are market-related and annual escalations range between 
consumer price index (“CPI”) and 8% in all the various agreements.

18. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no known contingent liabilities to report.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
19.1 Carrying amounts of financial instruments

Trade receivables 184 726 134 582
Other receivables 21 754 16 218 188 185
Bank balances 52 331 27 866 272 154

258 811 178 666 460 339

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Interest-bearing liabilities (663 852) (213 186)
Trade and other payables (91 645) (65 740) (2 303) (1 915)
Non-interest-bearing liabilities (1 267) (2 300)
Bank overdraft (3 288) (3 273)

Total financial liabilities (760 052) (284 499) (2 303) (1 915)

Total net financial liabilities (501 241) (105 833) (1 843) (1 576)

19.2 Foreign currency exposure
In the normal course of business, the Group enters into transactions denominated in a variety of foreign currencies. 
As a result the Group is subject to transactions and translation exposures resulting from fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to minimise the foreign currency exchange exposures 
associated with its foreign currency transactions. Foreign exchange contracts are taken out for the majority of orders 
placed overseas. It is not the Group’s policy to take speculative positions in foreign currencies. Existing forward 
exchange contracts cover existing and future trade commitments as well as other liabilities.

As at 30 June 2018 the Group’s foreign currency exposure was as follows:

Currency

Amount in
foreign

currency
Exchange
rate used

Reported
value
2018

R’000

Reported
value
2017

R’000

Uncovered foreign denominated liabilities 
included in trade payables

Euro’000 23.6 16.03 378 231
US$’000 2.5 13.20 33 1 311

There were no uncovered foreign denominated 
assets at 30 June 2018 (2017: nil).

Existing foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts covering statement of financial position 
items included at fair value in trade payables are:
Buy contracts US$’000 162.0 13.39 2 168 –

Euro’000 122.0 15.77 1 924 –

Total foreign purchases for the year amounted to R23.1 million (2017: R22.9 million). A 10% increase/decrease on the 
exchange rate would have resulted in a R2.3 million (2017: R2.3 million) increase/decrease in purchases respectfully. 
All purchases are receipted into stock and booked out against sales invoices, maintenance contracts or as direct 
inputs in the conversion bureaus. The impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the Company’s profits is estimated to 
be limited to 8.4% of the purchases. Direct sales to customers of foreign sourced goods are adjusted daily to cater for 
exchange rate fluctuations.
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20. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
All the retirement benefit plans operated by group companies domiciled in the Republic of South Africa are governed by 
the Pension Funds Act, 1956 (Act No 24 of 1956) (“the Act”).

Defined contribution plans
Of the Group’s employees, certain are members of one defined contribution retirement benefit plan administered by 
Sanlam Life Assurance Limited. Both the Group and the employees are required to contribute to the retirement schemes 
to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement schemes is to make the specified contributions. The total 
cost charged to income of R15.8 million (2017: R15.7 million) represents contributions paid to the scheme.

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors and senior management. The 
Group and its subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, enter into various transactions with entities in which the 
Group has an interest. These transactions are entered into on an arm’s length basis. Significant related party transactions 
are detailed below.

Inter-company trading and Group management fees
Management fees of R1.63 million (2017: R1.55 million) were paid to Mineworkers Investment Company Proprietary Limited 
Mineworkers Investment Company Proprietary Limited is a shareholder of Metrofile Holdings Limited.

During the year, management fees in the amount of R4.0 million (2017: R4.0 million) were charged to subsidiaries.

Directors’ remuneration is reflected in note 6.
CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

22. PROVISIONS
Opening balance 2 351 2 678
Subsidiaries acquired 426 –
Provisions raised 6 678 4 430
Provisions utilised (5 307) (4 382)
Provisions released (55) (375)

Closing balance 4 093 2 351

The bonus provision is calculated as the estimated liability for the year-end bonuses to employees. The amount is paid out 
in December.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

23. CASH FLOW STATEMENT
23.1 Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash 

generated by operations
Profit before taxation 175 581 194 356 530 751 3 385
Adjusted by: 79 996 57 264 (12 544) –

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 48 (132)
Depreciation and software amortisation 40 450 34 917
Net finance cost 46 241 18 054
Expense recognised in respect of equity-settled 
share-based payments (1 421) 3 402
Share of loss of joint venture 297 802
Profit on sale of subsidiary (7 592) – (12 544) –
Amortisation of long-term receivables 2 044 184
Effect of dif ferent tax rates of subsidiaries operating in 
other jurisdictions (71) 37

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 255 577 251 620 518 207 3 385
Changes in working capital (24 594) 24 568 90 (66)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (10 935) 399
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (29 934) 20 995 (3) 12
Increase in provisions (810) (348)
Increase in payables 17 085 3 522 93 (78)

Cash generated by operations 230 983 276 188 518 297 3 319

23.2 Taxation paid
Taxation balance at beginning of the year (2 814) (9 768)
Current tax expense for the year (52 348) (53 237)
Subsidiaries acquired (493) –
Non-income statement adjustments 507 –
Taxation balance at end of the year 3 787 2 814

Total taxation paid (51 361) (60 191)

23.3 (Increase)/decrease in loans to/from subsidiaries
Loans (advanced to)/repaid by subsidiaries – – (322 375) 95 391

23.4 Acquisition of subsidiary businesses – refer to note 8
The fair value of assets acquired on the acquisition of 
Metrofile Records Management (Kenya), Tidy Files (SA) 
and Cleardata are as follows:
Inventories 8 648 –
Accounts receivable 33 535 –
Deferred taxation 625 –
Property, plant and equipment 22 896 –
Trade and other payables (20 074) –
Provisions (2 364) –
Bank balances 2 339 –
Long-term liabilities (19 881) –
Tax liabilities (493) –
Goodwill 312 624 – 78 105 833

337 855 – 78 105 833
Less: Bank balances (2 339) –

335 516 – 78 105 833
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

24. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
No material events occurred between the year-end and the  
date of this report.

25. SEGMENTAL REPORT
25.1 Revenue

Records Management 671 673 629 701
Tidy Files 158 928 –
CSX Customer Services 79 457 69 337
Property Companies  
(occupied by Records Management businesses) 73 853 66 964
Other 55 014 85 983
Intergroup (85 937) (82 746)

Total revenue 952 988 769 239

South African operations 842 238 682 726
Non-South African operations 110 750 86 513

25.2 EBITDA
Records Management 162 191 165 304
Tidy Files 19 656 –
CSX Customer Services (1 514) (2 362)
Property Companies  
(occupied by Records Management businesses) 73 853 66 964
Other 15 989 17 423

Total EBITDA 270 175 247 329

South African operations 254 931 235 635
Non-South African operations 15 244 11 694

25.3 Tangible assets
Records Management 411 637 337 861
Tidy Files 41 984 –
CSX Customer Services 37 453 32 428
Property Companies 
(occupied by Records Management businesses) 343 971 318 151
Other 58 131 62 046

Total tangible assets 893 176 750 486

South African operations 772 960 674 039
Non-South African operations 120 216 76 447
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY
2018 2017 2018 2017

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

25. SEGMENTAL REPORT CONTINUED
25.4 Operating profit

Records Management 134 194 138 589
Tidy Files 14 236 –
CSX Customer Services (2 794) (3 439)
Property Companies  
(occupied by Records Management businesses) 73 853 66 964
Other 10 236 10 298

Total operating profit 229 725 212 412

South African operations 220 464 205 407
Non-South African operations 9 261 7 005

25.5 Liabilities
Records Management 724 693 283 620
Tidy Files 30 153 –
CSX Customer Services 19 495 13 604
Other 16 104 11 130

Total operating profit 790 445 308 354

South African operations 775 222 291 549
Non-South African operations 15 223 16 805

“Records Management” represents the record storage, records management, data protection and scanning business 
units which are managed and operated geographically.

“Tidy Files” represents the sale of paper based and electronic document and records management solutions.

“CSX Customer Services” represents the sale of equipment and related maintenance thereof.

“Other” includes Metrofile Holdings Limited, Rainbow Paper Management, Cleardata and Global Continuity. These 
entities provide recycling, shredding and continuity services.

Finance costs have not been reflected on the segmental report as the majority relates Metrofile Proprietary Limited 
which encompasses the “Metrofile Records Management” divisions.

No customer contributes more than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

The segment report is based on the information provided to the Chief Operating decision makers, Pfungwa Serima 
and Mark McGowan.
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26. SUBSIDIARIES
26.1 Investment in unlisted subsidiaries

Subsidiary Nature of business

Percentage  
holding Cost of investment Net indebtedness

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
% % R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Metrofile Proprietary 
Limited#

Records 
management 100 100 173 753 173 753

Metrofile Management 
Services Proprietary 
Limited#

Management 
services 100 100 645 595 343 232

Infovault Proprietary 
Limited

Records 
management 100 100 (2 436) (3 135)

Rainbow Paper 
Management Proprietary 
Limited Recycling services – 100 – 1 – 6 123
Lexie Legal Services 
Proprietary Limited Services 40 40
Tidy Files (SA) 
Proprietary Limited Filing systems 100 – 78 105 –
Dexterity Solutions 
Proprietary Limited Services 63 – 5 629 –
CSX Customer Services 
Proprietary Limited Services 100 100 30 30 53 100 53 100
Global Continuity (SA) 
Proprietary Limited Business continuity 100 100 4 000 4 000 3 270 3 270
Cleardata Proprietary 
Limited

Confidential records 
destruction 100 70 23 140 14 400 1 100 1 100

279 028 192 184 706 258 403 690

Provision for impairment* (169 634) (179 199)

279 028 192 184 536 624 224 491

Reflected as: Amounts owing by subsidiaries – non-interest-bearing 539 060 227 626
Amounts owing to subsidiaries – non-interest-bearing (2 436) (3 135)

At 30 June 2018, Metrofile Holdings Limited had ceded and pledged all material amounts owing to any member of 
the Metrofile group to the capital providers.

#  At 30 June 2018, Metrofile Holdings Limited had ceded and pledged all its interests in the claims and shares of the subsidiaries to 
the capital providers.

It should be noted that throughout the Group there are sureties provided to the capital providers in terms of the 
“Common Terms Agreement”, as entered into with the restructure of the Group.

All of the above subsidiaries are incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.

*  The provision for impairment relates to the loan between Metrofile Holdings Limited and Metrofile Management Services 
Proprietary Limited.
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)

26. SUBSIDIARIES CONTINUED
26.2 Subsidiaries – Group

The following subsidiaries are held by Metrofile Management Services Proprietary Limited and have been consolidated 
into Metrofile Holdings Limited:

Percentage holding Cost of investment
2018 2017 2018 2017

Subsidiary Nature of business % % R’000 R’000

Document Bank Botswana Proprietary 
Limited Records management 100 100
Flexi File Limited Records management 60 60 5 768 5 768
Metrofile Mocambique LDA Records management 51 51
E-File Masters LLC Records management 60 60 22 161 22 161
Metrofile Nigeria Proprietary Limited Records management 100 100 700 700
Metrofile Records Management 
(Kenya) Proprietary Limited Records management 100 – 271 153 –
CSX Customer Services Namibia 
Proprietary Limited Services 100 100

299 782 28 629

27.  BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more as extracted from the shareholder’s register as at 30 June 2018:

Mineworkers Investment Company Proprietary Limited 36.95%

Sabvest Investment Proprietary Limited 9.19%

Investec Asset Management 7.96%
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2018 2017

 
Number of 

shareholders %
Number of 

shares %
Number of 

shareholders %
Number of 

shares %

PORTFOLIO SIZE   
1 – 10 000 3 229 78.36 6 538 448 1.50 2 896 76.33 6 358 094 1.46
10 001 – 50 000 619 15.02 14 650 837 3.37 589 15.52 13 990 650 3.22
50 001 – 100 000 96 2.33 7 384 893 1.70 99 2.61 7 526 621 1.73
100 001 – 250 000 73 1.77 11 349 131 2.61 91 2.40 14 291 453 3.28
250 001 and over 104 2.52 395 216 959 90.82 119 3.14 392 973 450 90.31

 4 121 100.00 435 140 268 100.00 3 794 100.00 435 140 268 100.00

DISTRIBUTION OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

 

Directors and officers of 
the Company

2 0.05 3 211 923 0.74 2 5 3 459 900 0.80

Strategic investors 1 0.00 160 799 720 36.95 1 3 154 999 730 3.562
Endowment funds 7 18 123 427 0.03
Medical aid schemes 5 13 567 815 0.13
Mutual and hedge 
funds

82 2.16 86 607 568 19.90

Retirement funds 43 1.13 54 651 719 12.56
Insurance companies 12 0.32 1 114 201 0.26
Institutions, companies, 
trusts and other

483 12.73 98 368 253 22.60

Individuals 3 159 83.27 35 247 655 8.10
 4 121 100.00 435 140 268 100.00 3 794 100.00 435 140 268 100.00
PUBLIC/NON-PUBLIC 
SHAREHOLDERS

 

Non-public 
shareholders
Directors and officers of 
the Company

2 0.05 3 211 923 0.74 2 5 3 459 900 0.80

Treasury shares 1 0.02 18 976 058 4.36 1 3 14 037 036 3.22
Management of the 
Company

6 0.15 691 212 0.16 8 21 841 539 0.19

Mineworkers Investment 
Company

1 0.02 160 799 730 36.95 1 3 154 999 730 35.62

Public shareholders 4 111 99.76 251 461 345 57.79 3 782 99.68 261 802 063 60.17

 4 121 100.00 435 140 268 100.00 3 794 100.00 435 140 268 100.00

ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDING

Number of 
shareholders %

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 5% OR MORE AS EXTRACTED  
FROM THE SHAREHOLDERS’ REGISTER
As at 30 June 2018
Mineworkers Investment Company 160 799 730 38.64*
Sabvest Investments 40 000 000 9.19
Investec 34 622 092 7.96

As at 30June 2017
Mineworkers Investment Company 154 999 730 36.77*
Sabvest Investments 25 000 000 5.75 
Prudential Investment Managers 21 452 358 5.50

* Net of Treasury shares
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2018 2017  2016   2015  2014   2013

Market price
Closing (30 June)  (cents per share) 345 470 480  463     480    475    
High  (cents per share) 368 526 535 600   485    360
Low  (cents per share) 345 406 385   425 440 300  
Closing price/earnings ratio 11.1 14.8 14.2  14.3   17.2    20.1  
Number of shares in issue
– at year-end   (000) 435 140 435 140 427 084 427 084   423 240  420 253  
– weighted average   (000) 417 233 424 554 425 944 425 831  422 315   418 977 
Volume of shares traded (000) 118 825 72 500 68 383  67 383  47 346 65 109 
Volume of shares traded to 
number in issue at year-end (%) 27.31 16.7 16.0  15.8   11.2   15.5   
Value of shares traded (R’000) 500 600 342 758 307 022 323 445  231 155  252 043 

SHARE PRICE  
AND VOLUME TRADED

Announcement of result 10 September 2018

Publication of integrated annual report 31 October 2018

Annual general meeting 28 November 2018

Results of the general meeting published on SENS 30 November 2018

Interim results announcement 14 March 2019

Financial year-end 30 June 2019

SHAREHOLDERS’
DIARY
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DIRECTORS
Christopher Stefan Seabrooke (65)†* 
BCom, BAcc, MBA, FCMA
Independent non-executive Chairman
Fifteen years’ service
(Appointed 28 January 2003)
Chairman of the Nominations Committee

Mary Sina Bomela (45) ‡*

BCom (Hons), CA(SA), MBA
Non-executive director and deputy Chairman
Eight years’ service
(Appointed 8 September 2010)
Chairman of the Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee

Pfungwa Gore Serima (53)#

BSC (CompSc) and Business Studies 
Group Chief Executive Officer
Two years’ service
(Appointed 1 February 2016)

Mark Clark McGowan (49)#

BCom (Hons), BCompt, CA(SA) 
Group Chief Financial Officer
Four years’ service 
(Appointed 1 August 2014)

Phumzile Langeni (44)†‡# 
BCom (Acc), BCom (Hons) MCom
Lead independent non-executive director
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Six years’ service 
(Appointed 30 March 2012)

Muhammed Zaheer Abdulla (31)
BSc (Actuarial Science)
Non-executive director
(Appointed 15 September 2018)

Lindiwe Evarista Mthimunye (45)†# 
BCom, CA(SA), MCom, H Dip Tax Law
Independent non-executive director
One year’s service 
(Appointed 1 July 2017)

Graham Dunbar Wackrill (64)
BCompt
Non-executive director
Fourteen years’ service
(Appointed 1 July 2004)

Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa (51)#

BCompt (Hons), CA(SA), CD(SA)
Advanced Diploma in Financial Planning (UFS)
Advanced Diploma in Taxation (UNISA)
Advanced Diploma in Banking (RAU)
Independent non-executive director
Six years’ service 
(Appointed 17 October 2012)
Chairman of the Audit, Governance and Risk Committee

†  Audit, Governance and Risk Committee member
‡  Nominations Committee member
*  Remuneration Committee member
#  Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee member

SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE
Paige Atkins 
41 Wordsworth Avenue, Senderwood, 2007
PO Box 40264, Cleveland, 2022
Telephone +27 11 553 0270  
Facsimile +27 86 775 1096

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
1983/012697/06

DATE OF INCORPORATION 
18 November 1983

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107
Telephone +27 11 370 5000 
Facsimile +27 11 688 5200

AUDITORS
Deloitte Chartered Accountants (SA)
The Woodlands, Woodlands Drive, Woodmead, Sandton, 2148
Private Bag X6, Gallo Manor, 2052

BANKERS
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

INVESTMENT BANK AND JSE SPONSOR
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
30 Baker Street, Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 61344, Marshalltown, 2107

ATTORNEYS TO METROFILE
Webber Wentzel Bowens
90 Rivonia Road, Santon, 2196
PO Box 61771, Marshalltown, 2107

WEBSITE
www.metrofilegroup.com
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